# **Experiences of families of people with Autism Spectrum Disorder in the Canterbury/West Coast area**

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the

Degree

of Master of Arts in Human Services

in the University of Canterbury

by Paul D. Rawdon

University of Canterbury

2012

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	<i>7</i>
Acknowledgments	10
Glossary	12
Chapter 1 Introduction	5
1.1 Aim of the thesis	
Chapter 2 Pervasive Developmental Disorders and Autistic Spectrum Dis Explained	
2.1 Characteristics of Autistic Spectrum Disorders  2.1.1 History and development: Autism	11
2.2 Continuum or discrete diagnosis	
2.3 Characteristics of Autism and Asperger's syndrome  2.3.1 Autism  2.3.2 Asperger's syndrome  2.3.3 Pervasive Developmental Disorders  2.4 Summary	13 15 19
Chapter 3	
Genesis of Autism Services in New Zealand	
3.1 The Albury-Thomson case	
3.2 The inquiry into Autism services in New Zealand	23 24
3.3 Autistic Association of New Zealand research project (2001)  3.3.1 Diagnosis.  3.3.2 Needs assessment.  3.3.3 Respite care.  3.3.4 Carer support.  3.3.5 Family support.  3.3.6 Satisfaction with public services.  2.3.7 Work and Income	
2.4 'Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' (2008)	30
3.5 Summary	
Chapter 4	
Family matters	33

4.1 Impacts on parents	33
4.1.1 Early diagnosis and intervention	
4.1.2 Psychological impacts	34
4.2 Impacts on the wider family	39
4.2.1 Peer support groups	41
4.3 Financial impacts	41
4.4 Coping strategies	43
4.4.1 Family composition	
4.4.2 Coping strategies over time	44
4.5 The 'empty nest'	46
4.6 Summary	47
Chapter 5	49
Alternative Treatments and Fads	49
5.1 Early beliefs and historical treatment and fads	50
5.1.1 'Refrigerator mothers'	50
5.1.2 Schizophrenia	
5.1.3 Electric shock treatment	
5.1.4 D-lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD)	52
5.2 Modern treatments and 'fads'	
5.2.1 Elimination diets	
5.2.2 Sensory integration therapy	
5.2.3 Dolphin-assisted therapy	
5.2.4 Mercury and the Measles, Mumps and Rubella (MMR) Vaccine	
5.2.6 Testosterone treatment	
5.2.7 Dore Programme	
5.2.8 Applied behaviour analysis (ABA)	
5.3 Summary	57
Chapter 6	59
Autistic Spectrum Disorder as a Disability: Social Policy Issue	
6.1 From 'institutionalisation' to 'deinstitutionalisation'	
6.1.1 Institutional care	
6.1.2 Deinstitutionalisation	
6.2 Disability policies: The changing perception of disability	64
6.2.1 Disability as a social construct	
6.2.2 Political model of disability	
6.2.3 The language of disability	65
6.3 The era of community membership	67
6.4 New Zealand Autism Spectrum Guideline	71
6.5 Policy-Making 'Top-down and Bottom-up	72
6.6 Summary	73

Chapter 7	75
Special Education Services	75
7.1 Disability and education in New Zealand	75
7.1.1 Support methods	
7.2 Background to 'Special Education 2000'	
7.2.1 Special Education 2000 in practice	
7.3 Summary	
Chapter 8	
Methodology	
8.1 The research question	
8.2 Research methodology	
8.3 Paradigm	
<b>8.4 Qualitative research paradigm</b>	
8.5 Case study research	87
8.5.1 Limitations of case-study research	
8.6 Survey research	
8.6.1 Limitations of survey research	
<b>8.7 Interview research</b>	
<b>8.8</b> Method	
8.8.2 Procedure	
8.9.3 Materials	93
8.10 Human Ethics Approval	93
8.11 Data analysis	94
8.11.1 Triangulation of data	95
Chapter 9	96
Research findings	96
9.1 Summary	
9.1.1 Case study participants	
9.1.2 Survey participants	
9.2 Diagnosis	
9.2.1 Case study findings: Diagnosis	
9.2.2 Survey findings: Diagnosis	
9.2.3 Service providers: Diagnosis	
9.3 Attitudes of professionals	105

9.3.1 Survey findings: Attitudes of professionals	105
9.4 Local mental health services	107
9.4.1 Case study findings: Local mental health services	
9.4.2 Survey findings: Local mental health services	108
9.5 Needs assessment	109
9.5.1 Case study findings: Needs assessment	
9.5.2 Survey findings: Needs assessment	
9.5.3 Service providers: Needs assessment	
9.5.4 Service providers: Perception of supports families need	
9.6 Accessibility	
9.6.1 Service providers: Accessibility	
9.7 Negative and positive impacts	
9.7.1 Case study findings: Negative and positive impacts	
9.7.2 Survey findings: Negative and positive impacts	
9.7.3 Service providers: Negative and positive impacts	121
9.8 Education	
9.8.1 Case study findings: Education	
9.8.2 Survey findings: Education	
9.8.3 Service providers: Education	
9.9 Home schooling	
9.9.1 Case study findings: Home schooling	129
9.10 Additional support avenues available to the family	130
9.10.1 Case study findings: Additional support avenues	
9.10.2 Survey findings: Additional support avenues	131
9. 11 Early Bird Programme: An education programme for families of	of children with
ASD	
9.11.1 Case study findings: Early Bird programme	
9.11.2 Survey findings: Early Bird programme	
9.12 Living location	
9.12.1 Case Study Findings: Living location	
9.12.2 Survey findings: Living location	135
9.13 Alternative Treatments and Fads	
9.13.1 Case study findings: Alternative treatments and fads	
9.13.2 Service Providers: Alternative treatments and fads	136
9.14 Perceptions of support provided by Autism New Zealand	139
9.14.1 Case study findings: Support provided by Autism New Zealand	
9.15 Summary	141
hapter 10	145
iscussion	145
10.1 Summary of the study Error! Book	kmark not defined
10.1.1 Participants in this study	
10.1.3 Limitations of the study	
10.1.4 Summary of key findings of this study	
10.2 Key findings	150

Conclusion	154
References	157
Appendix A: Participant Consent Form – Survey	188
Appendix B: Participant Consent Form – Case Study	189
Appendix C: Participant Consent Form – Service Provider	190
Appendix D: Questionnaire	191
Appendix E: Question list for service providers	202
Appendix F: General Advert	203
Appendix G: Advert for ANZ e-Newsletter	204
Appendix H: Letter to Autism New Zealand	205
Appendix I: Human Ethics Approval	207
Appendix J: Reflexive Methodology	208

#### **Abstract**

Many people would argue that New Zealand has had a poor reputation for providing support services for the families of people with an Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD). The limited support services available for families in this country were highlighted during the trial and the manslaughter conviction of Janine Albury-Thomson. Albury-Thomson was found guilty of the manslaughter of her autistic daughter, Casey (MOH, 1999). The sentencing judge called for an independent inquiry to be held to examine the extent of support services that were available for families affected by the disorder with a view to identifying any gaps that may exist and ascertaining whether or not government policy could be blamed (Norris, 1998). More than twelve years have now elapsed since the Albury-Thomson trial and research was needed to ascertain the experiences of families raising a child with ASD.

This research examines the experiences of families who have a child who has an ASD diagnosis. Research participants were families of people with Autism Spectrum Disorder who reside in the Canterbury/West Coast area. The research explored the support needs of families and the informal and formal supports that are available to them in this region.

This research was conducted in three parts, with each part having a distinct method of data collection allowing triangulation of research findings. Part one was a survey questionnaire distributed via a range of mediums using a snowball sampling method. The second data set was made up of two case studies that were undertaken with a semi-structured interview approach. The third set of data was elicited via a semi-structured interview process from five local service providers that provide services to those with ASD and their families. A qualitative methodology was adopted to analyse research findings. This methodological approach was selected because it gave participants the opportunity to tell their stories about the diagnostic pathway they travelled and their experiences using available services.

This research has social policy relevance as it was designed to examine the participant's experiences while using services and resources available for the families of people with ASD in the Canterbury/West Coast area. Participants told of various social, emotional, and practical impacts and of the experiences they encountered while using the various services available. While the level of awareness of ASD has increased, the diagnosis process proved to be problematic for some when using the public health system. Consistent with a 2001 study commissioned on behalf of the Autistic Association of New Zealand, participants in this study who sought a diagnosis through the public health system found it to be a protracted process. Participants attributed delays to a lack of resources or staff that had a limited knowledge of ASD and saw these factors as barriers to obtaining a diagnosis within an acceptable time frame. A more timely diagnosis was reportedly received when the private health system was used.

With regards to support offered by the agencies involved with 'day to day' contact with families it was found that overall, competent, experienced people worked for the existing agencies and they were capable of offering support where needed. However specific issues were identified by participants including a perception that case managers failed to understand their situation because they were unfamiliar with the implications of having a family member with ASD. Significantly, family members and service providers both identified a concern about a lack of suitable accommodation that can be utilised by a person with ASD. Because there is limited research into the support needs of families of a child with ASD this research provides an important insight into the

needs of a fairly marginalised, and sometimes socially isolated, group. Implications for ongoing service provision and support of families are discussed in the thesis.

# Acknowledgments

The author wishes to express sincere appreciation to Nikki Evans and Dr. Annabel Taylor for their assistance in the preparation of this manuscript.

## Glossary

**Applied Behaviour Analysis (ABA):** A style of teaching which uses a series of trials to shape desired behaviour or responses.

**Asperger's syndrome (AS):** A mental health disorder, classified in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Fourth Edition- Text Revision, (APA, 2000), under the section on Pervasive Developmental Disorders. Asperger's syndrome is characterised by impairment in two main domains. These are: social interactions and restricted and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and/or activities.

**Aspie or Aspies:** A term used by persons with Asperger's syndrome to describe themselves.

**Autism:** A mental health disorder, classified in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Fourth Edition- Text Revision, (APA, 2000), under the section on Pervasive Developmental Disorders. Autism is characterised by impairment across three main domains. The first two are consistent with Aspergers syndrome (i.e. impaired social interactions and restricted and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and/or activities). The third area of impairment includes impaired ability to communicate.

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD): This refers to a proposed spectrum or continuum of Pervasive Developmental Disorders (DSMIV-TR) (APA, 2000), the spectrum has been postulated to organise less severe forms Developmental Disorders (e.g. Asperger's or Pervasive Disorder- Not Otherwise Specified (PDD-NOS) to that of Autism and Autism with co morbid mental retardation. ASD has also been used to describe either autism or Asperger's syndrome. Except where authors or participants have specified Autism or Asperger's syndrome, ASD has been used preferentially within the thesis.

'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' (2008): A publication setting out procedures professionals should follow while working with someone on the Autistic Spectrum.

**Carer support days:** An annual allocation of days parents may use to provide informal care to allow them to have a break.

**Chelation therapy:** An unproven therapy intended to rid the body of heavy metals to treat autism.

**Developmental disorders:** This term refers to disorders characterised by severe deficits in multiple areas of development. These include reciprocal social interaction, communication and restricted and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and/or activities. In the DSMIV-TR (APA, 2000) the equivalent term is Pervasive

Developmental Disorders and this section incorporates: Autism, Asperger's Syndrome, Pervasive Developmental Disorder- Not Otherwise Specified, Rett's Disorder and Childhood Disintegrative Disorder. As Autism and Asperger's syndrome are the two main diagnoses, the latter group are not covered in this document.

**Developmental milestones:** Markers or guideposts that enable parents and professionals to monitor a baby or child's learning, behaviour, and development.

**Diagnosis:** The name of an identified mental health disorder identified as present after an assessment has occurred. For example, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Fourth Edition- Text Revision, (APA, 2000) is a standardised diagnostic tool. It is used in many countries internationally (and within New Zealand) and has a set of diagnostic criteria matched to a 'diagnostic label'. When the criteria are met a mental health professional might apply or give a 'diagnosis' to the person under assessment.

**D-lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD):** Used as an experimental behaviour modification technique for people with autism.

**Dolphin-assisted therapy:** A technique intended to improve social interaction.

**Dore programme:** A method of improving brain function.

**DSMIV-TR:** the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Fourth Edition- Text Revision, (APA, 2000). As mentioned above, this is a book of mental health disorders. Each mental health disorder has a code and a corresponding set of diagnostic criteria or characteristics to describe the disorder.

**Echolalia:** The repeating back of something that was said. A word or sentence can be repeated once or over and over again.

**Electric shock treatment (ECT):** A technique used to modify behaviour.

**Home schooling:** Formal schooling a child receives at home.

**Individualised educational plan (IEP):** A plan formulated by a range of professionals to assist a child identified to have special needs education.

**High functioning autism (HFA):** Individuals with autism who do not have a cooccurring cognitive or intellectual disability have also been described as having 'high functioning' autism

**Mainstreaming:** The process whereby a child identified to have 'special needs', for example a developmental disorder, intellectual impairment, physical disability etc. is placed with non-disabled peers in a regular classroom setting.

Magnetoencephalography (MEG): A non-invasive technique used to measure magnetic fields generated by small intracellular electrical currents in neurons of the brain.

Measles, Mumps and Rubella (MMR) Vaccine: proposed as an unproven cause of autism.

**Neurotypical:** A term used in discussions of autistic people to refer to people who are not autistic.

**Needs assessment:** A formal process undertaken by specific health professionals to determine what supports and assistance an individual and/or family requires to assist them to function. As the result of this assessment an individual or family may access resources and services according to the recommendations of the needs assessor.

**Ongoing resourcing scheme (ORS):** A funding scheme for students assessed as having very high special education support needs.

**Peer support groups:** These are often facilitated groups that meet regularly and provide support and education to participants. Participants may comprise of parents, siblings, or clients with a particular issue in common.

**Pervasive Developmental Disorders (PDD):** The section in the DSMIV-TR that covers developmental disorders such as Autism, Aspergers syndrome and Pervasive Developmental Disorder- Not Otherwise Specified (PDD-NOS).

**Pervasive Developmental Disorder - Not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS):** The diagnosis given for children who present with some of the characteristics of either Autism or Asperger's syndrome, but not sufficient symptoms are present or not severe enough for a diagnosis of either of these conditions.

**Refrigerator mother:** A descriptive phrase coined by Freudian Psychiatrists to describe mothers of autistic children who act coldly. The phrase described what these therapists proposed as the 'cause' of infantile autism.

**Respite care:** Care provided by an individual or institution to a child or young person with a diagnosed disability so that the primary care-givers, usually the parents and other family members can have a break or 'respite'. This can be day care or occur over weekends, holidays or weeks.

**Self-stimulating behaviours or 'Stimming':** Stereotyped or repetitive movements or behaviours or posturing of the body. A common example in individuals with Pervasive Developmental Disorders might be rocking or hand-flapping.

**Sensory integration therapy:** A technique designed to lessen sensory impact.

**'Special Education 2000': A New Zealand** governmental policy for the education of special needs students.

**Special interest areas:** A particular interest or circumscribed area of knowledge that can dominate conversation and activity in a person diagnosed with autism or Asperger's syndrome. For example: movies, trains and Greek mythology.

**Stereotyped behaviours:** An abnormal or excessive repetition of an action carried out in the same way over time. Also see Self-Stimulating Behaviours.

**Testosterone treatment:** A treatment for autism based on the poorly supported assumption that high testosterone levels are a cause of the disorder.

**Teacher aide:** A person who works in school to support a teacher and special needs student.

**Triad of impairments:** The three areas of impairment which characterise Autism. These include: deficiencies in social interaction, communication and restricted and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and/or activities.

## Chapter 1

### Introduction

One of the more perplexing childhood developmental disorders is Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). Symptoms of ASD are often first noticed by parents or caregivers and are normally detected in children between the ages of one and three years when certain developmental milestones have not been met or are delayed (National Autistic Society, 2011). While parents tend to notice a range of symptoms, many do not learn that their child has ASD for quite some time.

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is an umbrella diagnosis that encompasses autism, Asperger's syndrome and Pervasive Developmental Disorder not otherwise specified. More recently, this term has come to be used to indicate the organisation of these conditions on a continuum (or spectrum). Those diagnosed with more severe features or more symptoms given one diagnosis and those whose symptoms are at the other end of the continuum, with less symptoms or less severity of impairment, given a different diagnosis.

Because of the varied array of symptoms that may be presented, the Autistic Spectrum, in its different guises, can be a difficult concept for families and members of a child's community to understand and respond to. Autism Spectrum Disorder is now widely acknowledged as a neurodevelopmental disorder that affects the brain's ability to process information. It affects all aspects of psychological development and manifests in different ways throughout the life course (Frith, 1989). While professionals acknowledge that ASD is not a disease or a sickness, it is not contagious, nor can it be contracted via the environment (Dunlap & Bunton-Pierce, 1999) myths and stereotypes about its cause prevail. Earlier explanations, including those that attributed the onset to family-related factors, continue to impact on families caring for a child with ASD.

The degree of impairment and the range of symptoms evident differ across people with an ASD diagnosis. It is likely that no two people classified on the Autistic Spectrum would present in the same way, require the same support, type or level of intervention. Examination of the diverse formal and informal support needs of individuals with an ASD diagnosis (and their families) needs to be a focus of research.

Arguably New Zealand has not had a very good record of service provision for people with ASD. This was brought to public attention in 1998 with the manslaughter conviction of Janine Albury-Thomson for the death of her daughter Casey. Casey had autism. An outcome of the publicity and court proceedings was the Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline that was published in 2008. The guideline was among the recommendations from the Autism Services in New Zealand inquiry which is intended to address service gaps that were identified (Ministries of Health and Education, 2008).

# 1.1 Aim of the thesis

The purpose of this research was to gain an insight into the experiences of families, the ways in which families function, and the formal and informal supports they access when they are caring for a dependant with a diagnosis of ASD.

## 1.1.1 Thesis summary

Chapter 2 will explain the diagnostic criteria of Autistic Spectrum Disorder and will examine the differences between two of the main points on the spectrum - Autism and Asperger's syndrome. The debate about the parameters of diagnosis is also explored in this chapter. In Chapter 3 an overview of the support services that are available in New Zealand is provided. As there is <sup>1</sup>no

<sup>1</sup> Autism New Zealand and Autlink do not provide the majority of day to day services a family would use

dedicated agency responsible for day to day autism service provision, it will be argued that because many existing agencies have workers skilled in providing services such an agency is not necessary and that resources would be better utilised in developing existing services rather than establishing something new.

The impacts that ASD can have on families are varied and can be as wide ranging as the impact ASD may have on the individual. Chapter 4 examines some of the impacts which may be financial brought about by the necessity for one parent to stay at home to look after the child with ASD or be more subtle when special diets are required to combat food allergies. Impacts may also extend to siblings when a family's resources have been stretched to cater for additional needs. Impacts may also be felt on a personal level and it is possible parents may feel responsible for their child's ASD. In other situations, parents may experience psychological issues such as depression or grief where the grief cycle may be followed as if the child had actually died because the child the parents knew or expected did not exist. These issues are explored in Chapter 4.

No precise cause of ASD has been identified and consequently there is no cure. The lack of scientific evidence to identify a cause has not stopped a proliferation of intervention options or 'cures' for ASD. Chapter 5 focuses on some of the fad treatments that range from being ostensibly fun activities such as in Dolphin-assisted therapy to being potentially dangerous such as Chelation therapy. It is argued that parents of newly diagnosed children could be regarded as potential targets for the purveyor of fad ASD treatments while they search for a cure for their child's ASD. Historical causes of ASD will also be examined an example being Bruno Bettleheim's 'Refrigerator mother theory', and a more recent alleged cause being the mercury in the Measles Mumps and Rubella vaccine. While not described as a fad, Applied Behaviour Analysis which arguably could have been described as one when it first appeared in the 1970s

will be included as an example of how a treatment can be established as a viable alternative following considerable verifiable empirical research that could be replicated and which verified a component that was lacking in all of the fad treatments reviewed.

A background to ASD services that are available today are outlined in Chapter 6. A history of disability services will provide a background into today's service provision. Of notable mention is the Albury-Thomson manslaughter case which formed the catalyst of service provision that is evolving today through the publication of the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' that is designed to inform development of future ASD support services.

In common with other members of the disability community, persons with ASD are eligible for various special education services. Chapter 7 covers services that are available and provides a background into how the services came into being. Resourcing was found to be a significant issue that affected some schools while at others, attitudes towards disability were also found to be a factor.

Chapter 8 outlines the methodology used within this study. A qualitative research paradigm was used in the survey component of this project. A qualitative approach was selected because it gave survey participants the opportunity to tell their stories.

Chapter 9 presents the research findings. Data was collected using three research approaches to enable triangulation of data. Two families participated in case studies while the survey component involved the administration of a semi-structured survey that was distributed via a range of methods. Representatives from five local service providers were also interviewed to provide, from a professional perspective, a different perspective from families about the issues and needs in this area.

In the final section of the thesis, Appendix J outlines my research journey. It will tell how my original ideas about the topic and issues for families were turned around one hundred and eighty degrees. This reflective summary demonstrates the necessity for a researcher to have an 'open mind' while collecting data - especially when the data collected was not quite what was expected.

# Chapter 2

## Pervasive Developmental Disorders and

# **Autistic Spectrum Disorders Explained**

The diagnosis Autism Spectrum Disorder is made according to the criteria set out in the American Psychiatric Association's 'Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (Fourth Edition- Text Revision (DSMIV-TR)' (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). This manual covers a range of mental disorders and the manual includes the corresponding descriptive diagnostic criteria for each one. If the criteria for a diagnosis are not met, the outcome is simple – a diagnosis is not made. This manual, and the psychologists and psychiatrists who use it to diagnose children with suspected ASD, is often the focus of much attention for families.

A diagnosis of ASD comes under the umbrella of <sup>2</sup>Pervasive Developmental Disorders. The section in the DSMIV-TR on Pervasive Developmental Disorders (PDD) relates to disorders that are most often diagnosed for the first time in infancy, childhood or adolescence. Parents and health professionals often pick up a range of significant deficits in a young child - most often across multiple areas of development. The issues, often noticed first by parents, include problems with social interaction, communication and restricted and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and/or activities.

More recently there has been a tendency for mental health professionals and researchers to use the label Autistic Spectrum Disorder to refer to Autism, Asperger's syndrome, and Pervasive Developmental Disorder- Not Otherwise Specified (PDD-NOS). The term Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) has gained traction in recent years partially because of the overlap in diagnostic criteria and the growing consensus that these disorders may in fact be at different points of the same continuum. For this reason, the term ASD is used throughout this thesis.

10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pervasive Developmental Disorders include: Autism, Asperger's syndrome, Pervasive Developmental Disorder- Not Otherwise Specified, Rett's Disorder and Childhood Disintegrative Disorder.

# 2.1 Characteristics of Autistic Spectrum Disorder

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) applies to Autism, Asperger's syndrome and PDD-NOS. The term is used to indicate the organisation of these conditions on a continuum (or spectrum). It has been proposed by a range of authors (Howlin, 2004; Attwood, 1998; Frith, 1989; Wing, 1981) that those diagnosed with more severe features or more symptoms are classified at one end of the continuum, while those diagnosed with less symptoms or less severity of impairment lie at other end. Further, the notion that these disorders can be placed on a continuum suggests that even though there can be some distinct differences between people diagnosed with Autism, Asperger's syndrome and PDD-NOS, they generally share a number of common characteristics (Attwood, 1998). The diagnostic criteria which define these disorders, and some of the issues surrounding are presented in the next section.

## 2.1.1 History and development: Autism

'Classic' Autism was first identified by psychiatrist Leo Kanner in 1943 (Frith, 1989). Classic autistic behaviour was described as having a deficit in linguistic and cognitive skills, most likely exhibiting a lack of eye contact with others, social isolation and a lack of communication with others beyond meeting their basic needs. Other symptoms that may be evident in a person include having fixed repetitive interests and routines. Certain motor behaviours such as rocking or arm flapping were noted to have been evident, together with an intellectual impairment. In some cases echolalia - a repetition of sounds or words that have been heard might also feature (Thompson, 2006; Mesiboy, Shea & Schopter, 2005; Ciaranello & Ciaranello, 1995).

# 2.1.2 History and development: Asperger's syndrome

Asperger's syndrome was named after the Viennese paediatrician Hans Asperger who published a paper in 1944 which described a group of people he had been observing that displayed traits which included:

- Poor eye contact
- Lack of empathy
- Naïve, inappropriate one sided interaction
- Little ability to form friendships
- Pedantic, repetitive speech

- Poor non-verbal communication and an impaired ability to interpret other people's actions
- Intense absorption in a special interest
- Clumsy and ill coordinated movements and odd postures (Attwood 2006, p. 4)

As with 'classic' autism, the degree to which a person with Asperger's syndrome displays characteristic traits of the disorder can vary dramatically and not all traits can be noted in every person.

Formal recognition of Asperger's syndrome has been relatively recent. It was not until 1990 that Asperger's syndrome gained official recognition by the World Health Organisation. Acceptance by the American Psychiatric Association followed in 1994 (Wing, 1991). Both organisations published a diagnostic criterion that recognised Asperger's syndrome as a diagnosis in its own right. The delay in recognition was attributed to Asperger's writings being written in German during World War Two and German literature being given a low standing as a result. Wide spread recognition occurred after they were translated into English in 1981 (Howlin, 2004; Gallagher & Gallagher, 2002) Kanner's work on classic autism on the other hand was rapidly published in reputable journals and became widely read. It was a remarkable coincidence that both men described the symptoms as autism (Wing, 1981).

# 2.2 Continuum or discrete diagnosis

Due to the marked overlap in symptoms between Asperger's syndrome and Autism there has been debate as to whether Asperger's syndrome is a separate entity from autism or whether it is simply a less severe form. There is speculation in the literature that the American Psychiatric Association may remove the separate diagnostic criteria and classification for Asperger's syndrome and merge it into a single diagnosis of Autism in the forthcoming issue of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders Edition Five (DSM-V) expected in 2013. One reason given for this change is that clinicians have been unable to differentiate between the diagnosis of Asperger's syndrome and 'high functioning autism' or HFA (Miller, 2010).

## 2.2.1 Aetiology of Autism

Recent studies have determined that autism may have a genetic origin; a study concentrating on familial autism has uncovered possible genetic changes in autistic children that were not present in their parents (Pinto et al., 2010). New research, with the aid of magnetoencephalography, suggests that a delay in the brain's ability to process sounds is implicated. The minute time delays in the processing of sounds are cumulative and the brain becomes overloaded with data (Roberts, Edgar, Zarnow & Levy, 2008). This theory explains why a conversation with someone with ASD can be punctuated by periods of extended silence while the person processes what has been said.

Another recent study had shown that a chemical fingerprint found in autistic children's urine differed from their non autistic counterparts. There is speculation that the findings may result in a simple urine test that could diagnose autism (Yap et al., 2010).

# 2.3 Characteristics of Autism and Asperger's syndrome

Many of the characteristics of ASD manifest in ways that impact on individual or family functioning. This can result in a particular set of support needs for the person with ASD and their family and wider support network.

#### **2.3.1** Autism

A person with autism may display some of the following characteristics among others:

- Avoid or have poor eye contact
- Have no speech or use a limited vocabulary or repeat phrases that have been heard (echolalia)
- Flap hands or rock themselves repeatedly
- Display self injurious behaviour such as banging the head against a floor or wall
- Be aggressive or anger easily
- Be resistant to change and or become angry when there is a change to their daily routine
- Line up toys or other objects in a particular order

 Display inappropriate behaviour such as removing clothes in public or touching people inappropriately

(National Autistic Society, 2011).

A <sup>3</sup>diagnosis of Autism requires particular diagnostic criteria, listed in the DSMIV-TR, to be fulfilled (A.P.A., 2000). In New Zealand, this diagnosis can only be given after an assessment has been undertaken by a registered psychologist or a psychiatrist. Therefore access to suitably qualified and experienced professionals is a critical step in the process.

While Autism is characterised by impairment across three main domains (impaired social interactions, restricted and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and/or activities AND communication), Asperger's syndrome is characterised by impairment across two domains

(A) Qualitative impairment in social interaction, as manifested by at least two of the following:

- 1. Marked impairments in the use of multiple nonverbal behaviours such as eye-to-eye gaze, facial expression, body posture, and gestures to regulate social interaction
- 2. Failure to develop peer relationships appropriate to developmental level
- 3. A lack of spontaneous seeking to share enjoyment, interests, or achievements with other people, (e.g., by a lack of showing, bringing, or pointing out objects of interest to other people)
- 4. Lack of social or emotional reciprocity (for example: not actively participating in simple social play or games, preference for solitary activities etc.)
- (B) Qualitative impairments in communication as manifested by at least one of the following:
- 1. Delay in, or total lack of, the development of spoken language (not accompanied by an attempt to compensate through alternative modes of communication such as gesture or mime)
- 2. In individuals with adequate speech, marked impairment in the ability to initiate or sustain a conversation with others
- 3. Stereotyped and repetitive use of language or idiosyncratic language
- 4. Lack of varied, spontaneous make-believe play or social imitative play appropriate to developmental level
- (C) Restricted repetitive and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and activities, as manifested by at least two of the following:
- 1. Encompassing preoccupation with one or more stereotyped and restricted patterns of interest that is abnormal either in intensity or focus
- 2. Apparently inflexible adherence to specific, dysfunctional routines or rituals
- 3. Stereotyped and repetitive motor mannerisms (e.g. hand or finger flapping or twisting, or complex whole-body movements)
- 4. Persistent preoccupation with parts of objects

There must also be delays or abnormal functioning in at least one of the following areas, (social interaction, language, symbolic or imaginative play) with an onset prior to age 3 years. The issues cannot better be categorised by another Pervasive Developmental Disorder such as Rett's Disorder or Childhood Disintegrative Disorder (A.P.A., 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To be given a diagnosis of Autism a person must demonstrate a total of six (or more) items from (A), (B), and (C), with at least two from (A), and one each from (B) and (C)

(i.e. impaired social interactions and restricted and stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and/or activities).

## 2.3.2 Asperger's syndrome

It could be argued that the difference between autism and Asperger's syndrome is the degree of severity of the behavioural manifestations. A principal difference between the two is that a person diagnosed with Asperger's syndrome is often more verbal.

With a diagnosis of Asperger's syndrome there is no clinically significant delay in language, cognitive development or in the development of age-appropriate self help skills, adaptive behaviour (other than in social interaction) and curiosity about the environment. Again the diagnostic criteria are clearly specified in the <sup>4</sup>DSMIV-TR (A.P.A., 2000) and must not be better accounted for by another specific Pervasive Developmental Disorder or Schizophrenia.

There is a range of behavioural manifestations of Asperger's syndrome and some of these are outlined in the coming section.

#### 2.3.2.1 Special interest areas

It is relatively common for a person with Asperger's syndrome to have developed one or more areas of interest that they fixate on. Special interest areas can be found in people right across the

(I)Qualitative impairment in social interaction, as manifested by at least two of the following:

(B) Failure to develop peer relationships appropriate to developmental level

(C) A lack of spontaneous seeking to share enjoyment, interest or achievements with other people, (e.g., by a lack of showing, bringing, or pointing out objects of interest to other people)

(D) Lack of social or emotional reciprocity

(II) Restricted repetitive & stereotyped patterns of behaviour, interests and activities, as manifested by at least one of the following:

(A) Encompassing preoccupation with one or more stereotyped and restricted patterns of interest that is abnormal either in intensity or focus

(B) An inflexible adherence to specific, non-functional routines or rituals

(C) Stereotyped and repetitive motor mannerisms (e.g. hand or finger flapping or twisting, or complex whole-body movements)

(D) Persistent preoccupation with parts of objects

Further, the disorder must cause disturbance or clinically significant impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> According to the DSMIV-TR (A.P.A., 2000), 'Asperger's syndrome' is characterised by:

<sup>(</sup>A) Marked impairments in the use of multiple nonverbal behaviours such as eye-to-eye gaze, facial expression, body posture, and gestures to regulate social interaction

Autistic Spectrum and the range of areas of interest can be just as diverse as the people themselves: Computers are a popular interest as are collections (Mayor, 2008; Chen et al. 2003).

One study, of 26 parents and guardians of people with Asperger's syndrome, by Winter-Messiers (2007) examined how the special interest area could be integrated into school and home life. Issues related to areas of interest in the study that were included were:

- The developmental history of the special interest
- Family history of similar interests
- The amount of time spent pursuing the interest
- The impact on other family members
- Ways which carers supported the interest
- Carer's attitudes and beliefs about the child's special interest (Winter-Messiers, pp 141-152, 2007).

This author found that participants demonstrated extensive professional knowledge related to their special interest area that was far beyond that expected for their chronological age. Despite their 'expert knowledge', all participants were found to be reluctant to talk about their special interests due to a fear of rejection from peers. Critically, this author also found that participants used the special interest as a focus and as a means to self regulate stress, anxiety, frustration and as a means of calming themselves (Winter-Messiers, 2007).

#### 2.3.2.2 Benefits of special interest areas

Some benefits were noted by Winter-Messiers, (2007), these ranged from emotional benefits to more physical benefits such as enhanced fine motor skills to illustrate Winter-Messiers point: improvement in hand-eye coordination brought about by an interest in fishing. This author also found that reading skills were enhanced because many participants in the study found reading about their interest was a preferred method of gaining information.

#### 2.3.2.3 Negative aspects

In addition to the impacts noted above, some problems could occur in situations when the special interest is not completely appropriate

A boy with Asperger's syndrome with an interest in filling out Lotto forms is an example, he would enter his local news agency and spend time filling out countless numbers of forms. The

newsagent objected to the number of forms being wasted and banned the boy from his shop. Several weeks later, the news agency was broken into and all that was stolen were several thousand blank Lotto forms. It was not hard to deduce that the likely culprit was the boy (Attwood, 1998).

Instances of breaking the law were rare: a person with Asperger's was more liable to be a victim than an offender because of their naivety and vulnerability, which made them easy targets (Attwood, 1998). Little evidence existed that suggested there was any significant association between ASD and criminal offending (Howlin, 2004). The propensity people with ASD have to follow rules and their literal thought, meant that a person with ASD would more than likely follow rules rather than break them (Howlin, 2004). Managing the special interest is one way that problems could be avoided.

#### 2.3.2.4 Communication

Communication with others is an area that can be problematic for the person with Asperger's syndrome. Misinterpretation of what was said can lead to confusion, several reasons could account for this:

#### 2.3.2.5 Body language

Approximately seven percent of the impact of the message in interpersonal communication comes from what is spoken while the remaining 93 percent of the message is the context conveyed via body language (Bolstad & Hamblett, 2000). With these figures in mind, it can be seen that if the nonverbal cues are not picked up or interpreted correctly, the subject could be taken out of context and offence taken. Email discussion groups provide an example when a 'flame war' could erupt through someone misinterpreting the meaning of something someone had said because the visual cues that added meaning were missing.

#### **2.3.2.6** Tone of voice

Speech patterns could also cause some misunderstanding. A person with ASD may exhibit a lack of variation in pitch, stress and rhythm together with a lack of modulation so that speech can have a monotonous or flat sound with an over emphasis on every syllable. Tone of speech can also sound 'formal' (Attwood, 1998). It is possible that to the casual listener, a person with ASD could be thought as being cold, aloof, unfriendly and unapproachable. For example, when a sympathetic response was expected, the tone of voice could convey the impression that the listener did not care when in actual fact, the opposite was the case.

No absolute cause for the speech pattern has been established and not all people with ASD display this quality. However, when this characteristic is present, it is likely that it impacts upon family, school and other social relationships (Ghaziuddin & Gerstein, 1996).

#### 2.3.2.7 Concrete literal thought

Many people with ASD have difficulty in interpreting the exact meaning from spoken language, especially the abstract concepts and idioms, or 'reading between the lines' that are used in everyday conversation. For others with ASD, it might take some time to process the information that was received. If too much information is given at the same time, confusion and frustration might result (Clements & Zarkowska, 2001).

Lack of specificity can be a major source of problems for someone with ASD. Persons with ASD may have a high degree of verbal intelligence, but there was often a lack of understanding of the meaning of language, and the function of communication (Carrington & Graham, 1999). An illustration being:

He can be so cheeky. And yet it's as if he doesn't know he's being cheeky. The other day I was telling him off and I said, "Are you with me? - You know expecting him to say yes Miss or whatever - and he said", "Well I'm next to you and I'm not with anyone else so I must be with you". "And it wasn't as if he was being jokey; he's like that, very serious it's hard to describe". (Carrington & Graham, 1999 p. 37)

The teacher's remark showed how the meaning of words can be misunderstood when a literal interpretation was made, had the teacher asked "Do you understand what it is I am saying?" instead of "Are you with me" the child would have been more able to provide a more appropriate response.

#### 2.3.2.8 Sensory issues

About 40 percent of people with ASD have some intolerance towards sounds, light, textures, smells or tastes that could lead to behavioural issues (Clements & Zarkowska, 2001; Attwood, 1998). The issue of sensory intolerance can have a significant impact on the day to day functioning of the person with ASD and their family, for example: a young child became suddenly and inexplicably upset. After an investigation, it was found that someone had switched on an electric hand dryer at the other end of the corridor to where the child was located. While the sound was almost imperceptible by others, the child perceived the sound as too intense (Attwood, 1998). Routines are a further characteristic of ASD.

#### **2.3.2.9 Routines**

For someone on the Autistic Spectrum routines are used as a means of maintaining order and predictability (Attwood, 1998). Development of structure and routine is frequently acknowledged as an essential component of parenting a child with ASD and to lessen stress within the family (Larson, 2006). Distress caused by any change in routine was seen as an additional impact on family members. Regular educational activities such as a 'mufti day', cultural day, or school camp can pose difficulties as can family events such as birthday parties or unexpected visitors (Attwood, 1998).

## 2.3.3 Pervasive Developmental Disorders

The third area to comprise the Spectrum of Autistic Disorders is the category of Pervasive Developmental Disorders -Not Otherwise Specified (PDD-NOS). This is a term used to describe individuals who do NOT meet the full criteria for either Asperger's syndrome or Autism (DSMIV-TR (A.P.A., 2000). It is often used to describe a person who has clear features or patterns of the disorder but their symptoms are milder and do not reach the threshold for the diagnosis. It is also used to classify an individual who might have symptoms in one area (e.g. impairment in social interaction) but none in another area (restricted repetitive behaviours) and thus not meet the full diagnostic criteria. With a diagnosis of PDD-NOS there is still an expectation that there is severe impairment in social interaction associated with disrupted verbal or non-verbal communication or restricted, repetitive behaviours.

# 2.4 Summary

The Autistic Spectrum in its different guises can be a difficult concept to understand, because of the varied array of symptoms that may be presented. While it is accepted within the psychiatric and psychological fields that ASD is not a disease or a sickness, it is not contagious, nor can it be contracted via the environment (Dunlap & Bunton-Pierce, 1999); many myths and stereotypes prevail. Contemporary understanding is that Autism Spectrum Disorder is a neurodevelopmental disorder that affects the brain's ability to process information. It affects all aspects of psychological development and manifests in different ways throughout the life course (Frith, 1989). The relationship between earlier explanations, including attributing the onset of ASD symptoms to family-related (and particularly mother-related) factors and impacts on families are explored in Chapter 4.

The degree of impairment and the symptoms displayed vary across people with ASD and because of this people diagnosed with this cluster of disorders present differently and require different types of support and intervention. Understanding the diverse needs of individuals (and their families) with an ASD diagnosis is a focus of this research. Next, in Chapter 3, the provision of services for people with ASD in New Zealand is considered.

## Chapter 3

## Genesis of Autism Services in New Zealand

The inaugural World Autism Awareness Day April 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2008 saw the New Zealand Government release a seminal document. The '*Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline*', the publication was a world first in service provision for people with Autistic Spectrum Disorder and sets out procedures that should be followed by professionals responsible for the care of people on the Autistic Spectrum (Carter, 2008).

This guideline was a long time in the making. Some ten years earlier, a report entitled 'Autism Services in New Zealand' was published in 1998. This report followed an inquiry into the circumstances that led to the death of Casey Albury-Thomson. Casey's mother, Janine, was convicted on a charge of manslaughter (Ministries of Health & Education, 2008). Janine's trial attracted media attention where the circumstances that led to her death were outlined. As the Albury-Thomson story, legal trial, and subsequent inquiry were the catalyst of the development of autism services in New Zealand, it is helpful to consider the story of this family as a platform for this research.

# 3.1 The Albury-Thomson case

Testimony presented in the Court of Appeal outlined some of the circumstances surrounding the Albury-Thomson case (R v Albury-Thomson [(1998) 16 CRNZ 79]). It was asserted that Casey was almost impossible to live with, her behaviour was destructive, she would frequently rip her clothes (often exposing her body in public), bedding, or furniture covers. Her toilet habits were poor, she would urinate wherever she was and it was suggested that she would do so deliberately, whenever she was asked to do something she do not wish to do. It was also stated that Casey's sexual behaviour was inappropriate and that she would often masturbate in public or touch the genitals of males who were around her. Casey was noisy and often chanted repetitively, she would bite people around her and mealtimes had to be supervised because of her very large appetite (R v Albury-Thomson [(1998) 16 CRNZ 79]). An impression was created of a child, and then young woman, who required constant, intensive parenting and supervision.

For approximately 38 weeks a year, Casey resided at Hohepa home in Napier, and a limited amount of respite care was provided by <sup>5</sup>Intellectual Handicapped Children's Society's Woburn House in Palmerston North when Casey was not at Hohepa (Morgan, 1988). It was during a break from Hohepa that Casey was expelled from Woburn House because the staff could not cope with her behaviour (Evening Standard, 9/7/98 p.2). Upon receiving the news of Casey's expulsion her mother tried unsuccessfully to have her admitted early to Hohepa. Her request was refused because they had insufficient staff available. Child Youth and Family Services (CYFS) were approached but, as Casey was over 17 years old, they declined to assist (Morgan, 1998). With no residential care options available, Casey returned to the family home.

When Janine Albury-Thomson testified at her trial, she provided the following account of the situation which ended with her killing Casey. She said that in the two weeks prior to her death, Casey's behaviour was 'completely over the top' she explained "it was absurd and ridiculous not really describable. It was like living with a wild creature that was not chained". Janine added that after Casey turned 17, her level of control dropped to below that which it had been when she was aged three years old. Her ability to look after herself diminished together with a reduction of her verbal skills (R v Albury-Thomson [(1998) 16 CRNZ 79]), Casey was noisy and often chanted repetitively, she would bite people around her and mealtimes had to be supervised because of her very large appetite (R v Albury-Thomson [(1998) 16 CRNZ 79]). Janine Albury-Thomson then described the events that occurred immediately before she killed Casey. She said that on that night, Casey would not stop chanting and the noise kept the family awake. It was during this time, Janine reported, that she decided to kill her daughter. Janine Albury-Thomson said that she initially tried to make Casey jump off nearby Aorangi Bridge. Casey did not comply; they returned home, and it was on the way back that the decision to strangle Casey was made (Morgan, 1998).

Janine Albury-Thomson was convicted of killing her daughter Casey in the Palmerston North High court on July 31<sup>st</sup> 1998. She was convicted on a charge of manslaughter and was sentenced to four years imprisonment (*R v Albury-Thomson* [1998] T 37-97). The sentence was later reduced to 18 months by the Court of Appeal (R v Albury-Thomson [(1998) 16 CRNZ 79]). When passing sentence, the judge asked for an independent inquiry into the level of support the Albury-Thomson family had received. The judge's motivation for calling for the inquiry was to assess whether or not a lack of government funding or administrative failures contributed to Casey's death (R v Albury-Thomson [(1998) 16 CRNZ 79]). The judge's request was rejected by

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Now known as IDEA services

the Health Funding Authority because it said it had already made significant changes to the way support services were allocated to families of children who had severe disabilities (Green, 1998). The then Health Minister the Honourable Bill English later announced that an inquiry into autism services would be carried out (Evening Standard, 28/8/98. p.9).

## 3.2 The Inquiry into Autism services in New Zealand

The inquiry into autism services in New Zealand began in 1998. The inquiry was commissioned under Section 47 of the Health and Disabilities Services Act 1993 and was undertaken by Emeritus Professor of Psychiatry John S Werry. The inquiry reviewed the clinical management of Casey's care and broadly examined services that were available for people with ASD and their families generally (Ministry of Health, 1998).

The Autism Services in New Zealand inquiry reported that there were a number of areas where there were deficiencies in care in the Albury-Thomson case. These included an unacceptable delay in Casey's autism diagnosis and a finding that services that were provided were more appropriate for a person with an intellectual disability rather than autism. In addition, the inquiry found that as no agency had sole responsibility for people with autism there was a lack of coordination of care. Agencies that did work with the Albury-Thomson family did not communicate between one another (Ministry of Health, 1998).

The subsequent Autism Services report made a number of recommendations, including the need for health professionals to be better skilled in diagnosing autism, and an improved level of interagency communication. Responsiveness to the needs of the individual and their family was acknowledged as a critical factor, and early access to interventions was seen as a priority together with implementation of behavioural management systems and provision of adequate respite care.

The fact that autism was a lifetime disability was recognised when support for the elderly parents of middle aged children with autism living at home was recommended. The report also acknowledged that siblings of people with autism also need support (Ministry of Health, 1998). However, it was recognised that the degree of support given had to be variable because no two people with an ASD were affected in the same way (Ministry of Health, 1998).

As noted above, the lack of inter-agency cooperation was an area highlighted by the Autism Services in New Zealand report. A recommendation was made that the Ministry of Health became the lead agency on autism and that case management be co-ordinated across agencies that were involved with the disorder (Ministry of Health, 1998).

Some barriers to obtaining services were identified in the report, as was the multiplicity of support agencies that were involved in service provision. The lack of an autism lead agency was considered a barrier because it meant that service gaps between Child Youth and Family Services, Special Education Services and the Health Funding Authority (HFA) occurred (Ministry of Health, 1998). An advantage of improved communication between these three agencies would mean that the procurement of funding would be simplified because the HFA would be 'in the loop'.

#### 3.2.1 Additional barriers

As support organisations supply services to people with ASD from their existing range of services, no specific funding was targeted to respond to the unique needs of people with ASD. An impact was that organisations had to fund services from their existing operational budgets. The inquiry noted that more funding was required across all sectors that provided services to people with ASD but acknowledged that there was little prospect of funding being provided.

As previously mentioned, based on its findings, the Inquiry recommended that a lead organisation be appointed which had the responsibility of coordinating the services that were available so that the best use could be made of existing services and the funding that was available. Additionally, the inquiry noted that clients perceived some service providers were being more focused on clarifying boundaries of service provision than they were in providing actual support services.

#### 3.2.2 Recommendations

The Autism Services in New Zealand report took a global approach to service issues. It recommended that tertiary institutions that provided autism training reviewed their procedures; especially diagnosis. The report also recommended in-service training should be provided to workers in health, education and welfare organisations, to improve their knowledge and

practices relating to autism. The lack of uniformity of needs assessment services around New Zealand was noted and it was recommended that these services be administered equally throughout the country (Ministry of Health, 1998).

A lack of cooperation between service agencies was identified as an issue by the Inquiry. The lack of inter-agency cooperation can be traced to the early 1990s, the neo-liberalist National Government elected to office in November 1990 restructured health policy. Among the changes was the decision for the state to retreat from the provision of services in favour of contracting services to community based Non Governmental Organisations (NGOs) (Cheyne O'Brien & Belgrave, 2000).

The idea was that a split between funder and provider would enhance service provision and reduce costs (Walker, 2004). As a result, the NGOs were required to bid for contracts to perform services. The government believed that with NGOs offering services, the community would have a greater choice of service provider and that services would be delivered at a less cost to the government (Ashton, 1992).

However, an impact of the contracting environment was that the NGOs began to operate on a business model with accountability for performance and expenditure (Cribb, 2006). As the NGOs had to compete with each other to be awarded contracts, there was little contact between agencies to prevent the likelihood of sensitive commercial information being released to competitors (Stansfield, 2001). The lack of connection and collaboration created within this environment may have compounded the issues faced by the Albury-Thomsons and other families in similar situations.

To overcome the lack of cooperation between agencies Autism Services Interdepartmental Working Group (ASIWG) was established to implement some of the recommendations of the Autism Services in New Zealand report (Ministry of Health, 1999).

The Autism Services Interdepartmental Working Group comprised of representatives from Child Youth and Family Services, Ministries of Health and Education and Specialist Education Services. The objective of the group was to:

• Develop and strengthen inter-agency protocols and practices for a seamless provision of services and the provision of effective safety nets

- Address the service gaps in the support of children and adults with an ASD
- Establish a clear leadership role for the coordination of services for people with ASD and their families
- Address a lack of awareness of ASD issues across professional groups (Ministry of Health, 1999, p1)

An update on the group's activities in May 2000, announced a change of direction of their focus to professional workforce development, research service delivery and to play a role in interagency cooperation. While the ASIWG recognised that while there was still some way to go before services to families with someone with ASD had been achieved, it was thought that services would be better provided by existing mainstream organisations rather than the creation of a dedicated agency. The ASIWG was disbanded in December 2000 (Ministry of Health, 2000).

### 3.2.3 Post inquiry environment

Nine years after Casey's death, a report in the Manawatu Standard newspaper suggested that little had changed for families in New Zealand. An Autism New Zealand Manawatu branch member was quoted as saying that while the Albury-Thomson case was headline grabbing and impossible to ignore, she was watching family tragedies all the time where marriages broke up or people had accidents caused by exhaustion. The main problem, she said, was a lack of funding and parents had to haggle for inadequate support services (Rankin, 2006).

A further example was when the parents of a 14 year old boy with ASD had to make a care and protection notification to CYFS because the family was unable to cope with the boy's increasing level of violence. They had previously tried to get help but were repeatedly told that the boy's condition was not bad enough or, that waiting lists were too long (Hill, 2006).

There are similar stories, Whitworth (2005) speaking in her capacity as Chief Executive Officer of Autism New Zealand addressed a carer's workshop in 2005, she outlined her own experiences. She told the gathering that she had three sons who were on the Autistic Spectrum. Each of them was affected to a different extent. One of her sons required twenty-four hour care and while explaining this to the needs assessor, she was promptly told the service she required was only available in cases where the carer died, or suddenly became incapable of providing care. Whitworth added that this was an example of a needs assessor not understanding the

impacts of ASD. She concluded her speech by citing an example of where a mother with cancer failed to access respite care despite the fact of her telling the needs assessor that she was being held together by bits of titanium as well as being wheelchair bound. Being able to receive an appropriate diagnosis has continued to be an issue.

Lack of professional awareness of ASD symptoms has been an issue. Matthews (2007) indicated that a boy had to be examined by two specialists before finally arriving at an ASD diagnosis, it was also not uncommon for the medical profession to be unhelpful and frequently, a paediatrician would make a diagnosis but would not offer any guidance as to what to do next except to sign a form to receive a \$27 a week allowance from the government (Matthews, 2007). Aside from the 1998 Autism Services in New Zealand report, there has been little research into the impact ASD has on an individual or family. The Autistic Association of New Zealand commissioned an inquiry into the state of services for people with ASD in 2001.

# 3.3 Autistic Association of New Zealand research project (2001)

In an effort to overcome a lack of information about the experiences of people with autism and their families, a research project was commissioned by The Autistic Association of New Zealand. The 2001 project examined many areas of support, ranging from obtaining an appropriate diagnosis, to home support. In total, 932 families were surveyed. Ninety five per cent of families had only one member with ASD while the remaining five per cent had more than one member. In total, 979 individuals were represented by the survey. A lack of support was a New Zealand wide problem and the quality of services that were provided was shown to vary from place to place. Some of the main problems the report identified were:

## 3.3.1 Diagnosis

The degree of difficulty the parents encountered showed a lack of knowledge existed throughout health, welfare and educational services. Two participants to the Autism New Zealand research project detailed their experiences when dealing with the medical profession:

A prominent psychologist (in his words) asked him (my son) to touch his nose with each finger, walk a few paces and then pronounced he did not have autism (Autistic Association of New Zealand, 2001, p. IV).

While another was told:

Doctor said he is autistic which means that he will never be employed, never be in a long-term relationship but at least, he will never be a rapist (Autistic Association of New Zealand, 2001, p. IV).

Difficulty in obtaining a diagnosis is not helpful because this has to be obtained before any support can be accessed. A needs assessment is the normal method of obtaining support and this will only be carried out if a diagnosis has been made (Life Links, n.d.).

#### 3.3.2 Needs assessment

Of the 786 people surveyed, 63 per cent had a needs assessment done while 29 per cent had not. Comments on the quality of service received varied, one participant was disgusted with the service because no support was supplied while another found themselves locked out of the adult mental health service. In many instances, the needs assessor was identified as a problem because of their lack of understanding of ASD matters (Autistic Association of New Zealand, 2001).

## 3.3.3 Respite care

The Ministry of Health finances a respite care facility which is separate from the carer support days that are allocated for informal care. Of the total number of people surveyed, 43 per cent had respite care while the remaining 57 per cent did not. The figures show many carers were missing out. A lack of experienced ASD carers was identified as being one reason why service uptake was so low (Autistic Association of New Zealand, 2001). Further research into the level of uptake of respite services has been undertaken.

In a March 2011 study, Autism New Zealand surveyed 2034 of their members to gauge their thoughts about the lack of respite care. Forty seven percent of participants indicated that the respite care available was not adequate. Carer support hours that were allocated were used instead with support being provided by friends of the family or by way of the holiday programmes run by some of the local Autism New Zealand branches. The results of the survey

will be used to lobby the Ministry of Health for the provision of appropriate services (Autism New Zealand, 2011).

### 3.3.4 Carer support

Carer support is provided in the form of carer support days that are determined by an annual needs assessment. Five-hundred and thirty-seven respondents had been allocated carer support days. The number of days allocated varied from family to family with the majority receiving a twenty eight day per year allocation (Autistic Association of New Zealand, 2001).

## 3.3.5 Family support

The study found that a main source of family support came from the extended family. This was the case in urban areas; the survey results showed that 63 per cent of respondents received some form of support from family members. However, it was noted that a significant number of families did not have access to other family members because of where they were situated (Autism New Zealand, 2001).

## 3.3.6 Satisfaction with public services

Respondents were given the opportunity to tell of their experiences they had with public sector services to have their child's needs met. Some of the parents commented:

My son has had to be removed from home because he has tried to smother his baby brother and thrown knives at me. Have had no support in trying to cope with this behaviour.

Only now after three years of fighting, our son's needs were recognised.

He was kicked out of school, he was getting bullied and teased and the school could not cope. The police caught students but still the school would not do anything.

She leaves school this year and IHC would not work together (with other agencies) to do a transition plan

Completely dissatisfied, total lack of support in my area ... public services do not exist. Compared to other countries, New Zealand absolutely appalling, seriously considered emigrating to Australia or England.

(Autistic Association of New Zealand, 2001, pp. 34-39).

### 2.3.7 Work and Income

Respondent's experiences with Work and Income varied. The impression that many had was that Work and Income case managers were unfamiliar with the issues involved when a family member had ASD. Some respondents were left with the impression that as their case did not fit into a black and white category, no support would be forthcoming. When approaching one of its caseworkers, one respondent was informed their child did not have autism (Autistic Association of New Zealand, 2001).

The findings of the 2001 Autism New Zealand study went on to inform the more recent 2008 inquiry into the quality of care and service provision for people with disabilities.

A parliamentary inquiry into the quality of care and service provision for people with disabilities conducted in 2008 heard that people with ASD were still unable to obtain funding for support unless they had a dual diagnosis of a mental health condition. It was also noted that there was a service gap for some people with ASD. The parliamentary inquiry also noted that improved services would be developed via the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' that had just been published (Social Services Committee, 2008).

# 2.4 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' (2008)

Published in April 2008, the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' is in response to the 1998 Autism Services in New Zealand Report that found gaps in service provision existed. The guideline is designed to assist health professionals to make decisions surrounding the care and education of persons with ASD. The guideline is intended to cover the identification and diagnosis of ASD and to inform decision making that will improve outcomes for people with ASD. The guideline is evidence based, each of the recommendations have been supported by research and will be implemented on a regional or national level. The main areas the guideline focuses on are:

- Initial assessment of children, young persons and adults with ASD
- Focus on how best to provide support services
- Educational interventions
- Management of behavioural emotional or mental health issues that may be present

- Community support needs including educational or transition to adulthood
- Unique needs of Maori or Pacific peoples

  (Ministries of Health and Education, 2008, pp. 34-49)

In the first two years since the guideline was published, there has been progress in the rolling out of support services for people with ASD. As of June 2010, the Ministry of Health announced a set of priorities that will see the guideline implemented that will cover assessment and diagnosis, support to strengthen families, interventions, respite care and service coordination. The Ministry of Health reported that progress to date has been made in the following areas:

#### Diagnosis

Targeted information has been provided to professionals in education, health and disability areas that assist with improved diagnosis protocols together with an improved timeliness of diagnosis. The information will be provided in the form of a web-based service that will cover recognition and referral of persons with a suspected case of ASD.

#### Information services

Five projects are currently underway that are designed to improve dissemination of information on ASD, a website *Altogether Autism* (www.altogetherAutism.org.nz) has been established to improve information and advisory services to both families and professionals.

#### Parent education

The Ministries of Health and Education will implement a number of educational initiatives that include programmes that are intended to improve parent's knowledge of the impacts of ASD. Parents of younger children will be targeted to assist parents with their child's communication and social skills.

#### Tips for Autism

A training course will be run by the Ministries of Health and Education that will provide teams of parents, carers and school teachers with skills and practical knowledge to support children between five and twelve years of age.

Interventions: ASD-specific communication and behaviour support services

The Ministry of Health has contracted Intellectual Disability Empowerment in Action (IDEA) Services to deliver ASD-specific communication and behaviour support services in the Auckland area. Following a trial in the Auckland area, the programme will be rolled out nationally. The service will be available to children and young people up to 21 years of age.

#### Respite Care

Respite care facilities for people with ASD or an intellectual disability have been established or are in the process of being established in a number of areas of New Zealand. A Respite service exclusively for people with ASD is being considered by the Ministry of Health.

Service Coordination

Following a review of their needs assessment procedures for working with people with ASD, the Needs Assessment Service Coordination Association Incorporated (NASCA) has made changes to existing protocols to bring them in line with the autism guideline. (Ministry of Health, 2010, pp. 1-12)

## 3.5 Summary

The Albury-Thomson case highlighted the level of support that was available for persons with ASD and their families. The accessibility of respite care was identified as an issue that needed to be addressed. As the court case unfolded, it was shown that a lack of experienced respite care workers existed who could deal with Casey's behaviour. It was also shown that the support that was available was not available on a year round basis because of its linkage with school terms. Casey's age (17 years) also presented a problem because of the crossover from children's to adult's services. Had she been younger, CYFS would have been available to locate respite care.

The parts of the guideline that have been or will be implemented have been based on the most important needs that were identified in the Autism Services in New Zealand report. Diagnostic delay, a lack of focus on ASD by existing agencies, a lack of appropriate respite care and cooperation between support agencies that are involved with a family were some of the issues that were identified as needing clarification. The next chapter explores some of these family-related issues in more depth.

# Chapter 4

# **Family Matters**

News of an ASD diagnosis may be a surprise for some parents, whereas for others the diagnosis may confirm the parent's suspicions that something was amiss with their child. It is natural for people to be interested in the cause of the problem or issue they are confronted with and families of children with ASD are no exception to this.

Speculation has surrounded the cause of autism since it was first identified in the 1940s (Hill & Frith, 2003). Early work on the aetiology of autism and related disorders focused on parenting and it was postulated that the behaviour and emotional detachment of a child's mother was a significant causal factor in the child developing the disorder. More recently, as noted in Chapter 2, autism has been acknowledged to be a neurological disorder and the previously popular 'mother-blaming' theories have largely been rejected. However, a sense of responsibility is frequently retained by parents of a child with ASD and this is one of the significant impacts on parents parenting a child with this diagnosis.

# 4.1 Impacts on parents

Raising a child with an Autistic Spectrum Disorder can evoke a range of emotional and psychological responses from parents and impact on most areas of a family's everyday functioning. Research has been undertaken that examines how families cope after a diagnosis of ASD has been received. Impacts can be contained at the parent/caregiver level or encompass the whole family, including the extended family. The impacts may be financial or involve a change in living location to accommodate the child's special needs (Kogan, et al., 2008). Ultimately, the family may implement a range of different coping strategies to mitigate these impacts (Dale, Jahoda & Knott, 2006). The purpose of this chapter is to examine some of the impacts that can occur and consider the implications of these for informal and formal supports for family members.

## 4.1.1 Early diagnosis and intervention

An ASD diagnosis can open pathways to support services that the family and child may require and as noted in Chapter 2 a needs assessment provides parents with a means of accessing such support. Before this can happen, of course, a diagnosis must have been made (<sup>6</sup>Life Links n.d.). An early diagnosis can immediately increase the support the family has access to and increase the likelihood that interventions will be put in place that may improve the child's prognosis.

Research has shown that with early intervention, between one and six years of age, there is an increased opportunity to maximise potential and skills and therefore a greater possibility that an autistic child's level of functioning could improve (Gray, 2006; McConachie & Diggle, 2006; Valente, 2004; Baird, Cass, & Slonims, 2003). These researchers raise important issues about timely access to intervention and services, but the pressure on family to seek and deliver these interventions needs to be acknowledged.

A unique set of challenges can be faced by parents when raising a child with an ASD diagnosis, such challenges can range from psychological adjustment, to coordinating, advocating for and making decisions and plans for, possible treatments (Wachtel & Carter, 2008). Organisational skills could become a critical skill set for parents endeavouring to integrate the autistic child's requirements with that of other family members without losing sight of their own needs.

Early intervention that targets the child and the parents has the potential to increase access to supports, facilitate skill development and lessen potential impacts on the entire family. These impacts, in their various forms, have been of interest to numerous researchers: They range from impacts on family members to society as a whole. A number of these will now be outlined. Psychological impacts will be the first area discussed within this chapter.

## 4.1.2 Psychological impacts

While a diagnosis of ASD is critical on many levels, it can still be a distressing and an isolating outcome for parents. Parents need the opportunity to accept the ASD diagnosis given to their child, take in the new information that has been provided to them, and to adjust to the contextual changes that may need to occur within the family (Wachtel & Carter, 2008).

34

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Life Links is a company contracted by the Ministry of Health to provide needs assessment services

Once this has happened the parents are able to use the knowledge that they have acquired to explain the child's behaviour to others, thereby assisting with the child's social integration (Attwood, 2000). The process is not always that simple and the parents are often dealing with issues of stigma and the negative effects of labelling as well as their own psychological and affective reactions.

#### 4.1.2.1 Depression

Depressive symptoms are commonly found in parents of children with developmental disorders, (Wachtel & Carter, 2008). Osborne and Reed (2008) have argued that depressive disorders are an outcome of the diagnosis and perhaps the sense of loss that the diagnosis signifies, and that the mood disorder could well be a barrier to the parents' ability to engage fully with their child.

Studies have shown that while rates of parental depression are higher than in families where there are children with no developmental disorder, there is no need for this to be the case and risks may be lowered by the provision of a suitable support network (Brobst, Clopton & Hendrick, 2009; Bromley et al. 2004).

Research has consistently shown that individuals who receive support (material, social and psychological) from significant people in their lives such as parents, partners, friends, and family, experience better physical and psychological health than those with fewer social resources available to them (Lincoln, 2000). People's perception of the social support they have available to them has been linked to individual well-being and research has indicated that it can reduce adverse psychological effects of difficult events (Pottie, Cohen, & Ingram, 2008). However, accessing and maintaining these supports, that buffer stress and enhance coping can be difficult when parenting a child with ASD due to the relative isolation caused by the very behavioural and emotional issues that the parent needs support with. Indeed, it seems likely that many people that would ordinarily form a family's support network may not be a support with parenting a child with ASD because of reduced social contact and potentially, the impacts of stigma, stereotypes, and their own lack of skills to deal with the situation.

#### 4.1.2.2 Stress and social support

A wide body of research suggests that carer stress is by far the most common impact ASD has on a family. Parents of children with ASD have been found to be at an increased risk of experiencing psychological difficulties than their counterparts with children without a disability

(Khanna et. al. 2010; Hare, Pratt, Pottie, Cohen, & Ingram, 2008; Burton, Bromley & Emerson, 2004).

In research undertaken among parents of newly diagnosed children with ASD, levels of stress were found to be higher; with a gradual reduction over time. Mothers were viewed as being at a higher risk of developing stress-related mental health problems brought about by their caregiving responsibilities and that could be exacerbated by a lack of sleep caused by either the child with ASD or the parent's stress level (Stuart & McGrew, 2009; Hoffman et al, 2008; Duarte, Bordin, Yazigi & Mooney, 2005). Evidence suggested that stress originated from many sources and could be cumulative in nature (Hoffman et al., 2008; Higgins, Bailey & Pearce, 2005).

The cumulative nature of stress was more evident when the mother was the main source of support. In certain situations, they were described as 'Swiss Army Wives' because of their responsibility for household management, parenting and bringing in a wage (Holicky, 2000). Additional sources of cumulative stress were recognised when it came from various sources such as behavioural difficulties, lack of support or financial impacts (Holicky, 2000). An important ingredient in the lessening of any impacts was the provision of supports (Stuart & McGrew, 2009). Supports may be seen by parents in a number of ways. For some, supports may be seen as a necessary means of maintaining family coherence or in others, the supports may have a fallback role (Bromley et al., 2004). Some research into the role that social support played has been undertaken.

Informal supports, such as those obtained from peer support groups, have been shown to be as important as that received from formal sources (Mandell & Salzer, 2007). Support groups provide an opportunity for emotional support, a source of information about available services, and normalising parent's experiences. Out of more than a thousand parents surveyed by Mandell and Salzer (2007) two thirds of the survey respondents had participated at one time or another in an autism specific support group.

In some instances, stress levels could be reduced if there was a perceived knowledge that help was there if it was needed. In one study of 31 women it was found that a perception that support was available if needed, reduced stress levels in a similar manner to a situation where the support was actually used (Duarte, Bordin, Yazigi, & Mooney, 2005).

The research reviewed has highlighted that parental and sibling stress can be a factor in some families and that where supports were put in place, families were in a better position to cope in a stressful environment. Where support was perceived to be available stress levels had been reduced too – even if the person did not actually use the supports.

Other than the factors highlighted in the Albury-Thomson case and subsequent report, we know little about the particular support needs of parents of a child with ASD. For instance, the support needed or sought from family members, social workers, specialist therapists, schools and education providers, and others might be quite different. If families are to be resourced practically and psychologically, then information about what is perceived as helpful to them during this process is important. Social workers have been identified as being in the best position to locate support.

Social workers are in a position to help locate the services that a family needs and would be best placed as a member of a multidisciplinary team that worked with the family to meet the family's needs (Karande, 2006; Preece & Jordan, 2006; Newsome, 2000). Help with understanding the emotional impact that could occur on the family may be necessary (Gray, 2006). Part of the understanding could be the knowledge of the role that grief played during the period of adjustment after a diagnosis has been received.

#### 4.1.2.3 Grief and loss

Studies have shown that following the discovery that their child has serious development problems a sense of grief, sorrow, shock, or denial occurs among parents (Fleischmann, 2004). It seems likely that parents will experience a range of such emotions when a diagnosis of ASD is given to their child. These could range from a feeling of relief that the reason for the child's behaviour was finally known or there could be feelings that paralleled the actual loss of the child (Wachtel & Carter, 2008; Ozonoff, Dawson & McPartland, 2002; Aarons & Gittens, 1992).

Theories of grief and loss generally relate to human reactions to death and dying. While most of this literature focuses on individual responses, there is an unquestionable social dimension to loss and grief. Grief can be a reaction to complex losses that are symbolic (such as the child the parent's dreamed they would have), and unrecognised by friends, family and the community. But grief is not merely a psychological issue. The grieving process after the parents have been told their child had a disability could parallel those experienced if the child had actually died

because the child the parents dreamed of and planned for, cannot exist (Boushey, 2001; Huws, Jones & Ingledew, 2001).

Doka (1989) has written on the role of society in the grief responses that have been marginalised when there is a failure or unwillingness to acknowledge a real loss has taken place. This could include parents of children with disabilities because of the misapprehension that grief only applies if someone had actually died. Doka refers to grief that is not readily acknowledged or recognised as disenfranchised grief. Disenfranchised grief is based on the notion that societies possess norms for grieving or rather 'grieving rules' that identify 'who, when, how, how long, and for whom' people should grieve.

In relation to parenting a child with ASD, the loss of the 'perfect' child is not visible, recognised, or even considered to be important by many in the wider family or society in general. Doka also argues that disenfranchised grief may develop when the grieving person is not recognised. This could be the case for parents, siblings, and extended family members of a child with ASD. Doka (1989) is meaning that as the loss is perceived rather than physical, society does not recognise the loss as being real. Society has become more aware of the impact of grief associated with less tangible or less obvious relationships and there is increasing agreement that grief associated with the loss is relevant (Corr, 2002). An example Corr uses is when a person is diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease. Because the person's personality has changed, others in the person's life regard them as being psychosocially dead meaning that the personality has died while biological life continues. This example applies to ASD because after the diagnosis, the child still lives and impacts could be even more complicated when the child is higher functioning because of the likelihood of no outward sign that anything was wrong, being evident.

We have seen that grief can result when relationships are lost, or changed in significant ways through the diagnosis of a child with ASD. Enduring this grief, it would seem, can be a long and lonely journey. Research has shown that feelings of grief are long term and the intensity of the grief increased when the parents felt they were unable to manage their child's behaviour (Benderix, Nordstrom & Sivberg, 2007). It seems likely that the emotional reaction triggered after a diagnosis has been given may continue for many years and may be more evident at particular life stages than others.

#### 4.1.2.4 Guilt

Blame, and a related sense of guilt, which in some cases was excessive, occurred where parents held themselves responsible for the child's autism. Guilt had been identified as a common parental emotion after an ASD diagnosis had been received (Valente, 2004). Mothers may, feel guilt for something they may have done during pregnancy such as having the occasional drink or cigarette or a belief that they did not socialise sufficiently with their child while they were younger (Howlin, 1998). Several authors suggest that an understanding of the aetiology of autism can counteract such feelings of guilt and the facilitation of some type of counselling could be useful in allying the parent's sense of responsibility (Valente, 2004; Boushey, 2001; Howlin, 1998). Early research into the aetiology of ASD (and other problems for children) focused on deficits in the maternal relationship as a causal factor so it is not surprising that there is an enduring legacy of guilt for parents and, in particular, mothers.

# 4.2 Impacts on the wider family

The level of understanding a sibling had of autism should be considered. 'Telling' the sibling their brother or sister had autism was no guarantee that the information was understood. It was also possible that parents overestimated the sibling's understanding of the implications involved (Mathew, Leong & White, 2002). The type of impact has been found to vary from family to family.

Several studies indicated that the presence of an Autistic child in the family had no adverse effects on siblings (Hastings, 2007; Mascha & Boucher, 2006; Pilowsky, Yirmiya, Doppelt, Gross-Tsur, & Shalev, 2004; Kaminsky & Dewey, 2002) while within other research a range of impacts have been noted (Orsmond & Seltzer, 2009; Macks & Reeve, 2007; Ross & Cuskelly, 2006; Williams & Wright, 2004; Fisman, Wolf, Ellison, & Freeman, 2000; Howlin, 1998). Impacts on sibling relationships were seen as significant because out of all relationships a person may have during a lifetime, sibling relationships would be among the longest lasting (Orsmond & Seltzer, 2009).

Inter-sibling jealousy brought about by the increased amount of time that parents were required to spend with the child with ASD was seen as an issue. Some siblings thought that their needs were secondary to the autistic child. A source of inter-sibling aggression was property damage or disruption to the non-autistic sibling's activities (Ross & Cuskelly, 2006; Gupta & Singhal, 2005; Williams, Wright & Young, 2004).

In situations where the autistic sibling had significant behaviour problems the inter-sibling relationship was more distant and could be jeopardised (Seltzer, Greenberg & Orsmond, 2007). An additional impact that could affect the whole family was the viability of family holidays brought about by restrictions the child's ASD placed on possible holiday destinations or accommodation (Howlin, 1998). Psychological problems are another consideration that has attracted researchers' attention.

In some situations siblings of an autistic child were seen to have a greater tendency to experience psychological problems such as depression than in a family where there was no disabled member (Hastings, 2003). While in other situations feelings of loneliness and problems with peers were among factors that could lead to a depressive episode (Gupta & Singhal, 2005). In families where there was marital stress there was an increased tendency for sibling maladjustment to occur. However, in instances when parents sought some form of formal support such as counselling impacts were lessened (Rivers & Stoneman, 2003). Not all sibling impacts were negative.

Inter-sibling relationships could be enhanced, when the special interest most people with ASD have could be used for mutual benefit, an example being a pair of brothers who had an interest in chess. The younger brother with ASD always accompanied the older brother to chess matches that the older brother was in because his analytical abilities were a useful tool. A trade off of skills could be used for mutual benefit an example was where an older sister received maths coaching from her autistic brother in exchange for her assistance to overcome the brother's dog phobia (Howlin, 1998). The 1988 movie 'Rain Man' provided a more enterprising use for special interest skills, Raymond's maths ability was used in a Las Vegas casino to count cards in a game of blackjack (Internet Movie Database, 2009). The special interest could also be used as a means of enhancing relationships.

Relationships could be further enhanced by the special interest area especially when the interest was shared (Winter-Messiers, 2007). The special interest could also be used as a means of improving relationships for non autistic family members as well as providing an incentive for the child with ASD to improve their social skills (Boyd, Conroy, Mancil, Nakao, & Alter, 2006). Siblings obtained a higher degree of social competence when they received a high level of social support from family, friends and teachers. Where a child came from a large family,

adjustment was further enhanced (Kaminsky & Dewey, 2002). There is also the possibility that support from outside the family might be necessary.

### 4.2.1 Peer support groups

The contribution peer support groups have made to family functioning has been recognised. Peer support group membership had a tendency to result in a decreased risk of parents experiencing psychological difficulties or loneliness. Information gathering was another function of the support groups (Kaminsky & Dewey, 2002). Stress levels were also lowered by support group membership (Pilowsky et al., 2004). Peer support groups were shown to improve the family's relationship with the outside world and brought an improved sense of control. A reduction of the amount of guilt and an increase in the level of empowerment were other aspects noted (Solomon, Pistrang & Barker, 2001).

# 4.3 Financial impacts

The financial impact of ASD can be felt at numerous levels; they may be in the form of an impact upon the immediate family or, felt more widely throughout the community. The diagnostic process proved to be an expensive undertaking when a lack of consensus existed between clinicians regarding how an ASD diagnosis should be reached. A lack of diagnostic capacity of some service providers was seen as a contributor to a family's expenses (Shattuck & Grosse, 2007). As we have seen in Chapter 2, diagnosis inconsistencies occur in New Zealand too. The hidden costs while caring for someone with ASD have been the subject of some studies.

A major 'hidden cost' is the amount of time that is required to care for someone with an ASD, in some families the amount of time was estimated to be in the region of 60 hours a week or the equivalent of a fulltime job (Jarbrink, Fombonne & Knapp, 2003). Using the current New Zealand minimum adult wage of \$13.50 per hour (Department of Labour, 2012) as an example, the effective cost of the unpaid care-giving to the family would be \$810 per week. Some research has been undertaken that extended the costs involved of caring for someone with ASD over the life course.

A European Union study estimated that the lifetime cost of someone with ASD and an additional learning disability to be NZ\$7,280,361 (European Commission, 2005) Assuming that

the average life expectancy of an individual in Western nations is 80 years (WHO, 2008), annual support costs would be in the region of NZ\$91,000 per year. The discussion thus far has taken a more global view. It is now timely to examine some of the costs that an individual family may face to cater for a child with ASD.

The list of needs could be varied which could include adaptations to the house to cater for behavioural issues or other expenses to overcome sensory issues. Some costs could include:

- Special equipment for the child
- Help with housework
- Adaptations to the home
- An actual change of living location
- Special food to cater for dietary needs
- Special bedding to cater for sensitivities to texture
- Replacement or repairs to the home or furniture (Loynes, 2001 p.10)

Expanding on the food sensitivity issue mentioned above; Loynes (2001) knew of a clinic that charged between \$800 and \$1000 for allergy tests to be done. Additional impacts could occur such as the provision of soundproofing or lighting when it was required to cater for sensitivities to noise or light (Rogers & Ozonoff, 2005). Allergies could also be a consideration. An example being a boy's allergy to dust that necessitated the installation of special air filters (Glucina, 2008). In some situations, a change of residential location may be necessary that could incur additional costs.

A change of residential location could be necessary either to cater for a noise sensitivity or to a location that provided more security (such as moving off a main road) in a case where a child was prone to wander, or a house that provided more space (Glucina, 2008; Hare, Pratt, Burton, Bromley & Emerson, 2004; Loynes, 2001).

Costs of medical care additional to that which was publicly funded could impact on family budgets. In addition to the diagnostic costs outlined previously, there could be wider healthcare costs. Additional medical costs that were not funded elsewhere are common among children with ASD. In families with a limited income, difficulty accessing appropriate services could occur (Kogan et al., 2008). Some families had faced bankruptcy through the necessity to

provide out-of-pocket medical or special education interventions (Sharp & Baker, 2007). Financial issues aside, some families adopt various forms of coping strategies to minimise impacts. Numerous studies have been undertaken that examined how families coped. Some of that research will now be examined.

## 4.4 Coping strategies

Families may utilise more than one type of coping strategy. Some may use social service agencies while others may use informal avenues such as support groups. Local examples of support groups would be the <sup>7</sup>Canterbury branch of Autism New Zealand and Autlink.

The steps a family took while adjusting to a diagnosis of ASD could be regarded as a coping strategy in its own right (Glass, 2001). Coping strategies may be used for a variety of purposes, for some families, they may be used to improve family functioning while in others, to reduce stress levels. Coping strategy development played a role in regulating parental stress levels (Gupta & Singhal, 2005). Human service workers that were skilled in providing interventions for families would be in a position to provide significant inputs. Meditation has been seen as an alternative method of reducing levels of stress (Roginsky, 2008). It should be noted that the type of strategy adopted would depend on the context of the situation at the time (Hastings, Kovshoff, Brown, Eespinosa, & Remington, 2005; Gray, 1994). Flexibility was seen as a key ingredient regardless of what strategy was chosen (Gray, 1994). Family composition has been also been the subject of research in relation to ASD.

## 4.4.1 Family composition

Family composition has been studied to see if this caused a variation in a family's coping ability. Family composition and the effect this had on a family's ability to adapt was viewed as a useful tool that assisted with adaptability and cohesion when compensating for the needs of a child with ASD. In families where there was a lack of cohesion, it was found that there was an impaired ability to cope with the demands of individual family members (Orsmond, Lin & Seltzer, 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A description of the services these organisations provide can be found in Chapter 9

#### **4.4.1.1** Avoidance

One could assume that when coping strategies were in place, a family would be in a more favourable position to function and that a reduction in the amount of stress would be achieved. The forgoing assumes that any problems that developed were dealt with. In some situations, families have chosen to avoid the problem rather than confront the issues. Impacts cased by avoidance have attracted some research attention. Families that utilised avoidance as an escape strategy reported more negative impacts and a decreased ability to cope with a changing environment (Hastings et al, 2005). A useful source of information could be obtained by networking either formally or informally.

#### 4.4.1.2 Networking

The support groups attached to a number of local branches of Autism New Zealand can be seen as an example of an informal network. Networking is a valuable resource whether a network is a formal entity made up of service workers that worked with the family or an informal group of people that had similar backgrounds (Folgheraiter, 2007). Membership of parent support groups is a means of swapping different coping ideas or as a means of gaining information surrounding access to different social service support schemes (Luther, Canham & Cureton, 2005). New ideas that stemmed from membership of a parent's support group may also offer some assistance to families. Arguably, networking is a useful tool if a family is looking for other ideas to improve the manner in which the family functions.

A conclusion that can be obtained is that adaptability has been shown as a means of improving the level of family functionality. In situations where a family has been able to adapt to their changing circumstances, a higher level of functioning and a lowering of stress levels had been reported. Networking has been shown to be a useful tool for families to learn from others about other coping mechanisms. The research reviewed has shown that where families had been proactive in their approach to ASD, overall functioning had improved. How families have coped over time has also been of research interest.

### 4.4.2 Coping strategies over time

While much 'real time' research exists that examines how families cope in the present, there is little that has shown how families have coped over time. Gray (2006) addressed this knowledge lack. A study was undertaken that involved 26 families who resided in the Brisbane region of

Australia between 1988 and 1990. A follow-up study occurred between eight and ten years later that involved the same subjects. All the families contained a member or members with ASD whose ages ranged from four to 19 years. In the initial study, all but two lived at home while the remainder resided in residential placements. A follow-up study that occurred between eight and ten years later involved the same subjects.

In the follow-up study, coping strategies had changed together with parents' reliance on and use of formal support services. Parents' attitudes towards the support offered changed. A contributing cause of the reduction of service use was the service provider's gradual change of focus from children with autism to enrolling more children with Asperger's syndrome. The amount of reliance placed on informal support received from the extended family had also decreased. In situations where the child's public behaviour had improved, a family's social life had improved correspondingly and this had resulted in a lessening of social isolation. One coping strategy that remained constant was the parents' religious beliefs and for some, this had become their main source of coping after coming to terms with the permanency of ASD (Gray, 2006).

An eight year longitudinal study by Scorgie and Wilgosh, (2008) recorded similar findings. Rather than leaving support groups, members of the sample group remained active members. The purpose of the membership had changed from learning from the group, to teaching parents of newly diagnosed children. Similar to Gray, (1996), the amount of support received from the extended family also reduced mainly due to the death of family members. Marital relations had suffered and in some families the marriage had ended in divorce. Siblings had begun to play a larger support role and in some cases, arrangements had been made for adult siblings to become the future primary guardian.

These studies have shown that coping strategies evolved over time: using support groups as a means of gathering information after the diagnosis had been received was a strategy parents found useful. As families adapted to their new situations, the experience gained enabled families to cope with a reduced amount of support from outside. Membership of support groups either declined or the parents' role changed from that of learner to that of teacher. In some families older siblings took on care-giving roles and in some cases arrangements had been made for them to become testamentary guardians.

# 4.5 The 'empty nest'

In some situations ASD symptoms abated with age, given suitable support, the possibility of a person with ASD living independently could be enhanced (Seltzer, Krauss, Orsmond & Vestal, 2001). Benefits resulting from the child with ASD living apart from the family can be two-fold, the child could learn new skills and capabilities and for the parents, relationships with other family members improved, in some cases marital relationships had also improved (Krauss, Seltzer & Jacobson, 2004). Determining the ideal form of accommodation has been of research interest.

As part of a submission to the Australian Government, Carers New South Wales reported a study into accommodation needs it undertook. It was found that outcomes for people with developmental disabilities could be enhanced if the accommodation provided was of a small scale rather than large scale as provided in an institutional setting (Carers NSW, 2005). In another accommodation study, provision of suitably qualified staff was seen as an issue together with the provision of sufficient activity programmes (Krauss, Seltzer & Jacobson, 2004). Small scale accommodation could be in the form of the group homes that are similar to those that are operated by various New Zealand NGOs.

In families where the son or daughter with ASD had left home, a period of readjustment occurred. Morrell writing in Morrell and Palmer (2006) gave an account of her experiences. She thought that planned obsolescence was part of the job of parenthood and that this had become obvious after her two <sup>8</sup> neurotypical sons left for college. She was not prepared for her son with ASD to leave home. The thought had never occurred that there would ever be a 'right time' and that she was overwhelmed at the prospect of having him live some place else (Morrell & Palmer, 2006). Faced by the realisation that future care provision had to be made for his long term care, the journey through the confusing and fragmented world of adult ASD services began. As her son was interested in the outdoors, a residential farm programme was selected (Morrell & Palmer, 2006).

An impression gained from this review of research is that the possibility for some people with ASD to live independently in the community existed and that when this had occurred,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 'Neurotypical is a term adopted by some people on the Autistic Spectrum to describe people who are not on the spectrum. The term is based on ASD being a neurological disorder and it is short for 'neurologically typical' (Morris, 2004).

improvements both for the family and the child had occurred. It would also seem that this might be contingent on appropriate accommodation being available.

# 4.6 Summary

This review of family impacts has shown that the type of impact a diagnosis of ASD had on a family was as varied as the degree that ASD had on the individual. Financial impacts have been found to be a significant issue that depended upon the level of intensity of the child's needs. Obtaining an appropriate diagnosis had been found to be an issue for some where additional financial costs had been incurred that were attributed to a lack of professional clinical knowledge. Siblings were affected by an ASD diagnosis in various ways. The special interest common to persons on the Autistic Spectrum was shown to be of an asset when it could be used for mutual benefit. Families have utilised various coping strategies that have been adapted to suit the individual family's needs. Where coping strategies had been successful, families had achieved an improved level of functionality. It had also been found that needs had lessened over time. A cause that was attributed either to an improvement of a child's improved behaviour or improved emotional functioning after the family had adapted to the ASD diagnosis. The role of a parents' support group also changed with time. For some parents who were still involved, their role had changed from a receiver of information to that of a giver. Given that suitable supports were put in place, persons with ASD were able to achieve independence by living away from the family. In cases where this had happened, families had reported that it was possible to achieve a degree of 'normality' and the child with ASD was able to achieve an increased level of functioning.

# Chapter 5

### **Alternative Treatments and Fads**

For about as long as ASD has been known, theories have been postulated about causes and a diverse range of interventions have been considered as possible treatment options. A Google web search using the phrase 'autism cure' will produce just under 200,000 web links that purport a cure for autism. This information is readily available to families of children diagnosed with ASD, and contributes to the idea that the symptoms of the disorder can be eliminated.

To the parents of a recently diagnosed child wanting to find a cure, many of the cures promoted could be attractive. The language used in the websites is emotive and is designed to appeal to many. The advertisers are attempting to medicalise ASD so that a cure can be claimed. The cures come with a monetary cost. A practice in the advertising is to feature testimonies from people who have claimed the 'cure' has been effective. Some will feature the results of 'research' that has been undertaken. A closer analysis of the research will reveal the evidence has been based on subjective anecdotal data that cannot be verified (Zane, Davis, & Rosswurm, 2008; Metz, Mulick, & Butter 2005)

In the era of institutional care (which will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 5), doctors would have made decisions on treatments that reflected the understanding of the time. Electric shock treatment is an example of what was seen as a means of controlling behaviour (Hilton, 2007 this chapter). In today's environment, pressure is placed on parents when they are at their most vulnerable post diagnosis to achieve as much as they can in a shorter time as they can. Research has shown that often parents try an average of seven different treatments and because so many therapies have been tried at near the same time, it is often not possible to establish which treatment, if any, had provided any benefit (Green et al., 2006). It is also possible that today's laissez-faire government policy environment where responsibility lies with the family to choose and pay for accessed services or a lack of knowledge regarding treatment options may impact on a family's decision to utilise less helpful treatment options. The treatments offered could be best described as fads.

The term fad is mentioned by a number of authors in relation to current and historical ASD treatments. A fad is a procedure or therapy that has gained recognition through its wide use rather than being based upon the result of valid scientific research and are likely to fall from use when it has been proven that the 'treatment' did not work (Vyse, 2005). Neurodevelopmental disorders have been the target for many controversial and unsupported treatments that were linked to commercial enterprises (Metz, Mulick & Butter, 2005); an example being Doctor Wong's biomedical treatment book, that included a free 'help me' phone consultation valued at \$100 and two 'help me' coupons "to get advice exactly when I need it" for \$149.00 (http://www.newautism.com/stop-autism-now-using-secrets-of-biomedical-medicine/). The treatment offered via Doctor Wong's website is one example of the enterprises that have capitalised on an increased awareness of ASD. In a less enlightened era, other theories and possible treatment options existed.

## 5.1 Early beliefs and historical treatment and fads

As briefly mentioned earlier, the precise cause of ASD has yet to be determined (Hill & Frith, 2003), and many theories prevail as to the cause. Some of the proposed causes of ASD have been based on research and others on less than scientific methods. It is currently accepted in many quarters that ASD has a biological cause rather than a psychological origin (Marohn, 2002; Seltzer, Krauss, Orsmond & Vestal, 2001).

The uncertainty and the broad theories that have been postulated about ASD have provided fertile ground for the development of alternative approaches to treatment and promotion of the idea that there is a 'cure' for ASD. To gain an appreciation of the treatment options that are currently available some historical treatments are reviewed in the following section. It will later be argued that one thing the historical treatments and those of today have in common is their extreme nature.

## 5.1.1 'Refrigerator mothers'

In 1943 Leo Kanner was the first to postulate an explanation for autistic behaviour, after he examined the histories of eleven children who displayed tendencies that did not fit behaviour patterns that had been previously observed. He later described the behaviour as Infantile Autism and believed the cause of autism was a cold and distant relationship between the child and its

mother (Kanner, 1943). Kanner's theory was later popularised by Bruno Bettelheim in the 1950s who also theorised autism's origin rested with 'Refrigerator Mothers' or mothers who maintained an emotional isolation from the child (Silverman & Brosco, 2007; Yazbac 2003; Marohn, 2002). At this time, ASD was interpreted in classic Freudian terms as a syndrome of ego damage that resulted from unconscious parental rejection (Silverman & Brosco, 2007). Because of the implication of the mother in the cause of ASD, it was believed that the child should be removed from the parent's care and placed in an environment that provided the necessary warmth (Bettelheim, 1972). As Laidler (2004) pointed out, the 'refrigerator mothers' theory failed to take into account the fact that in the same families, there were other siblings who received the same parental treatment, who remained unaffected. Bettelheim committed suicide at the age of 86 in 1990 (Pollak, 1997). However, the impacts of his work and perspectives continued to effect families for years to come. It was later thought that autism was childhood schizophrenia because of commonalities that existed between the two.

## 5.1.2 Schizophrenia

During the 1950s and 1960s schizophrenia was a popular diagnosis and it has been suggested that the number of people given this diagnosis included children that displayed autistic-like tendencies (Wolff, 2004). The fact that schizophrenia rarely appeared until after adolescence was overlooked (Paus, Keshavan, & Giedd, 2008). Mosse (1958) was an early protagonist who disagreed with the diagnostic trend. After reviewing the histories of 60 children aged below 14 years, who were diagnosed with childhood schizophrenia, Mosse (1958) found that in practically all of the cases, the diagnosis was wrong.

Childhood Schizophrenia remained a diagnosis until the publication of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders edition three in 1980 when autism received official recognition as a diagnosis (Broadstock & Doughty, 2003). Behaviour modification then and now has been a goal to achieve an improvement of a child with ASD's functioning. The difference has been the types of treatment administered. An early method of treatment was the administration of electric shock treatment to persons with ASD.

#### **5.1.3** Electric shock treatment

Electric shock treatment has remained a controversial treatment since it was developed approximately 70 years ago (Hilton, 2007). It fell from popularity due in the main, to reactions

from human rights lobbies when it was shown that the treatment was being misused or was being administered indiscriminately. In other cases, it was used as a form of punishment (Hilton, 2007). In recent years electric shock treatment has regained popularity for a range of purposes. In two studies a reduction of self-injurious behaviour was noted when an electric shock was delivered when the child attempted to self injure themselves (Linscheid & Reichenbach, 2002; Sherman, Swinson, & Lorimer, 1984).

## 5.1.4 D-lysergic acid diethylamide

Another early treatment for autism which also proved to be controversial was D-lysergic acid diethylamide more commonly known as LSD. D-lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) like other illicit drugs had numerous uses before its use was criminalised. For example: Cocaine was a base ingredient in Coco-Cola when it was introduced in 1886, and it was seen as an alcohol free version of 'cocaine wine' which at the time was used as a tonic (Musto, 1991). Heroin (a derivative of opium) was first used as an ingredient in cough medicine in 1898 and later was used in other cough relieving medicines (Seddon, 2007). By contrast, LSD was seen to have potential as a therapeutic agent for people with psychiatric illnesses including autism.

Autism was regarded as a medical problem during the 1950s and 1960s and LSD was regarded as a form of treatment (Sigafoos, Green, Edrisinha & Lancioni, 2007). Dyck (2008) viewed LSD's arrival on the medical scene as timely because of a high level of enthusiasm for the possibility that psychiatric problems may be solved by biochemical means. Despite the possibilities of success, further research into the possible medical benefits of LSD as a treatment was stopped due to moral panic and hysteria that surrounded the use of LSD (Goode & Ben-Yehuda, 1994; Ungerleider & Andrysiak, 1981).

# 5.2 Modern treatments and 'fads'

Autism has been described as a late twentieth century fad magnet (Metz, Mulick & Butter, 2005). When parents perceive their situation as desperate; they may be open to any treatment opportunities regardless of its effectiveness or evidence either for, or against such treatment (Brereton, 2008; Calman, 2008; Stokstad, 2008; Green, 1996). Both a lack of information and irresponsible professional encouragement contributed to the parent's uptake of treatments (Maurice, 1999). Fad treatments were also viewed as being dangerous and a waste of money

(Zane, Davis & Rosswurm, 2008). Fad treatments have been described as 'The great Autism rip-off' (Calman, 2008). A number of modern day treatment fads will now be discussed.

### **5.2.1** Elimination diets

An inference that ASD had a biological cause has seen diets that eliminate certain ingredients becoming popular. Gluten and casein have been regarded as substances that impact on behaviour, and diets that eliminate these substances have become popular topics at parental autism conferences (Christison & Ivany, 2006). Research has been undertaken to see if eliminating either substance caused an improvement in behaviour but there is no evidence to support these claims (Mulloy, Lang, O'Reilly, Sigafoos, Lancioni, & Rispoli (2009).

### 5.2.2 Sensory integration therapy

The sensory difficulties experienced by some people with ASD probably led to the boom in use of sensory integration therapy (Myles et al., 2004). The therapy was based on the idea that sensory integration was a neurobiological process and children with ASD experienced a dysfunction when sensory information was not processed correctly by the brain (Pollock, 2006). Again, despite its widespread use, there is little empirical evidence to support its effectiveness (Hyatt, Stephenson, & Carter, 2009).

## 5.2.3 Dolphin-assisted therapy

Swimming with dolphins has been seen as a means of improving interaction between a child with ASD and the outside world (Wermer, 2008). Popularity grew after it was brought to the attention of the news media (Humphries, 2003), and like the other fads described in this section, proponents exist for and against the validity of dolphin therapy as a treatment. Change in a 13 year old autistic boy's behaviour was documented in one study based on the mother's reporting but, like much research into appealing and sometimes expensive fads, there are significant flaws in this and other related research that has been reported (Wermer, 2008).

### 5.2.4 Mercury and the Measles, Mumps and Rubella (MMR) Vaccine

As we have read, symptoms of ASD normally begin to appear within the first two years of life when developmental milestones have not appeared at the correct time. As vaccines are administered during this same time period, speculation developed that vaccines and an increase in the number of children diagnosed with Autism were connected (Levy & Hyman, 2005). A commonality in most vaccines is the presence of small a amount of mercury that is used as a preservative. It was the mercury content that was blamed for the increase of incidents of autism. Researcher Doctor Andrew Wakefield and others were the first to propose a connection between the Measles, Mumps and Rubella (MMR) vaccine and autism in their paper 'Ileal-lymphoid-nodular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children' that was published in the Journal 'Lancet' in 1998 (Wakefield et al., 1998).

The research was criticised for its lack of validity, a critical flaw being that the study failed to examine incidents of autism within the population that had not received the MMR vaccine (Offit, 2006; Herbert, Sharp & Gaudiano, 2002). In 2004, the majority of the paper's authors withdrew the suggestion that the MMR vaccine was connected with autism (Fitzpatrick, 2008). Publication of the paper promoted a considerable amount of discussion and further research to establish if the link existed. Five studies were undertaken with the result being that there was no connection found (Offit, 2006).

A separate study in Japan added validity to research countering Wakefield's claim. The MMR vaccine had already been withdrawn because of concerns surrounding the mumps component causing meningitis. The total number of Japanese Autism diagnoses continued to increase at a similar pace to the rest of the world (Tonge & Brereton, 2008). In the 3<sup>rd</sup> February, 2010 edition of 'The Lancet' journal the editors retracted the original article on the grounds that it had become clear that there was no causal relationship between autism and the MMR vaccine. It had also been determined that claims that the study was supported by referrals from the parents of affected children and that the necessary approvals that were obtained, for the study were false (Triggle, 2010). Wakefield has since been struck off the British medical register for bringing the medical profession into disrepute (Meikle & Boseley, 2010).

An impact from the study was that vaccination rates fell around the world and there is now the possibility that the incidence of measles, mumps and rubella within the world's population will

increase (Mooney, 2009). It is possible that the Wakefield 'study' encouraged the development of 'treatments' purported to cure autism, among them were the proponents of chelation therapy.

### **5.2.5** Chelation therapy

Proponents of chelation believe that ASD is caused by the build up of heavy metals in the body (Roberts, 2004). Chelation therapy is the chemical detoxification of the body of harmful elements such as lead, mercury or other heavy metals. No reliable evidence could be located that suggested that chelation therapy was helpful in treating autism and the treatment had led to the death of one child after the incorrect chelation agent had been administered (Mercer, 2009; Sinha, Silove & Williams, 2006).

.

#### **5.2.6** Testosterone treatment

A more recent supposition is that ASD is linked to high levels of testosterone and the advent of premature puberty. It is also believed that testosterone levels increase the toxic effect of mercury in the body. A treatment protocol was formulated which involved the use of the chemical Lupron to lower testosterone levels which in turn increased the effect of chelation therapy in lowering mercury levels. Lupron is used as part of the treatment of prostrate cancer and to chemically castrate sex offenders (Fitzpatrick, 2009; Tsouderos, 2009). Lupron has been described as a 'miracle drug' by its proponent Doctor Mark Geier who in conjunction with his son developed the 'Lupron Protocol'. The Geiers then marketed the protocol and opened a number of clinics to sell the product (Tsouderos, 2009).

According to Deer (2007), the Geiers have no experience working with people with ASD. The treatment was supported by a journal article 'The biochemical basis and treatment of Autism: Interactions between mercury, transsulfuration, and androgens' published in the September 2006 edition of the journal 'Autoimmunity Reviews'. Following complaints alleging the article's institutional review was biased (the review panel consisted of the Geiers themselves, Mark Geier's wife, business associates together with two parents whose children were being treated by Geier or who were pursuing MMR vaccine damages claims), the article was retracted by the journal (Deer, 2007). This intervention, like others, provided an opportunity for people to personally and professionally profit from the desire of desperate parents looking for a cure for their child with ASD.

### **5.2.7 Dore Programme**

Another well known but under-researched intervention programme is the Dore Programme. This programme is marketed as a drug-free alternative treatment for persons with Developmental Dyslexia, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Dyspraxia and Asperger's syndrome. The programme is based on the assumption that 'Cerebellar Developmental Delay' is the cause of the child's problems and that the problems could be overcome by a regime of exercises focussed on the development of balance and motor skills which include among others, balancing on a wobble board and throwing and catching bean bags twice a day for ten minutes. The exercises are intended to stimulate cerebellar development that in turn would lead to an improvement in reading and social skills (Bishop, 2007; Stephenson & Wheldall, 2008).

Little empirical research is available that supports the outcomes of the Dore Programme for people with ASD. The only study which reviewed the outcomes from the Dore Programme attracted criticism that alleged the study was flawed because of a lack of control groups, poor research design, incorrect analysis and interpretation of the results that were obtained (Rack, Snowling, Hulme & Gibbs, 2007; Alexander & Slinger-Constant, 2004).

These are some of many fad treatments that have been advertised as being a cure of ASD. Many ignore the fact that ASD is a developmental disorder, as many proponents of treatments attribute ASD to biological origins. Most of the examples illustrated assume that a biological intervention is the most appropriate course of action. It could be argued that the reason a biological origin for autism has been promulgated is because of a greater opportunity to capitalise on those in the community who are vulnerable.

As ASD has more recently been accepted as being a developmental disorder, it is logical that any treatment avenues should involve developmental concerns. Behavioural aspects are the principal consideration. Much work has been undertaken to establish the most appropriate methodology to improve an autistic person's level of functionality. The only treatment that has been verified by numerous studies as being effective has been Applied Behavioural Analysis. While not recognised as a fad, it would be helpful to explore this area.

### 5.2.8 Applied behaviour analysis

Various forms of behaviour modification techniques have been attempted. The electric shock treatment mentioned at the beginning of this chapter was one and it could also be said that the use of LSD was a chemical means of changing behaviour. Applied Behaviour Analysis (ABA) had its origin in the 1970s and sought to maximise behavioural treatment gains by treating the children during most of the period they were awake. It was considered the ideal age to commence the treatment was below four years of age, it was believed that under that age; a child was less likely to be influenced by environmental factors that may adversely influence any gains obtained. It was found that improvement of a child's level of functioning did occur and this was confirmed by a follow up study (Lovaas, 1987). An impact from the Lovaas study was acceptance that the earlier remedial treatment was commenced; the prospect of improvement was enhanced. The number of treatment hours per week considered to provide the maximum amount of improvement was between 30 and 40 (Eikeseth, Smith, Jahr & Eldevik, 2002).

As part of the review process of a number of therapies for inclusion in the "New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline', a systemic review of published research of the effectiveness of ABA as a treatment for people with ASD was undertaken in 2008 that examined literature published between 1998 and 2007. Only studies that were able to be validated through proven research methods were included. The report concluded that consistent evidence existed that proved that ABA was a successful tool for maximising outcomes for children with ASD (Ministries of Health & Education, 2008). It can be argued that ABA started as a fad in the 1970s, the success of ABA as a therapy can be attributed to the fact that appropriate research was undertaken and the reason for its effectiveness was that it targeted symptomatic issues such as behaviour associated with ASD rather than attempting a cure.

# 5.3 Summary

Because there is no universally accepted and understood aetiology of ASD, it is argued that no treatment for ASD actually exists. There have been many theories postulated that have proposed causes and possible treatments. Much of the research purporting successful cures has been found to be flawed where there has been inadequate use of control groups to establish the validity of the data presented or the data were analysed incorrectly.

Having reviewed the intervention options and fad treatments available to parents of a child with ASD within this chapter, the idea put forward by Metz, Mulick & Butter, (2005) that Autism is a 'late Twentieth Centaury fad magnet' seems accurate. It is also possible to advance the argument that when a diagnosis was first received, parents were in a heightened state of emotion and during this stage, would be vulnerable to any treatment that offered a cure for their child's ASD. Other points of increased vulnerability are likely to occur for the family of a person with ASD over time. From the literature reviewed, it would seem that interventions targeted at managing the symptoms of ASD could be more fruitful than those claiming to cure a disorder whose exact cause has yet to be identified.

# Chapter 6

# Autistic Spectrum Disorder as a Disability: Social Policy Issue

Families of children with ASD rely heavily on formal and informal support networks. The roles of services and community support were discussed in Chapter 3 in relation to the Albury-Thomson family case. Formal agencies provide services for people with Autism Spectrum Disorder from within their existing service framework; no one agency has responsibility for day to day service provision. This chapter will show how present disability policy in New Zealand evolved from when the first state run institutions opened in the 1920s (Bray & Gates, 2003) to the present day and how it influences the provision of services for a person with ASD.

### 6.1 From 'institutionalisation' to 'deinstitutionalisation'

Community participation is at the heart of disability policy in New Zealand, but this has not always been the case, the change in thinking can be traced back to as recently as the 1980s, when a change in social policy focus took place that ultimately led to the closure of all state-run institutions and the opening of accommodation facilities provided by community run non-governmental organisations. An impact this change in focus had on the families of those with ASD was that alternative care arrangements had to be made. Where as previously, care was provided within the state-run institutions, suitable accommodation and trained staff was not always available in the community. The death of Casey Albury-Thomson detailed in Chapter 2 was an indication of the impacts on families that occurred when suitable support was not available. To gain a better understanding, it would be helpful to explore some of the evolution of current disability policy. New Zealand's disability policy originally focussed on private or charitable care where individual families or charities had responsibility for care for the disabled. Institutional care was a follow-on that evolved in the 1920s until a change in focus to deinstitutionalisation that began in the 1980s (Grant, 2002).

## 6.1.1 Institutional care

Institutional care evolved from a perception that disabled people needed to be removed from the community because of their disruptive influence. State-run institutions were established in the 1920s. The outcome of this was that large numbers of people were congregated and segregated

from the rest of the community in establishments especially set up for the purpose, that were generally located in isolated areas (Bray & Gates, 2003). The misconceptions fuelled the stigmatisation of disability and it can be argued that with institutional names such as <sup>9</sup> 'Sunnyside' or 'Cherry Farm', the stigma could have been reinforced. It can also be argued that early administrators probably thought they were being destigmatising with their choice of names.

Misconceptions surrounding the establishment of the institutions fuelled the stigma towards people who occupied them. Descriptors that described disabled person as backward, an imbecile, cretin, idiot, mental sub normal or moron fuelled the stigma that surrounded the institutions and their occupants (Bray, 2003). Present day terminology has destigmatised a person with an intellectual disability somewhat after the term 'intellectual disability' was adopted. This description has been adopted by policy makers and service providers (Bray, 2003). The connotations of the old words became so derogatory that today they have fallen from common usage. Inappropriate labelling of a person's disability could lead to a general lack of tolerance and understanding of people with intellectual disabilities and that could lead to a corresponding lack of appropriate treatment. The early history of autism is an example.

People with autistic symptoms were classified as being mentally retarded or as being insane (National Autistic Society, 2005). For many years, people with autism were placed in institutions and the condition was regarded as untreatable (Hall 2009; Zager, 2005). From a New Zealand perspective, an Autistic person, after being classified as being 'subnormal' would probably have been placed in 'custodial care' at the Templeton Centre near Christchurch. Templeton was originally the sole institution for this purpose until Kimberly Centre at Levin was opened on 27 July, 1945. Its establishment was in response to the Federation of New Zealand Judges call for a similar institution in the 1930s to house a growing number of subnormal or mentally defective children in the North Island. Kimberley's first residents were children who had previously been housed at Templeton (Hunt, 2000). It is possible that institutional care would have continued had it not been for the political developments of the 1980s and 1990s.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Names of two historical psychiatric institutions, Sunnyside is now known as Hilmorton Hospital located in Christchurch and Cherry Farm, opened in 1952 to house residents from the former Seacliff mental hospital. It was closed down in 1992 (Findlay, 2009).

#### **6.1.2** Deinstitutionalisation

Nineteen eighty four saw the election of the Fourth Labour Government, neo-liberalists within the Labour Party advocated a change in welfare provision because it was regarded as a burden the government could not afford. It was considered the Welfare State as it was, would not be required because welfare recipients would benefit from their participation in the market place and the benefits that would have filtered through would support them (Dalziel, 1992). The government was of the view that change was necessary and the Royal Commission on Social Policy was seen as the vehicle with which to achieve that goal.

The Royal Commission on Social Policy commenced its work in 1986 (Dalziel, 1992). The government hoped that the Royal Commission's findings could be used to orchestrate the change that was necessary by recommending a retrenchment of welfare provision. Instead, the Royal Commission had the opposite view when it recommended increased government involvement in welfare provision that would have enabled welfare recipients to participate more fully in society (Liebschutz, 1999). Disability issues were also examined by the inquiry. A number of areas were seen to need attention.

Three areas that related to people with disabilities were identified by the Royal Commission, areas that it considered needed more strength were:

- Dignity and self-determination for individuals, families and communities
- Maintenance of a standard of living that was sufficient to ensure that everybody could participate and have a sense of belonging.
- Responsibility of all people to be independent and self reliant to the best of their ability and contribute to society. (Cheyne, O'Brien & Belgrave, 2000, p. 52)

The Royal Commission, the outcome of which ran to five volumes was criticised for taking too long to complete its work and for its recommendations being too diffuse and at one point the report was used as a doorstop (Barnes & Harris, 2011). No boundaries were laid down as to the extent of any welfare reform. The political and economic climate at the time meant that there was little possibility of them being implemented. It was left up to the initiative of the cabinet ministers concerned, to determine any change. The government used business leaders with known neo-liberalist views to advise it as to the course of action they should take. The advisers recommended applying commercial principles to the welfare system (Cheyne et al., 2000). The

cost of the measures proposed was an obstacle as these would have been funded via taxation. At the time, the taxation system was under pressure from an ideology that supported less personal income tax.

The restructuring of the economy from a regulated to a market-driven environment, resulted in levels of unemployment that were not seen since the Great Depression (Raeburn, 1995). The government's attitude towards the unemployed hardened as the number of unemployed increased. Their thinking was that if you were out of work it was your own fault (Raeburn, 1995). The government's attitude corresponded with the neo-liberalist belief that everyone was responsible for his or her own destiny and that if anything went wrong, it was the individual's fault and their family's responsibility to remedy (Raeburn, 1995).

The neo-liberalist view of the welfare state was that it inhibited the freedom to make choices and because it required taxation to run, the element of choice had been removed. In the eyes of some, taxation was regarded as theft (Cheyne, O'Brien & Belgrave, 2000). An impact of high unemployment was a reduction of the level of tax revenue collected which in turn put welfare provision under further pressure. It was felt that efficiencies should be made in service provision and a means of achieving increased efficiency was to change the method of service delivery by contracting service provision out to the private and voluntary sectors (Cheyne, O'Brien & Belgrave, 2000). The result was service providers bidding against each other for contracts and a down-sizing of the health sector workforce (Schofield, 2001; Cheyne, O'Brien & Belgrave, 2000). Specialist services for smaller groups of clients, such as those serving children with ASD and their families, were then bidding against larger and perhaps more popular services for funding. Closing the State-run institutions that housed the disabled was seen as a further area where economies could be made.

The 1960s saw the emergence of a change in the philosophy surrounding the institutionalisation of people with mental or intellectual disabilities. In the United States of America, this had its origin in the human and civil rights movement (Grant, 2002). During the 1970s, the deinstitutionalisation trend spread throughout the Western world and to New Zealand in the 1980s (MacKinnon & Coleborne, 2003). It was believed that a better quality of life would result for residents if they were moved into the community (Lemon, 2001). In New Zealand's case, it can be argued that the welfare of the institutionalised was not the prime motivation because by turning over service provision to the private sector, the government would at least in part, have achieved its goal to retreat from welfare provision. A commercially orientated environment saw

the formation of many Non Governmental Organisations (NGOs) that ultimately took over the provision of services that were originally provided by the state. Services were put up for tender; the objective of tendering was to obtain goods or services at the best possible price.

Some issues quickly became apparent with the process of tendering for social services. When applied to the disability sector, 'the best possible price', did not necessarily equate to adequate services because many NGOs were under-resourced to provide the services they were contracted to provide, as a consequence that they were obliged to provide additional funding from any additional resources they could muster (Cheyne, O'Brien & Belgrave, 2000). The pace of service development was not matched by the same pace at which deinstitutionalisation occurred. As a consequence, families were given responsibility to provide support when problems with service provision occurred (Wright, 1997). It is these shifts in responsibility that have led to families of children with ASD coping largely on their own, with support from a small number of under-resourced services. The reliance on family support was continued when a National Government took office in 1990.

Rather than moderate the neo-liberalist policies Labour had introduced, the incoming National Government took to them with a renewed vigour. Not being shackled by history, National had no qualms in reforming the Welfare State. Benefit rates were cut and a greater emphasis was placed on the contracting out and targeting of support services (McLennan, Ryan & Spoonley, 2000). The services that were provided were required to fall within output classes that were defined. The impact of this criterion meant that if a family's need did not fall within a defined output class, the service could not be provided (Cheyne, O'Brien & Belgrave, 2000). As defined by the Public Finance Act 1989, 'Outputs' were goods or services that were provided by a government department, crown entity, Office of Parliament or other person or body. They were introduced to enable greater accountability for government expenditure (MacDonald, 1999).

When a required service was not defined in an output class, the government placed a greater emphasis on support from within individual families, rather than finance services themselves (Cheyne, O'Brien & Belgrave, 2000). In essence, the government's attitude resembled that of the level of welfare provision offered in the 19<sup>th</sup> century when responsibility was placed upon the family to provide support for those in need.

The welfare reforms were so wide ranging that in some Sociological circles it was thought that the National Government had overseen the creation of the first post-welfare society in modern times (McLennan, Ryan & Spoonley, 2001). By the late 1990s, political philosophy began to change to a less extreme approach – and one that had potential to improve the situation for families of a child with ASD.

The election of the Fifth Labour Government in 1999 signified the end of the neo-liberalist philosophy of the previous National Government and that of the Labour Government before it. In its place, a type of 'Third Way' method of policy-making was introduced. The Third Way philosophy sees itself being positioned between the 'Old Left' and the 'New Right'. It overlooks the fact that there was no first or second way (Easton, 1998). Translated into policy-making, the 'Third Way' can be seen as a means whereby principles of both socialist and neo-liberalist ideologies can be combined and applied (Giddens, 1998). In terms of welfare provision, the status quo largely remained, where services were still provided via NGOs by means of government contracts. An advantage of using NGOs to provide services was there was more choice of service provider together with providing employment opportunities for human service workers. Whether having a range of providers of services for children with a specific diagnosis such as ASD was helpful is debatable. During this time the Labour Government announced numerous policy initiatives that were designed to benefit people with a disability generally. It is this later period that on which we will now concentrate.

## 6.2 Disability policies: The changing perception of disability

People have different ideas about what constitutes a disability. Physical or psychological disability is arguably a social construct where the concept of disability had been created to fulfil society's efforts to address the 'problems' disability caused, or as a means to provide services and entitlements. Others argue that disability is functional within a society, as careers and employment result from the need to identify and then intervene to address the problem (Spicker, 1995). However it is constructed and understood, families experiences of caring for a child with ASD cannot be separated from the social construction of disability.

### 6.2.1 Disability as a social construct

Social constructionism can explain the way in which a set of contestable social science concepts bring a problem (such as disability) into public consciousness (Press, 2005). Arguably, in societies where no support services existed, disability may be regarded as a nonentity because the social construct of disability did not exist (Snow, 2005). For example, if a government's

resources for disability support were non-existent, the 'problem' of disability would not exist because no policy existed that recognised that a problem existed. Whether a problem existed or not depended upon what was perceived as a problem. Poverty in Victorian England can be used as an example: Many people denied poverty existed until they were made aware of the consequences. Selected dignitaries were shown areas of London where poverty prevailed and the impact that poverty caused (Spicker, 1995). It can be argued then that in making the dignitaries aware that a problem existed, poverty was a socially constructed. Others see disability as a political entity rather than a social construct.

#### 6.2.2 Political model of disability

The political model of disability views the social world as one where there are irreconcilable differences that arose between those who had power and those who had not (Munford & Bennie, 2001). Conflicts between those who had power and those who had not could be resolved through changes to the dominant values of society. Under a political model disability is viewed as something people experienced rather than something they had. Disability was regarded as a consequence of living with an impairment in a disabling society that organised itself in a way that it did not take into account disabled people (Munford & Bennie, 2001). Using this analogy, it is possible to argue that under a political model, it was the disabled person's responsibility to define the issues and problems and then assert their own rights to alleviate the problem. In this environment, change would be more likely to occur if individual user groups banded together to work towards change. Grey Power is an example where extra support has been provided to the elderly by the elderly lobbying the Government for changes in policy (Office for Senior Citizens, 2003). The language used to describe disability is an aspect that can influence society's attitude towards disability.

### **6.2.3** The language of disability

Attitudes towards disability can be influenced by the terminology used to describe it. The language of disability can impact on the treatment of people with disabilities because it conveys assumptions and beliefs about disability that set a disabled person apart from society (Ballard, 1994). As mentioned earlier, Bray (2003) outlined that words such as backward, cretin, idiot, mental sub normality and moron had been removed from common usage because of the negative connotations that were associated with these words.

A person's appearance may also influence attitudes towards them, and the disability. Stereotypical conclusions evolved from the appearance of disabled individuals that assumed the person with the disability was either sad, had reduced role expectations, or had restricted opportunities (Altman, 1981). Persons with Down syndrome can be used as an example of where attitudes have changed. In 1975, educational psychologists believed children with the condition were unable to be educated in terms of ordinary classroom or special class programmes and that the only course of action available was to place them in 'occupation' centres from ages five to nineteen years of age (Ballard, 1994).

In New Zealand today, children with Down syndrome are now fully integrated into mainstream classes during their schooling and often, they achieve significant age-appropriate academic achievements (Ballard, 1994). Ballard's point was that Down syndrome had not changed; it was the ideas about the disability and the belief that all people had the potential to succeed that had changed. An example of where success has occurred has been case of a student with Down syndrome who became the first with the condition to pass a National Certificate of Educational Achievement level one examination (Ballard, 1994). Current government policy reflects this style of thinking, and this has been influenced by input from consumer organisations that have been established to advocate for the needs of disabled people.

The purpose of many disability consumer organisations is to advocate for the needs of the disabled community. An example is the Disabled People's Assembly, which had its recommendations included in <sup>10</sup> To Have an 'Ordinary' Life' and the 'New Zealand Disability Strategy' (New Zealand Disabled Persons Assembly, 2004). The formation of the disability rights organisations can be traced to the 1980s and the United Nations Declaration of the Rights of Disabled Persons in 1975 to which New Zealand is a signatory (Campbell & Oliver, 1996). The declaration obligated member countries to acknowledge that disabled people had the same rights as the non disabled. In New Zealand, rights for disabled are included in the Human Rights Act 1993 that is overseen by the Human Rights Commission (HRC) which in recent times, had seen an increase in disability rights abuse complaints (HRC, 2004). The establishment of disability rights organisations and the involvement of the HRC have enabled a significant level of empowerment that has challenged the dominant social perceptions of disability (HRC, 2004). As a result of the Human Rights Act 1993, the disabled community

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A report prepared by the National Health Committee for the Ministers of Health and Disability Issues on ways that adults with an intellectual disability could become participating members of in society. The report examined barriers that existed and ways that these barriers could be overcome.

have a tool with which to advocate for inclusion in society and to gain improved access to services that are required, or for the implementation of services that were identified as being needed. The IHC complaint to the HRC that will be mentioned in Chapter 7 is an example of where the Human Rights Act 1993 has been used to advocate for services.

## 6.3 The era of community membership

'The Era of Community Membership' (NHC, 2003) summarised the ideology of inclusiveness for disabled people. It took over from where deinstitutionalisation had left off. Now that all the psychopaedic institutions had been closed, <sup>11</sup>(the Kimberley Centre in Levin was the last) (Ministry of Health, 2006), services have been in a state of development that are intended to enable former residents of those institutions and other disabled people to take a fuller part in society. Three documents that have appeared during the past nine years will now be reviewed. The 'New Zealand Disability Strategy' released in 2001, 'To Have an 'Ordinary' Life' released in 2003 and the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' released in 2008. These documents provide an insight into the direction disability policy in New Zealand is expected to take in the coming years. People with ASD are included within general disability policy which is supported by the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline'. The 'New Zealand Disability Strategy' was the first policy document outlining a policy direction for the provision of disability services in New Zealand.

Under the terms of the New Zealand Health and Disability Act 2000, The 'New Zealand Disability Strategy' ('NZDS') was created to develop a framework for future disability policy. The 'NZDS' was developed with extensive input from the disability sector. During the consultation period; the strategy attracted 700 submissions and received feedback from 68 meetings that were held around the country. The aim of the 'NZDS' was to guide government action that would promote a more inclusive society and provide an enduring framework which would ensure that all government departments and government agencies considered disabled people before making decisions.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The Kimberly Centre in Levin was the last of the psychopaedic institutions to be closed which brought to an end of the deinstitutionalisation process that was started following the election of the Fourth Labour Government in 1984.

Some of the values that underpin the 'NZDS' are:

- Disabled people have a meaningful relationship with Government, communities, based on respect and equality
- A move from exclusion, tolerance and accommodation to a fully inclusive society.
- Value of the abilities of disabled people
- Human rights practiced as a fundamental cornerstone of government policy and practice (Ministry of Health, 2003, p. 3)

In addition, the strategy developed 15 objectives that would enable people with a disability to function in society to their fullest potential. Most of the objectives listed in the strategy could be related to people with an ASD. Of the 15 objectives the Government has made, four would apply more closely than the others. These are:

- Objective six which concerns fostering an aware and responsive public service.
- Objective seven which details the creation of long-term support systems that were centred on the individual that would create a quality assessment and service delivery system.
- Objective thirteen, aimed at enabling disabled children and youth to enjoy full and active lives and to ensure that the services provided to children and young people are appropriate and welcoming.
- Objective fifteen which recognises the value of families and to provide ongoing support (Ministry of Health, 2001, p. 20)

It should be noted the 'NZDS' is a policy framework document and that its purpose is to ensure the development of specific policy that is designed to address a particular issue. An example here could be the Early Bird project, a programme that was developed to provide an early intervention strategy for young people with, and families of, people with an ASD. The project is funded by the Ministry of Education and operated by Autism New Zealand (Birkin, Anderson, Moore, & Seymore, 2006). Over all, there has been acceptance of the 'NZDS' as being a broad framework that enabled the development of future disability policy and programmes. Saucier (2002) argued that if the 'NZDS' was to transform New Zealand into a fully inclusive society, the strategy's concepts required further discussion followed by concrete policy implementation and programme changes.

Areas identified where progress had to be made if the 'NZDS' ideals were to be realised:

- Promoting independence: Currently, resource constraints mean that many disability services can only maintain people at their current status, as opposed to actively promoting independence.
- Improving effectiveness of services; an evaluation framework is required that should identify weaknesses in service provision and eliminate them.
- Simplification of access to comprehensive services. People with comprehensive needs require separate eligibility assessments that would allow easier access to services. (Saucier, 2002, p.6)

In a 2004 report prepared by the Disabled Persons Assembly of New Zealand (DPANZ) in conjunction with the New Zealand Crippled Children's Society (NZCCS), similar findings were made. The report supported the 'NZDS' (which was originally suggested by the DPANZ), but a call was made for government departments, local councils and district health boards to work in partnership with disabled people and their families to formulate and enact policy that would enable disabled people to be integrated fully into society in a way the 'NZDS' intended (Disabled Persons Assembly of New Zealand, 2004). Concern had been expressed that changes that were proposed by the 'NZDS' were slow to occur.

The apparent slow pace of change has been an issue. According to the Office for Disability Issues (ODI) it was very difficult to demonstrate where changes had been made because it often took years for changes to show up in statistics and that when change did occur, it was often not possible to show a definite connection between particular activities and outcomes because they were hidden within over-all activity (Ministry of Health, 2004). The same argument can be made surrounding funding provision for services when it is impossible to measure precise outcomes when they are hidden.

A solution to the problems the ODI had experienced with collecting information surrounding improvement to disability services could be to survey the disabled community. Provided the survey was targeted at an appropriate group for example, service users, it would be possible to obtain an accurate indication of the policy's effectiveness. Of equal significance to the 'NZDS' is the National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability's (NACHD) report 'To Have an 'Ordinary' Life' and the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Guideline'. These publications will now be discussed.

Published in 2003, 'To Have an 'Ordinary' Life' provided a comprehensive indication of what it was like to live in New Zealand with an intellectual disability. It gave details about the type of support that was necessary for the intellectually disabled to lead 'ordinary' lives. The document set out to identify areas where improvements could be made. In the process of their investigation, the committee discovered certain areas that were cause for concern:

- **Disturbing**: Life defining services systemic neglect of the development potential of the intellectually disabled or families, improper and inadequate health care provision. A low understanding among people in authority of the impact their decisions or actions or decisions on the lives of people with an intellectual disability.
- **Worrying:** High poverty levels, low education levels, a lack of communication support that gave little opportunity to form sustaining personal relationships and a lack of culturally appropriate services.
- Encouraging: Individual examples of positively supported lives and an emerging body of knowledge about what was possible and a developing self-advocacy movement who would be able to strengthen the voice of disabled people.

  (National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability, 2003, p. 8)

Like the 'NZDS', 'To Have an 'Ordinary' Life' illustrated with more clarity what was needed so that people with an intellectual disability could take a full part in society. Three areas were identified:

- Refocus needs assessments, service co-ordination services and service purchasing so that they cater for a person's individual circumstances.
- Move away from the custodial ownership of service delivery such as the service provider owning the group home the individual lives in to allowing a disabled person to live in a home of their choice with appropriate support and allowing the control of personal income.
- Addressing the neglect of basic health needs. It was discovered that some adults with an intellectual disability endured prolonged suffering from treatable health conditions but were the recipients of inadequate medical management.
   (National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability, 2003, p9)

Some of the problems identified by the NACHD were the result of old-style institutional thinking that regarded intellectually disabled people as being incapable of achieving in society as was stated in (Ballard, 1994).

When the 'NZDS' was released, the NACHD was still establishing the scope of the 'To Have an 'Ordinary' Life' project. It was decided that the two projects should complement each other and to do so, 'To Have an 'Ordinary' Life' was based on the 15 'NZDS' Objectives. To give more relevance to their project, it was decided to group the 15 Objectives into four categories:

- Rights for citizenship
- Government capacity and development of support
- Delivery of support
- Issues faced by population groups (National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability, 2003, p15)

The emphasis of 'To Have an Ordinary' Life' was on participation and one of the most relevant parts of the document were the recommendations about what must be done to achieve conclusiveness.

The needs assessment area was an area where the NACHD suggested changes; the current practice involves an emphasis on a client's short term goals. The NACHD considered an emphasis on long term goals was more appropriate. Financial provision currently exists for this to be achieved, the Ministry of Health introduced a system where funding could be allocated on an individual basis that was based upon the level of a disabled person's need rather than following a predetermined funding formula that was designed to cater for all (Ministry of Health, 2003). An advantage for the disabled person would be that it would be possible to obtain services that specially catered for the person's need and would give the opportunity for a disabled person to employ staff of their own to support them. This step would empower them so that they would be able to take charge for themselves, rather than have an agency make decisions for them.

## 6.4 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Guideline'

As noted in Chapter 2 the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Guideline' represented a world first in service provision for people with ASD. The guideline is intended to advise health professionals by covering the steps required to arrive at an ASD diagnosis, how to provide support services to people with ASD and their families, details of educational supports that may be required, and management of the behavioural and emotional difficulties encountered by people with an ASD. Support needs of people transitioning from childhood to adulthood are covered, together with the steps that should be taken if someone with ASD came into contact

with the criminal justice system. Needs of Maori and Pacific peoples were also included. One of the more significant guidelines was the requirement for professional learning and development for individuals and groups who came into contact with people with ASD. It should be noted that the guideline is being treated as a 'living document' because it will be constantly updated (Ministries of Health & Education, 2008).

As has been seen, the intention of the guideline was to advise existing organisations and service providers on how best to provide services to people with ASD and their families. Bearing that in mind, it can be argued that an organisation to implement the services the guideline recommended should be established in the same way as services are provided to people with intellectual or physical disabilities. A counter argument is that a duplication of services would result, because many of the organisations that are providing services from within their existing range of services already have staff that are skilled in working with people with ASD, and that a separate organisation would duplicate current services and the financial expenditure to run them.

# 6.5 Policy-Making 'Top-down and Bottom-up'

All of the discussion, thus far, has related to policy currently in use, at this point, it would be helpful to gain an understanding how this policy came into being and the methods used in its creation. There are basically two types of policy processes 'top-down' and 'bottom-up' (Sabatier, 1986); these two types will now be discussed.

Top-down policy-making is policy that has been developed by someone in authority and it would be expected that it would be adopted by consumers. Another way of describing top down policy is 'one size fits all' or policy that was expected to work in the majority of situations (Maaka, & Fleras, 2009). A result of top down policy-making is a gap between services that were provided and actual needs (Devereux & Cook, 2000). These comments can be translated into service provision for those with ASD. People with Asperger's syndrome have been excluded from eligibility to <sup>12</sup>Ongoing Reviewable Resourcing Scheme (ORRS) funding because the funding does not cover people with behavioural or emotional disabilities (Bartleet, 2009). The adverse effects of top-down policy making was highlighted by the case of a child with Asperger's syndrome who had missed out on almost four years of schooling because a

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Now replaced by the Ongoing Resourcing Scheme

funding gap prevented access to teacher aide funding because ORRS funding was not available (Collins, 2005).

The ORRS scheme was introduced by the previous National Government and targeted only those who were assessed as having 'high needs'. Despite behavioural problems that in the past that resulted in suspension, the child was assessed as not being of a high enough need. A consequence was that the school was left to provide teacher aide funding out of its own budget which was something the school was unable or unwilling to do (Collins, 2005). A bottom-up approach on the other hand, would draw attention to the areas where support was required and policy could be formulated to address the need.

Bottom-up policy-making involves a consultation process where policy is designed in response to a particular need. Bottom-up policy-making as largely based on a reaction to weaknesses found in top-down policy. A bottom-up method would ensure that policy would reflect actual needs because it would be based on an actual situation which would give the policy an improved chance of achieving what it was designed to do (Brynard, 2003).

Some of the provisions outlined in the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Guideline' have been the result of bottom-up policy making because of the input from various interest groups involved in the guideline's formulation (Ministries of Health & Education, 2008). Because of the specialist nature of supporting people with an ASD, it can be argued that most of the changes that occurred in ASD service provision have been the result of service weaknesses found in the community.

## 6.6 Summary

Attitudes towards disability and service provision have undergone change since the state-run institutions were established in the 1920s. A cause of the change in attitude was the realisation that disabled people, when given sufficient supports, were able to play a part in society to a level similar to their able-bodied counterparts. The closure of the state-run institutions in the 1980s and 1990s was a further indication of the acceptance of people with disabilities a place in society. The policies that have been laid down in the 'NZDS' and 'To Have an 'Ordinary' Life' and the guidelines contained in the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Guideline' have formed the basis for future growth in disability service provision.

## Chapter 7

### **Special Education Services**

In common with people with other disabilities, people with ASD have a number of special education services available to them. 'Special Education 2000' is a policy document that sets out New Zealand's special education policy (Ministry of Education, 2003). To place today's education policy in context; a look at the history of the provision of education in New Zealand would be helpful.

### 7.1 Disability and education in New Zealand

New Zealand introduced a compulsory state education system for children between the ages of five and 14 in 1877 (Chapman, 1992). Students with special education needs were excluded as it was expected that churches and voluntary organisations would provide education services for this group. Government education policy was in line with its general attitude towards disability. Policy makers saw disability and ill-health for that matter as a threat against the image of New Zealand being an ideal society that was characterised by 'pioneering vigour' (Moore & Tennant, 1997). Translating this into an example relevant today is the government's promotion of a 'clean green image' of the environment to attract overseas investment. A more complete discussion on social policy was discussed in Chapter 6. The deaf were the first section of the disability community to receive benefit from the introduction of compulsory state education.

The 'School for Deaf-Mutes' was established in Sumner in 1880 which was funded and run by the Department of Education. In 1890 the School for the Blind was established in Auckland funded by charitably inclined Aucklanders (Moore & Tennant, 1997). It was not until 1917 that the state provided classes to less successful learners, provision for which was made in the 1907 Education Amendment Act with the requirement to educate 'defective and epileptic children' (Greaves, 2003; Moore & Tennant, 1997).

Students with sensory or physical disabilities were educated in separate establishments which were often administered by hospitals. An example was the Templeton Centre in Christchurch which ran classes for children with intellectual disabilities (Lemon, 2001). This segregated system continued until the late 1960s and early 1970s when government policy was influenced by a worldwide trend that demanded disadvantaged groups achieved equity with their more

advantaged counterparts. As a result of this change, the special education classes that were run by the hospitals were closed and satellite classes attached to regular schools were opened (Greaves, 2003).

Today's special education policy had its beginning in 2000 with the introduction of 'Special Education 2000' (Ministry of Education, 2008). It was intended to enhance resources that were available to children with special education needs. Emphasis was placed upon the Education Act 1989 which allowed for all students regardless of disability to be given the same rights to enrol and to receive the same education as non-disabled children at a school of their choice. Provision is also made in the 'New Zealand Disability Strategy', through the strategy's aim to remove all barriers to participation in society (Ministry of Education, 2007). 'Special Education 2000' contains guidelines for the provision of special education services that are available to all students regardless of the type of disability. The Ministry of Education has seven special education principles:

- 1. Learners with special education needs have the same rights, freedoms and responsibilities as people of the same age who do not have special education needs
- 2. The primary focus of special education is to meet the individual learning and developmental needs of the learner.
- 3. All learners with identified special education needs have access to a fair share of the available special education resources.
- 4. Partnership between parents and education providers is essential in overcoming barriers to learning.
- 5. All special education resources are used in the most effective and efficient way possible, taking into account parent choice and the needs of the learner.
- 6. A learner's language and culture comprise a vital context for learning and development and must be taken into consideration in planning programmes.
- 7. Learners with special education needs will have access to a seamless education from the time that their needs are identified through to post-school options.

(Ministry of Education, 2008, p. 19)

The principles set out the objective of specialist education policy. According to the Ministry of Education, the aim of the policy is to achieve a world class education system that provides equal opportunities for all students.

The key objectives of 'Special Education 2000' are:

- 1. Improve educational opportunities and outcomes for children with special education needs in the early childhood and school sectors
- 2. Ensure there is a clear, consistent and predictable resourcing framework for special education
- 3. Provide equitable resourcing for those with similar needs irrespective of school setting or geographic location
- 4. Assist in enabling schools to take ownership in meeting the full range of student's needs.

(Ministry of Education, 2010, p. 1)

### 7.1.1 Support methods

The Ministry of Education provides various types of educational support that are designed to enhance a child's learning potential. It is at this stage that an Individual Education Programme (IEP) is developed.

#### 7.1.1.1 Individual Education Programme

Support needs are determined by the formulation of an <sup>13</sup>Individual Education Programme (IEP) (Ministry of Education, 1999). The goal of the IEP is to help teachers and specialists to deliver an effective education programme that is tailored to the student's unique needs and to provide extra assistance for learning or the adaptation of existing teaching programmes or learning environments. An additional use is to establish what specialised equipment or materials would be needed to support students in a regular or special education setting (Ministry of Education, 1999). The IEP is also used to access the <sup>14</sup>Ongoing Resourcing Scheme (ORS), receiving support via the Ministry of Education's Behaviour Initiative which includes support from the <sup>15</sup>Resource Teacher Learning and Behaviour (RTLB). The RTLB teacher is likely to be involved with children on the Autistic Spectrum. The IEP is regarded as a 'living document' which is valid for only a certain period of time and is usually reviewed once a term or when needs change (Ministry of Education, 1999).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The Individual Education Programme (IEP) is a method of identifying a child's individual needs, the IEP updated on a regular basis throughout a child's schooling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Ongoing Resourcing Scheme (ORS) is a system of support given to children that have been identified as having either long or short term needs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Resource Teacher Learning and Behaviour (RTLB) are visiting teachers who have responsibility for children in a number of schools.

## 7.2 Background to 'Special Education 2000'

The introduction of 'Special Education 2000' was a significant change in service provision; in some areas, the changes were not welcomed. Various lobby groups were formed that opposed the new policy and the circumstances that surrounded its introduction.

The special needs units that existed until 'Special Education 2000' was introduced were closed by the then Minister of Education Wyatt Creech. It was claimed that under the new system, special needs students would be disadvantaged rather than have their educational opportunities improved. A group of parents laid proceedings in the High Court to challenge the validity the closures in 1999 (Varnham, 2002). The judge ruled that the then minister had no right to close the services if no alternative scheme was provided (Laxon, 2002). The High Court decision was appealed and the original ruling was overruled on the grounds that special needs students had the right to an education system and not a type of education that was tailored to their needs (Russo, 2011).

Following the election of the Labour Government in 1999, 'Special Education 2000' was reviewed. Doctor Catherine Wylie was commissioned to carry out the review. Her report published in July 2000 determined that 'Special Education 2000's' goals to improve educational outcomes and opportunities were unclear. The following section deals with Wylie's findings.

Wylie (2000) found that while some special education students had improved opportunities for education, others had actually lost opportunities. Wylie (2000) also found that confusion surrounded eligibility criteria which had led to some students missing out on funding. Wylie also determined that because schools had more autonomy in New Zealand than in other countries, they had the ability to restrict entry of special needs students, or were able to avoid their responsibility to enrol them. Wylie (2000) discovered that some schools achieved this result overtly and sometimes by covert methods. Wylie also discovered that as schools competed for academic reputation, the entry of special needs students was restricted to preserve their reputation. Additionally, a lack of knowledge and understanding of 'Special Education 2000' policies was identified (Wylie, 2000). The report's findings were at variance to the conditions set out in the Education Act 1989. The Act required schools to enrol students

regardless of disability with support for students provided by the Special Education Services (Prochnow & Maw, 2003).

The Education Act 1989 allows parents to enrol their child at a school of their choice. In some cases, this does not occur and this has been attributed to a lack of resources, an example being a 15 year old boy who had missed out on schooling for four years because of an apparent funding gap (Collins, 2005). Funding teacher aide time to support students has been an issue.

Being able to provide sufficient teacher aide time has been a problem in some schools. The parents of a 12 year autistic boy had to pay the school \$2,000 per term because sufficient teacher aid resources were not available (Mandow, 2005). At another school, special needs students were sent home at lunch time or were told not to attend at all the following day (Tara, 2007).

Special units have been established with the intention of enabling students with behavioural issues to remain in the education environment. An example is the Ka Mahuri Unit located at Northcote Primary School in Christchurch. The unit's future was under threat because of funding short falls. Throughout its two year existence, the unit had encountered funding shortages due to the fact that the Special Education Grant allocated to the unit was sufficient to pay for teaching staff, but not to actually run the unit (Hann, 2008). A similar situation occurred at Riwaka School, Nelson. The school considered taking legal action against the Ministry of Education over what it considered the under-funding of special education services by the Ministry. The school claimed that it was required to pay teacher aide salaries out of its main operating budget (Reich, 2007). During his retirement speech Renwick School's principal Ian Mackey, described special education as the biggest mess schools had to face because of the way the special education system had been set up. He argued that it was destined to fail all parties because of gross under funding (Johnston, 2007). Resourcing is a problem in some schools, and in an effort to address the imbalances that have occurred lobby groups have been formed to address these issues.

The Inclusive Education Action Group is an organisation established to lobby for the provision of special education services to be provided at all schools. At the organisation's launch in August, 2007, a spokesperson for the group indicated that a spectrum of barriers existed that ranged from a less than welcoming attitude during initial parent interviews to an outright refusal to enrol a child. The spokesperson indicated a reason was that staff at the school did not have

the necessary skills to cope with the child's disability, while in others parents were asked to contribute financially to the child's teacher aide hours (Grant, 2007).

The type of disability had no bearing on the difficulties parents encountered. <sup>16</sup>The New Zealand Society for the Intellectually Handicapped (IHC) prepared a complaint to the Human Rights Commission against practices that exclude disabled children from attending their local school. The action is being taken under Part 1A of the Human Rights Act 1993, Section 19 which provides for freedom from discrimination (IHC, 2008). Following a decision that disability support is the responsibility of individual schools, IHC is now seeking the Human Rights Review Tribunal to hear the case (Radio New Zealand News, 2012). Lawyers for the Human Rights Commission have agreed there is sufficient cause and the case will now go before the court some four years after the complaint was laid (Nichols, 2012).

Funding shortages have had a bearing on the amount of services that some schools have been able to provide. It can be argued that it was in situations where difficulties had been encountered that public awareness was raised and, that in schools where special education services were running smoothly, nothing was heard. The following is an example where special education services are working.

### 7.2.1 'Special Education 2000' in practice

As previously noted, New Zealand adopted a special education policy in 2000; the policy met with a mixed reception. An argument that can be made is that attitudes towards special education policy can determine the success or failure of the scheme. Some schools have taken a group approach. The Howick and Pakuranga areas in Auckland are an example where 34 schools joined forces to collect data for a survey in response to the large number of students with special needs enrolled at schools in the area to establish the extent of need (King, 2008). Part of the support may include a transitional phase to help a student to pass from one level to another.

For children with ASD transitional considerations are a relevant issue. Smith, James, Heenan, Mortimer, and Selman, (2003) gave an account of how the autistic son of one of the authors

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> IHC is the name of the umbrella organisation, service provision is now provided by two separate IHC companies, IDEA Services Limited and Timata Hou Limited (IHC n.d.).

moved to a school environment was handled. Two visits were required where he was able to meet the people who would be working with him and to explain his new environment. The transitional period could also be used for teachers to assess a child's cognitive level and to familiarise themselves with any special behaviour patterns that were evident Smith et al., (2003). Elsewhere, understanding the unique needs of students with ASD is increasing.

The 'Education Gazette' of 5 November 2007, featured an article outlining the accomplishments achieved by staff of Dyer Street School in Lower Hutt after teachers had attended a 'Tips for Autism' course. The knowledge gained changed how children with ASD were treated so that they could achieve a much better fit within the school's community. A consequence of the course was a decision to modify the environment to fit the student rather than to attempt to modify the student's behaviour to fit the school's environment. A result of the change in thinking was an improvement in student behaviour (New Zealand Educational Institute, 2007).

#### 7.2.2 Mainstreaming

In common with students with other disabilities, the majority students with ASD receive their education in a mainstream environment. This is in line with overall special education policy set out in 'Special Education 2000'. As previously noted, teacher aides provide the support necessary to enable the student to participate in a mainstream environment with the objective being to provide improved learning opportunities for students (Mitchell, 2010). A further benefit of a student with ASD receiving schooling in a mainstream environment was an improvement in engagement and social interaction with others (Mitchell, 2010). While mainstreaming is an option for some, it does not mean that it is the best option for others.

A study by Godfrey, Moore & Fletcher-Flinn (2002) undertaken on behalf of the Ministry of Education examined the quality of learning of 11 children diagnosed with ASD. A comparison was made between progress attained between education obtained at a dedicated education centre for students with ASD, mainstream schooling and children that received education at home. It was found that the student's attainment was higher through teaching received at the centre, or at home. Students attending mainstream schooling attained less because of a lack of instruction, feedback or praise. It was noted that there was more difficulty in keeping the student on task. It was also noted that when the student had a teacher aide, better results were not guaranteed (Godfrey, Moore & Fletcher-Flinn, 2002). Jacobs (2011) was another that found

that an inclusive or mainstream education framework failed students with ASD because it failed to take into account the student's 'Autistic learning styles'. Sensory or behavioural issues associated with ASD were other factors that did not fit with a mainstream school environment. Opposition from the parents of typically developed children was encountered because of the disruption caused by the need to accommodate the needs of special education students (De Boer, Pijl, & Minnaert, 2010). Behavioural and sensory issues surrounding ASD provide a case for the special education units to be retained.

A seven year old autistic boy was banned from his mainstreamed school because of violence toward his teacher and teacher aide. The teacher received a broken wrist and his teacher aide a black eye (Turner, 2011). As mentioned previously sensory issues associated with ASD can be manifested as violent outbursts. This experience is in contrast to government policy that is based on the view that teaching children in an isolated environment (a separate unit) did not adequately meet the student's needs (Ministries of Health & Education, 2008). It should be remembered that no two people with ASD are the same and because of the difference, mainstreaming education would not be a viable option for everyone.

The 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' is a proponent of mainstreaming, an article which appeared in the May 2008 issue of 'New Zealand Educational Institute (NZEI) Rourou' journal supported this view with the proviso that investment be provided in the professional development of teachers and teacher aides so that the maximum benefit from the guideline could be obtained. To this end, new training opportunities will be available from 2011 in the form of a new postgraduate diploma in special education which would equip teachers with the skills required (NZEI, Rourou, 2010).

In the Canterbury region, parents were asked to provide their input into what they thought of the effectiveness of special education provision in the region.

A Group Special Education Canterbury report published in 2004 provided an indication of the state of services in the region. Data were collected via meetings with stakeholders throughout the region. The report's summary indicated that 622 students were receiving other support from <sup>17</sup>ORRS funding with 427 students receiving other types of support from the Ministry. Schools that had a disproportionate number of students with moderate special education needs were given a total of \$731,633 of enhanced funding. In addition, Special Education Canterbury

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Ongoing reviewable resourcing scheme now merged with the on going scheme

supported programmes administered on their behalf that were run by organisations such as the <sup>18</sup>Champion Centre and <sup>19</sup>CCS Disability Action (Canterbury and South Canterbury) (Ministry of Education, 2004).

Stakeholders were asked to identify the areas where they thought special education service provision was working well and to identify areas where they considered improvements were necessary. Areas identified that were working well, included communication between participating agencies, improved ORRS funding and the number of educational options that were available. Teaching skills and the quality of the specialist services being offered were other areas seen that were working well. Some areas where parents thought that some improvement was necessary included information about the support that was available and access to support services together with the level of support offered to students with moderate support needs (Ministry of Education, 2004).

## 7.3 Summary

The provision of special education is dependent upon the resources that are available to the individual school. Some inequalities existed between schools which was evidenced by Riwaka School considering taking legal action against the Ministry of Education to secure what it considered to be adequate funding. A school's attitude towards enrolling disabled students also played a part, the 'Wylie Report' disclosed instances where covert and overt methods were employed to avoid an enrolment. Group Special Education Canterbury took a proactive approach to special education provision by reaching out to the community to obtain feedback. Staff training and development played a valuable role. The Dyer Street School in Lower Hutt found that they were able to integrate students with ASD into the school community more effectively after staff had attended a 'Tips for Autism' course.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> An agency that provides early intervention services for children with multifaceted developmental delay.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Formerly known as 'The New Zealand Crippled Children Society' the name was changed to CCS Disability Action to reflect their change of role to work with disabled people of all ages in 2007 (CCS Disability Action 2007).

# Chapter 8

## Methodology

This research was conducted in three parts, with each part having a distinct method of data collection allowing triangulation of research findings. A qualitative methodology was adopted to obtain the research data and analyse research findings. This methodological approach was selected because it gave participants the opportunity to tell their stories surrounding the diagnostic pathway they travelled and their experiences using available services.

Part one of this study was a questionnaire distributed via a range of mediums using a snowball sampling method. The second data set was made up of two case studies that were undertaken with a semi-structured interview approach and used the same questions to those in the survey. The third set of data were elicited via a semi-structured interview process, and participants were recruited using a purposive sampling method from five local service providers that provide services to those with ASD and their families.

## 8.1 The research question

The current study explores the experiences and support needs of families of a child with ASD. Because the research is exploratory, a range of methods have been used to elicit various types of data which are then integrated to provide a picture of the needs and experiences of families.

#### Research question:

What are the experiences of families of people with Autism Spectrum Disorder in the Canterbury/West Coast area?

## 8.2 Research methodology

Research has its own set of terminology that guides research practice. Some of the theories that have been used to argue for or against the use of a qualitative research approach will now be discussed.

### 8.3 Paradigm

A paradigm is simply a theoretical framework which consists of a collection of thoughts or ideas that follow a loose collection of logically related assumptions, concepts or propositions that guide thinking and research. It does not matter whether the project follows a quantitative, qualitative or mixed methods approach because each method will follow its own set of rules (Mackenzie & Knipe, 2006). Any paradigm represents the most informed and sophisticated view that its originators had been able to devise (Guba & Lincoln, 2004). It could also be argued that a paradigm could be regarded as a living 'entity' because of its ability to be changed as knowledge was increased.

## 8.4 Qualitative research paradigm

Data collection and analysis in this study followed the qualitative research paradigm which governed how data was collected and analysed. In an ideal environment; the choice of paradigm should be dictated by the nature of the problem under study rather than by researcher's beliefs or practices (Vogt, 2008). In the presentation that follows, the qualitative research paradigm will be discussed.

Arguably one of the more appropriate paradigms for social research is the qualitative approach because of its ability to provide a greater amount of depth to the research topic. Qualitative methods enable the context of the subject to be explored, either from a micro, or macro level (Duff, 2007). Respondents would have the opportunity to tell their stories in a more complete manner which would clearly indicate how they fitted into their environment. Qualitative research methods enable the researcher to have more flexibility to explore related issues an example being the relationship between depression and childcare (Sheppard, 2004). A qualitative approach would enable the researcher to explore related issues such as how depression was understood and methods used to overcome it. If a quantitative approach had been utilised, the questions would have been predetermined with answers given that precisely fitted the questions asked.

### 8.4.1 The quantitative/qualitative debate

Argument surrounds the relevancy of the use of qualitative research techniques. The argument is based on the role of objectivity versus subjectivity. Proponents of quantitative research maintain that data that had not been collected scientifically could not be seen as objective because the data collected could not be measured to prove validity.

An epistemological question that was at the source of the debate was the relationship the researcher had with the research subjects. A researcher, who was more distant and independent maintained that distance through the use of surveys and experiments, was thus able to maintain objectivity (Cresswell, 2009). Guba & Lincoln (2004) were others to debate the validity of qualitative data. They held the view that the debate related to the belief that all knowledge was the product of social construction, and because of this, it was not possible to separate social meaning from human behaviours.

Disagreements aside, Philip (1998) has argued that no research could be totally objective and error free because the methods used by the researcher, or, the choice of the research topic, would be the product of a subjective decision and, for this reason, quantification is not the wholly objective scientific methodological approach many of its followers like to portray it as being. A conclusion that could be drawn from this debate is that while scientific methods could indicate the fact that something happened, they would not be able to explain precisely how it happened in the way that it did. An example could be a study into the effect the environment had on the sensory issues that are common in people with ASD. A quantitative approach would be able to measure the impact sensory issues had on the ASD population but not the effect the sensory problems had and the measures taken to reduce the impact.

In this study, where the purpose is to uncover the experiences of families caring for children with ASD, a qualitative approach to the research is more appropriate. Rather than searching for objectivity, the research focuses on the subjective experiences of participants.

## 8.5 Case study research

Two case studies have been included in this project. Case study methods can be utilised to obtain an in-depth understanding and the context of the research topic. Information is collected by using a structured or un-structured interview and can be either quantitative or qualitative in nature (Cavaye, 1996). The case studies utilised in this project took the form of semi-structured interviews, the questions used mirrored those that were used in the survey questionnaire with the objective of providing a more in-depth understanding of the functioning of a family where one or more member was on the Autistic Spectrum. By using semi-structured interviews scope existed to make use of data obtained from any associated issues that became apparent during the course of the interview.

### 8.5.1 Limitations of case-study research

It should be acknowledged that case study research is not without its critics. Flyvbjerg, (2004) argues that several main areas for concern include: the inability to make generalisations from a single case, the results of the survey being open to bias caused by the researcher's preconceived ideas of the case, and that it was often difficult to summarise and develop general propositions and theories on the basis of specific case studies.

This discussion suggests that for the reasons outlined above, it could be concluded that case study research is not a valid research method. McKee (2006) disagrees, pointing out that if case studies were as limited and useless as some commentators believed, the case study method would not have survived across decades to become accepted by the mainstream of social research.

## 8.6 Survey research

Information was obtained from participants by way of a self-administered questionnaire (Bryman, 2001) that was completed voluntary. Participants were recruited by way of advertisements that were placed in 'Mind Matters' the newsletter of the Canterbury branch of Autism New Zealand, direct approaches to support groups attached to CCS Disability Action, Canterbury and Autism New Zealand's Canterbury branch. A number of participants were solicited via the forum attached to the 'asplanet' website (http://www.asplanet.info).

Survey questionnaires are a useful tool in social research because of the ability to gain specific data about a particular topic and questions can be either open or closed ended (Bryman, 2001). A self-administered questionnaire was selected as an appropriate method of elucidating data because the participant would be able to answer the questions at a time that was convenient for

them. An advantage of the self-administered questionnaire is that as no interviewer is present, there would be no possibility of answers being skewed by the questions being answered in a different order to how they were presented or worded differently to the way they were written or answers being influenced by the presence of the interviewer (Bryman, 2001).

#### 8.6.1 Limitations of survey research

There are limitations to all research methods, including surveys. In employing an online and postal administration method, along with distribution by workers in agencies, there is a risk that the response rate will be low. There is a range of limitations to using the self-administered questionnaire approach. These include:

- While it may be convenient for the participant to complete the questionnaire in their own time, there is the likelihood of the questionnaire being forgotten due to pressure of other activities.
- 2. Where open ended questions have been asked, there is no opportunity for the researcher to probe an answer to gain additional information.
- 3. There is no guarantee the questionnaire is completed by the correct person.
- 4. Response rates are generally very low as compared to an interview approach or where other direct data collection methods are used.

(Bryman, 2001, pp. 130-131)

While there was potential for the disadvantages to outweigh the advantages, a self-administered questionnaire was selected to minimise the amount of disruption to the family's routine. In the case of this project, it is possible that a further disadvantage was the potential participant's perception that another survey would not improve service provision. It is also possible that potential participants felt that answering the questions could bring back unpleasant memories of the family's diagnostic journey and therefore avoided participating in the research.

### 8.7 Interview research

Five service providers were approached to obtain their input on services they provide and to obtain the organisation's view on service provision for people on the Autistic Spectrum. A semi-structured interview was carried out with a representative from two organisations that provided dedicated services to people with ASD together with organisations that provided services from within their generic service range. A semi-structured interview was selected because it provided an opportunity to explore the subject in more detail than if a questionnaire was used. Semi-structured interviews are regarded as the only data source for qualitative research projects; because the interview is based upon a set of previously prepared open ended questions with further depth being obtained from additional questioning that emerged as the interview progressed (DiCicco-Bloom & Crabtree, 2006). The quality of data collected can be further enhanced by eliciting further information to enrich the topic under discussion by taking a lead from the interviewee (Bryman, 2001). While a qualitative interview does have its advantages, there are limitations that could influence the validity of the data obtained.

#### 8.7.1 Limitations of interview research

While a qualitative interview is regarded as an excellent means of obtaining data (Myers & Newman, 2007), a number of difficulties can arise that can influence the quality and depth of the outcome. These include: the artificiality of the interview setting and time constraints being placed on the interviewee or language (Myers & Newman, 2007). The misinterpretation of language could pose a problem where the incorrect information was gathered. Pre-testing the interview questions would go some way to prevent any misunderstandings from occurring. Influences that the interviewer or interviewee may not be aware of could prove to be problematic.

Information provided by the interviewees may be influenced by the interview setting or their responses may be influenced by the interviewer or the interviewee tainting the data by giving answers the interviewer wanted to hear. Interviewer bias may also influence questioning which in turn could lead to the answers being skewed one way or the other (Diefenbach, 2008). In the context of this project, an example where this could occur is where the interviewer held the opinion that services for people with ASD were substandard when the data collected suggested the opposite.

Being comfortable with pauses and judging the length of time the interviewee needed to answer the question is a skill an interviewer would find useful (Sommer & Sommer, 1997). If allowance was not made for the 'thinking time' and the interviewer rephrased the question, confusion could result which inhibit the interviewee's ability to fully answer the question. This skill would be especially useful whilst interviewing members of the ASD community who needed time to process what was said to them.

It can be concluded that when the researcher is aware of pitfalls, valuable data can be obtained from the semi-structured interview. Limitations aside, a semi-structured interview has the potential to be a very rich data source which in addition could yield an unexpected bonus through obtaining information via avenues that were not originally considered.

### 8.8 Method

#### 8.8.1 Participants

PART I: The participants in Parts I and II of this research project were the parents of children with an Autism Spectrum Disorder. They could be diagnosed with either 'classic' autism at one end of the Autistic Spectrum or Asperger's syndrome at the other. Because both autism and Asperger's syndrome share many of the same characteristics, the questions were worded so that regardless of the participant's circumstances, the questions that were asked applied equally to either situation. Participants in part III were representatives of services working directly with people with ASD and their families in the Canterbury/West Coast regions.

#### 8.8.2 Procedure

**8.8.2.1:** SURVEY RESEARCH: Potential participants in this project were recruited by various means. An advertisement was placed in 'Mind Matters' the magazine of the Canterbury branch of Autism New Zealand. The same advertisement was placed in the online forum that is part of the Asperger's Parallel Planet (http://www.asplanet.info/) website and participants were recruited by direct contact with groups such as Autism New Zealand's Canterbury branch parent's support group and the autism support group attached to the Canterbury branch of CCS Disability Action. Copies of the questionnaire were distributed to members. Additionally, prospective participants had the option of visiting website a (http://sites.google.com/site/asdsurveychch/asd-services-survey) to download a copy of the questionnaire and email it back upon completion.

**8.8.2.2: CASE STUDY RESEARCH:** Case study participants were obtained from among those who responded to the advertisement for participants. These were people who indicated a

willingness to be involved in the case study interviews and who provided contact details to the researcher.

**8.8.2.3: INTERVIEW RESEARCH:** Using a purposive approach to sampling, five service providers were approached directly and a representative of each service was invited to take part in this project.

#### 8.9.3 Materials

The following materials were used:

- Information and consent form that was provided to each participant in the research project (Appendices A, B, and C)
  - Survey questionnaire which was completed by each participant (Appendix D)
- •List of questions that were used in the case study interview, these were the same questions used in the survey questionnaire (Appendix D)
- List of questions that were used in the service provider interviews (Appendix E)
- Advertisements and correspondence with providers (Appendices F, G, and H)
- Dictaphone which was used to record the case study interviews
- Lockable filing cabinet

## 8.10 Human Ethics Approval

An application was lodged with the University of Canterbury Human Ethics Committee, approval was subsequently received (HEC Ref: 2007/100) (Appendix I). The project catchment area was originally the Christchurch City area only. Because of the number of people who responded from outside of the city, the focus of the research was extended to include the whole

Canterbury area and the West Coast which is the same area serviced by the Canterbury branch of Autism New Zealand.

The identity of each participant was guarded. Pseudonyms were used for each survey and case study participant and the area they resided in was generalised. Service providers were given generic names. It should be noted that while it is possible to protect the identity of the survey and case study participants, the service providers could potentially be identified by the service they provided. Completed questionnaires and transcribed interviews (which were transcribed by the interviewer) and stored in a locked filing cabinet. Ethical considerations aside, an added reason for anonymity is that as Christchurch is a small community and the ASD community being even smaller, there is a likelihood of someone knowing someone.

## 8.11 Data analysis

A thematic approach to analysis of data is taken. Thematic analysis is a poorly defined and rarely acknowledged qualitative analytic method (Brauna & Clarke, 2006). The approach involves identifying themes or stories in the data that are common with one another that are used to build an over-all picture of the participant's circumstances. Using the question pertaining to diagnosis as an example, thematic analysis disclosed a common theme was accessing people with the experience necessary to assess and diagnose ASD. An additional theme was the 'gatekeepers' that were used to regulate access to the relevant professionals. The presence of impacts was a trend that was threaded through many of the responses. These were both negative and positive and extended from financial to those that involved the extended family where a lack of understanding precluded support from the wider family members.

Unexpected results could also be detected by using a thematic approach an example being discounting a preconceived idea that ASD dictated a family's residential location. It was

originally thought that ASD did play a part but the trend identified in the current study showed otherwise.

## 8.11.1 Triangulation of data

To guard against the data being skewed one way or the other, triangulation of the data was undertaken. Triangulation is the bringing together of data that has been collected from various sources and then compared. Participants that had varied points of view of the solution to the same problem could also be compared (Guion, 2002). To translate this into the context of this project, service users were likely to have a differing point of view regarding the relevancy of services that were provided to them to that of the service provider. Triangulation of the data will be able to establish a common ground where a generalised picture of the situation will be obtained that will give an indication of how effective or relevant current services offered to persons with ASD and their carers are in a system that had not been designed for their purpose.

## Chapter 9

# Research findings

The purpose of this research was to gain an insight into the experiences of families, the ways in which families function, and the formal and informal supports they access when they are caring for a dependant with a diagnosis of ASD.

## 9.1 Summary

Data were obtained via three primary sources: case studies of two families, questionnaires completed by six parents/caregivers of a person with ASD, and semi-structured interviews with representatives of five local support agencies.

### 9.1.1 Case study participants

Two case studies were undertaken within this research. Participants in both case studies identified themselves as Caucasian and had at least one child who had received a diagnosis of ASD within the previous five to ten years.

## 9.1.2 Survey participants

A total of six participants completed questionnaires. All but one family identified themselves as Caucasian with the remaining family identifying as Maori. The residential location of the families varied. Five families resided in the Christchurch area, and the remaining two resided in the greater Canterbury area. The support services these families accessed were all located in Christchurch City.

A mix of families participated in this project; one family had the mother as the sole caregiver.

Diagnoses ranged across the Autistic Spectrum from Autism to Asperger's syndrome and in

some cases more than one child was diagnosed with ASD. The length of time since the diagnosis

was made ranged from between one and ten years prior to their involvement in the research.

With the exception of one, all families resided in an urban area. The exception was one who

resided in a country town. This finding conflicted with a preconceived belief that sensitivities to

noise, light etcetera common to ASD dictated living location. Only one family reported their

residential location was determined by ASD, this was because of school zoning rather than any

symptomatic considerations.

9.1.3 Service providers

Representatives from five Christchurch community-based services that work with people with an

ASD diagnosis participated in the study. All were located within the central city.

Service A

The core business of Service A is to provide information, education and support for families and

professionals. This includes providing information, staff/workplace training, liaising with

schools providing staff training/education and supporting IEPs, liaising with a wide range of

community agencies, providing school holiday programmes and other weekly activity

programmes, linking families with appropriate services and support in their area, and advocating

in relation to Ministry of Education, Ministry of Social Development, Ministry of Health and

Ministry of Health supports.

Estimated number of service users: Somewhere between twelve to fifteen hundred people.

As the organisation is an NGO, funding is sourced from community grants, fundraising and donations. The <sup>20</sup>OSCAR Foundation partially funds their holiday programme but for day to day funding, donations are the sole source of funding.

#### Service B

Service B is a specialised service for people with ASD from the age of 5 years through to adulthood. The service provides training and support to clients and their families and the agencies working with them.

Estimated number of service users: 40 to 50 people actively involved per quarter, with around 300 clients registered with the service.

The organisation holds a Ministry of Health contract that provides two thirds of their operating budget which is reviewable every two years. For the remaining third, funding is sourced from community grants.

#### **Service C:**

Service C is a needs assessment service coordination service. After a referral is made and eligibility is met, a needs assessment, which will provide a snapshot of that person's life at that point, is completed. Then, a Service Coordinator from this service tries to ensure that those needs are met by linking a client with services in the community.

Estimated number of service users: In excess of 5000 people are registered with the service. They are contracted to review every person every year and to reassess once every three years

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Out of School Care and Recreation

unless there have been any significant changes. If there have been any significant changes during

the three year process or even yearly, a reassessment will take place.

Funding is sourced by way of a Ministry of Health contract.

**Service D:** 

Service D takes referrals from people between five and 21 and the referral could be from

anybody with a disability that requires support. A range of services are provided including

family support workers (including support for siblings), and support for people leaving school.

Estimated number of service users: Around about 300 use the service.

A major source of funding comes from government contracts with the shortfall being made up

by donations or grants.

**Service E:** 

Service E provides a range of community support options for people with mild to moderate

intellectual disabilities which does include several people who are on the Autism Spectrum.

Those support options relate to community participation and include training and education,

sports and recreation, vocational and work opportunities (including volunteering opportunities),

support for transitioning from school, and employment support.

Estimated number of service users: There are currently 139 people in the community

participation service.

The Ministry of Social Development is their principal funder for most of the training

opportunities the service provides. In common with the other services, there is a funding

shortfall which has to be made up from grants from various funding organisations.

A comment made that was common to most of the services was that the need to spend time to

lodge funding applications and the time that was needed to account to the funding agencies

meant that less time was available to spend supporting clients. The continuity of funding also

presented a problem because with grants or contracts lasting for a limited time, it meant that long

term planning was somewhat restricted.

9.2 Diagnosis

As it has been previously noted, ASD is a developmental disorder, clues that something is amiss

maybe evident as early as one year of age. By age three, behavioural signs indicating ASD are

almost always evident and parents may have picked up that things are not as they should be.

Absence or delay of developmental milestones is an early indicator and one that sometimes leads

parents to seek professional advice.

Parents may seek advice when developmental milestones are absent or delayed (Wetherby et al.,

2004) Families may seek help from professionals at different times and with different presenting

issues. In most cases, the family's General Practitioner (GP) is the first professional to be

approached. The GP may refer the family to a suitable professional for a formal assessment and

diagnosis.

9.2.1 Case study findings: Diagnosis

Pam and Mike

For Pam and Mike there were some early behavioural pointers that their son Thomas was

different. In fact, Thomas received his autism diagnosis from a paediatrician specialising in

autism some ten years ago.

**Mike:** When Thomas was about two [years old], I suspected that he could be [on the spectrum]. He would stand in the shower and look up at the water falling on his face and things like that.

**Pam:** Thomas's speech, he did not have much language at two.

Mike: [Thomas would] spin around without feeling dizzy.

**Pam:** He would line stuff up, one day I went into his room after he had his afternoon sleep and his cars were lined up in order of size from one side of the room to the other. Matchbox cars to the biggest truck, they were all in size order.

**Pam:** Four months before Thomas's diagnosis, we took him to a speech and language therapist to see what was happening with his language and in those four months, he did not make any progress whatsoever, she referred us to paediatrician. We saw [the paediatrician] privately.

**Mike:** [The paediatrician] specialised in Autism, Dyspraxia and also ADHD.

**Pam:** He gave us the diagnosis there and then the day he saw Thomas. ... He (Thomas) was playing with the tap in his rooms, he was turning it on and off, on and off. And he (the paediatrician) said I do not need to be a rocket scientist, this child is Autistic.

#### **Mavis and Frank**

In many aspects of parenting, informal networks can be a useful way of obtaining information. Mavis and Frank, who have two sons who both have Asperger's syndrome, found this to be the case. It was through informal connections or interactions that Mavis discovered that Simon may have Asperger's syndrome, further research into the subject suggested that Anton may have it too.

**Mavis:** The diagnosis for Simon happened purely by chance, basically through connections with other people. Simon's one to one swimming coach in the pool with him had a daughter who has Asperger's. Frank was researching for Simon and said that Anton probably had Asperger's [too]. Basically, I got a referral to go to <sup>[a]</sup> local General Practitioner who specialises in Autism Spectrum Disorder]. That was the only way it happened, connections - networking.

Researching the subject was a further strategy the family employed on their journey to diagnosis.

**Frank:** Someone mentioned Asperger's once [in relation to Simon] so I would go to the library and I would read all about these various things and when I started reading books on Asperger's like Tony Attwood's stuff it jumped off the pages that this was the thing.

What began as wondering and informal discussions with non-professionals cumulated in seeking professional support and a diagnosis. The role of informal support and publicly available information (such as on the internet), in the journey toward (or away from) diagnosis, should not be underestimated.

### 9.2.2 Survey findings: Diagnosis

All survey participants reported that their son or daughter had received a diagnosis within the last 10 years. Participants reported varying experiences of the diagnostic process that seemed to depend upon on which assessment route had been followed. Those who used the public health system discussed the matter of waiting time to see a specialist. Long waiting times were reported by some participants and, when the appointment did occur, referrals elsewhere were sometimes an outcome

**Jane:** After a long wait, which was further delayed because I had tried to access a different early intervention service (Champion Centre) through the GP, <sup>21</sup>GSE finally agreed to do the assessment. We had our one hour diagnostic assessment by [a] GSE based psychiatrist. She felt that he was not on [the] Autistic Spectrum. But when I queried this she agreed yes he might have ASD ...

This participant felt that a lack of resources within the hospital system was a factor that slowed the assessment process for them. She said:

**Jane:** My son could not simply be assessed without the issue of services and then hopefully acquiring services (after diagnosis).

While others did not raise this issue, Jane believed her difficulties where caused by the lack of a continuity of care. Jane felt that a lack of resources for services was regularly brought into the conversation during the assessment process and seemed to be a barrier to progress.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Group Special Education

Some parents found the length of time needed to complete a diagnostic assessment was an issue that caused them considerable stress. While waiting for a diagnosis, parents felt like they were in a never-ending holding pattern during which time they did not have access to information or receive support. Samantha and Jane spoke of the stress that waiting created for them:

**Samantha:** For me and my son [seeking a diagnosis was] very stressful, no real support or help. The whole [diagnostic] process is disjointed, lacking in professionals with correct knowledge.

**Jane:** The diagnostic process was extremely upsetting for me due entirely to [the] long wait and stalling tactics of [the] agencies involved. Meanwhile, no advice or support was given on what to do or how to obtain useful information.

Being able to obtain a diagnosis in a timely manner would clearly be an advantage to a family. For higher functioning children on the Autistic Spectrum, diagnosis may be delayed when the subtle indicators of ASD are not recognised by health professionals.

**Jane:** GSE seemed ill qualified to correctly assess Asperger's type ASD. They cited the fact that my son has eye contact as a sign of no ASD.

It is known that a lack of eye contact is a common symptom of ASD, but because of the variability between individuals, not all may display the same range of symptoms that may be evident with ASD. Some people with ASD can maintain eye contact.

Where a diagnosis was obtained outside of Christchurch city, or when the diagnostic process progressed more smoothly, the waiting times to access other services and supports were reported to be less.

**Jill:** Diagnosis was obtained in outside of Christchurch [via a] referral to [a] paediatrician by [the] early childhood centre. [We were] lucky there were no waiting lists for Occupational Therapist, Speech Language Therapist etcetera.

Regardless of the journey to diagnosis, families were generally pleased to finally get the diagnosis to validate their own perceptions of their child, access informal support networks, and to enable them to access much needed services. The experiences of some of the participants in the current study are consistent with those reported in the Autistic Association of New Zealand's 2001 study. In the 2001 study, many participants told of difficulty in accessing personnel who were skilled in assessing and diagnosing ASD. It is possible that the difficulty participants encountered in the current study stems from the public health system being operated along market driven principles that require an increased level of efficiency for the minimum amount of financial expenditure. As ASD is a lifelong disorder, support costs can be high and by restricting access to a diagnosis, possible future state expenditure would be minimised.

It is evident from the results of this study a more timely diagnosis would be obtained if the private sector was used, this would be a viable alternative for some families who had the necessary resources. For those without the necessary resources, this avenue would be beyond their means.

### 9.2.3 Service providers: Diagnosis

Services who participated in this study are funded differently. But for many, a diagnosis is required in order for the agency to access funding or obtain additional supports.

**Service B:** Yes, you have to have a diagnosis to receive our service with all referrals coming via Life Links: the local/regional needs assessment and service coordination agency.

**Service C:** Everybody has to meet the eligibility criteria.

**Service D:** Over the long term, yes, however we do support families where they suspect that their child may have a diagnosis of something. Often families will not know where to go or how to get clarification, so we support people in these situations. This can be quite a common situation. If after full investigation, it was determined that the child/young person did not have a disability it would be very unlikely that they would stay on our books.

However, one organisation offers support before a diagnosis has been obtained.

**Service A:** To access our services you do not need to have a diagnosis.

One organisation offers a more generic service where clients may present with a variety of

diagnoses, but having one is not a prerequisite to engaging with the service.

**Service E:** The term diagnosis is not used in our contract but there has to be

evidence that a person has a disability that would be ongoing for six months or

more.

9.3 Attitudes of professionals

The role of the professional in the journey of the family from diagnosis to intervention should

not be minimised. Indeed, in many areas within the human services, the quality of the

relationship between the worker and the client is accepted as the primary factor in producing

positive outcomes for clients (Swift & Callahan, 2009; Priebe & McCabe, 2006). The potential

for individual workers and the services they are employed by to make a difference to the

experiences of families when a child has ASD is immense.

9.3.1 Survey findings: Attitudes of professionals

Participants in this study experienced a number of different attitudes from professionals they

dealt with. While it was described in different ways, a perception that a worker doubted that the

child was on the Autistic Spectrum proved problematic for some participants.

**Samantha:** [It] felt like [we] had to convince others [he was] on the spectrum.

Samantha felt that the onus was on her to prove that her son was on the Autistic Spectrum, this

attitude could be seen as an additional stressor for the family to deal with.

A feeling of isolation that can be the result was described by Freda:

**Freda:** Very lonely, full of self discovery, nobody believed me so I had to believe in myself.

Some parents may feel that their parenting abilities and competencies were being evaluated in their day to day lives. One participant commented that:

**Nicole:** At all stages of this [diagnostic] process, I have felt judged, misunderstood, not heard and like I had to justify my feelings, description of behaviours and indeed the behaviours themselves.

Research has suggested that in some situations clinicians may be reluctant to name the condition a child may have (Tissot, 2011; Brock, Jimerson, & Hansen, 2006; Dodd, 2004).

**Nicole:** I was asked why I needed something to be wrong with my son, [I was told that] labels would not help him and may cause other stress.

While the motivation of professionals involved in the diagnostic process may have been to 'spare' the family distress, this has to be balanced against the relief that the parents would experience by knowing the reason for their child's behaviour. It would also have the potential to minimise any stigma brought about by the child's behaviour. The lack of a diagnosis would inevitably block support avenues: an assessment of support needs can only be obtained after a diagnosis was obtained. Labels can be useful to families for other reasons: they can convey information relating to the person, where more than one clinician is involved; misunderstandings could be avoided due to a different understanding of the terminology used.

## 9.4 Local mental health services

Some parents of children with suspected ASD have the resources available to pay for an assessment by a private practitioner. However, many families must use publicly available services fully, or in part, as they pursue a diagnosis for their child.

In Christchurch, the Child, Adolescent and Family Mental Health Service is a public service run by the Canterbury District Health Board. Their Child and Family Speciality Service caters for children up to and including 12 years of age and an additional service, Youth Speciality Service, for children aged between 13 and 18 years of age. Both services offer outpatient mental health services which provide comprehensive assessment and treatment services to children with moderate to severe mental health, emotional or behavioural problems. Participants who used the public health system were asked to describe their experiences and comment on the service received.

## 9.4.1 Case study findings: Local mental health services

Because of his age, Mavis and Frank's son Simon was referred to the Child, Adolescent and Family Mental Health Service for an assessment and possible diagnosis for ASD.

#### **Mavis and Frank**

**Frank:** They tried to say that Simon had ADD and ADHD and all this other stuff, they just suggested to go back to the GP and chuck him on Ritalin and go and sign up for membership with the ADHD or Aspie Society and get support from them. Nothing happened.

9.4.2 Survey findings: Local mental health services

With the exception of one participant who described a positive experience all remaining

participants who accessed local mental health services described their experiences of using the

public system in a less than favourable way. While research into other populations would

suggest that this is not unique to this population, there are many reasons why parents may feel

this way about their experiences. It is not uncommon for parents to feel marginalised and

ignored by professionals and a lack of validation of parental knowledge and experience by

professionals was raised by one participant within this study.

**Nicole:** Some professionals only see themselves as an expert (text book learnt) and

do not realise the valuable resources they have in [the] parent's experience.

Brenda: Useless.

Freda: First time around, appalling. Second time: Less focus on family situation

and child's behaviours and more on underlying issues [needed].

When asked how the service participants received could be improved one participant

commented:

**Brenda:** They could close. Totally incompetent, people who actually know autism

could work there. The need to shorten waiting lists and allocate specialists not

registered nurses.

As ASD is a life-long disorder, transitioning from one service to another may occur over time. A

difference in the responsiveness of the service and a change in the level of support given were

noted by Brenda:

**Brenda:** Very good, we went from huge teams of specialists with monthly

sometimes weekly input over 10 years to discharge at age 13 to crisis to wait, wait,

wait.

A theme common in the responses was an apparent lack of understanding by professionals of the

complexities surrounding Autism Spectrum Disorder.

It is important to note that all diagnoses of children referred to by participants in this study were made before the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' was released. The guidelines in this publication provide guidance to parents and professionals on the procedures that should be followed when assessing a child with ASD. Bearing in mind the changes that have occurred in this area, further research is necessary to obtain a clearer indication of the effectiveness of the assessment/diagnostic processes that are outlined in the guideline.

Just as the presentation and characteristics of an individual with ASD vary from individual to individual, participants encountered varying experiences along the diagnostic pathway. Similarly, the practical implications and emotional impacts of a child receiving a diagnosis varied across participants. What was common to all though, was that having the diagnosis made a difference.

### 9.5 Needs assessment

A common method of accessing support services is by way of a needs assessment that is undertaken by the local Needs Assessment Service Coordination (NASC) agency by way of contract to the Ministry of Health. In Canterbury, the local NASC working with people on the Autistic Spectrum is Life Links.

## 9.5.1 Case study findings: Needs assessment

Often there is a waiting time between when the needs assessment was requested and the assessment being carried out. Participants reported an average waiting time of three months.

#### **Mavis and Frank**

**Frank**: The appointment took near to six months, the waiting time was hopeless.

#### Pam and Mike

**Pam**: Two or three months, we have not had another one done, we have just had the phone call every year to update the carer support days, we get 33 days per year which covers the <sup>22</sup>holiday programme.

Participants who had needs assessments undertaken were asked to rate the amount of focus the needs assessment had on ASD. It was found that generally, there was focus but the amount varied between families.

#### **Mavis and Frank**

**Frank**: No, Anton's follow up [was sent to a local provider]; their people were kind of off the track with what they were supposed to be doing. They were supposed to be coming in for Anton's benefit but they decided to supervise us and run our lives.

**Mavis**: I do not think it is the higher ups, I think it is the support worker because she has got her own political agenda. She is very pro-mainstream schooling.

To illustrate whether or not the parents thought their needs had been understood Mavis and Frank used Simon's schooling as an example.

**Frank**: For the sake of schooling, if we do finally hear from [a service provider] or something like that and they say ok, we will give Simon support in his class. I mean it is only going to get it for an hour each day. They don't go in and support social development, they seem to think they have to go in and support his education when there is nothing wrong with his ability to learn education wise. They need to be in there at certain times of the day in the playground or whatever with the kid to do the social development part. They do not even consider that.

**Mavis**: Unfortunately [the support worker] put on the pressure to return Simon to mainstream schooling in two years. Can you imagine putting him back into that when he does not have the social skills?

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Run by the Canterbury branch of Autism New Zealand

Pam and Mike

Mike/Pam: Yes, there was probably more of a concern about the needs of the rest

of the family which was good. When you say focussed on autism it was not clinically based, it was more "how is everyone else coping?" Making sure that we

were getting a break for ourselves ...

9.5.2 Survey findings: Needs assessment

In common with the case study subjects, survey participants reported varying experiences of the

needs assessments process. Some gained the impression that the needs assessor's experience was

grounded upon theoretical knowledge based upon the solutions that were offered. Others had the

impression that the needs assessor empathised with their circumstances.

**Brenda**: Unless you live it no one knows what it is like. Too many professionals

have no idea and their solutions are often unrealistic.

Jill: The [needs] assessor was thorough and was very understanding and was the

first person I told everything to.

Parents of children with Asperger's syndrome noted that service options for their children were

limited.

Jane: It (the needs assessment) wasn't too bad, but in our case, we received very little in the way of actual services so the needs assessor did not have a huge amount

of impact.

**Brenda**: Very little available for [people with] Asperger's, autistics have a lot more

care provisions available to them. <sup>23</sup> Aspies' are just expected to get on with it.

One participant noted that not all of their needs assessment had been followed up.

**Nicole**: Some of the supports were overlooked.

<sup>23</sup> Term people with Asperger's Syndrome give to another with the condition.

It was observed that as staffing changed so too did the level of experience.

**Brenda**: I have an excellent needs assessor at present but staff come and go and so too does knowledge and experience.

It can be argued that a successful needs assessment would be dependent upon the needs assessor having knowledge of ASD and the client having some idea of available supports. Unfamiliarity of the appropriate eligibility criteria has been an issue for some which may lead to people missing out, as Nicole notes.

**Nicole**: [Information about entry] criteria and what supports are available is not openly given. Therefore, if a parent does not know what [supports] could be available or criteria for such, it makes it hard for a parent/carer to advocate [for] the supports needed.

A complicating factor is that the health service is set up primarily to cater for either intellectual or psychiatric disabilities. Because ASD is regarded as neither one nor the other, funding options to provide needed services were often limited or not available.

Where services are available, there is often a long waiting time before the service can be accessed.

**Jane**: I later contacted [the needs assessor] regarding behaviour management issues only to find [the] available service had [a] two year wait list.

Participants were asked for suggestions on how the needs assessment process could be improved.

**Jane**: I think a really good needs assessor might talk you through some of the things that might crop up as [the] child gets older. Rather than just [a] needs assessor, [the person could be] a kind of counsellor who knows ASD [which] would be [more] helpful [and] who could come up with ideas for parenting etcetera.

Perhaps not surprisingly, it was widely noted that the quality of the needs assessment depended upon the level of skill the needs assessor had in dealing with people on the Autistic Spectrum.

The amount of support that was offered varied. A reason one participant suggested was a lack of services designed for people with ASD rather than the needs assessment process per se.

Participants in this study were generally satisfied with the needs assessment processes they had been involved in. The length of time a family had to wait for the needs assessment to be carried out was a concern to some participants. On average the wait time was up to three months which was considered to be acceptable.

## 9.5.3 Service providers: Needs assessment

Service provider participants in this study were able to comment on the needs assessment process from a different perspective. These participants highlighted a range of factors that influence or impinge on the needs assessment process, as well as the sheer magnitude of the task they have in front of them each year:

**Service C:** In excess of 5000 people are registered with us. We are contracted to review every person every year and to reassess once every three years unless there have been any significant changes. If there have been any significant changes during the three year process or even yearly, we will go out and reassess.

Some agencies receive funding via referrals from Life Links. They may use this referral agency as a gatekeeper to regulate the number of people using the service as a way of managing the funding resources that they have available to them.

**Service B**: We use Life Links as a gatekeeper because otherwise, we would be inundated. We would not be able to continue with what funding we have - we would be just turning people away.

In a climate where funding for support services is in short supply, having someone to act as an advocate for families during the needs assessment process could be useful.

**Service A**: I would always suggest a referral to the NASC, sometimes I channel [families] into that as the next thing to do after a diagnosis and I would often support them through the needs assessment.

The findings from the case study and survey participants in this study suggest that it is likely that a family with a newly diagnosed member may not be familiar with the needs assessment process. A role an service could fulfil could be in providing information about the needs assessment process and to advise on what a family's entitlements are.

**Service D**: The criterion to access our service is that they are a person with a disability who would like support. We support all disabilities, with the exception of people who have a sole mental health issue, as there is a large infrastructure of organisations in Canterbury geared to supporting this group. We do support people with dual psychiatric/physical or otherwise diagnosis. Often families do not know of the needs assessment process, and we often support them to access this service.

A needs assessment may also be used as a means for an organisation obtaining additional support funding to support a client in their day to day activities.

**Service E**: We are not contractually obliged to have the needs assessment as part of our entry criteria. However, we do request as a part of our referral process a needs assessment through the local NASC or something similar. [That would be used] for someone with higher support needs.

## 9.5.4 Service providers: Perception of supports families need

The service providers are in a unique situation where they can develop an understanding of type of support a family may need and to be in a position to know where shortfalls may occur.

**Service A**: Generally they [families] need a lot more support than the health system or education system [can provide]. It's getting harder and harder to access Ministry of Education and Ministry of Health funded services. I guess what families often need the most is carer support and respite care for these young people ... Some children get ORRS funding for very high needs children. Often there will be co morbidity alongside the autism there will be something else. The majority of children with autism do not get ORRS funding, [they are] the top one percent of children with special needs. I guess what families often need the most is carer support and respite care for these young people.

The individuality of a family's situation and the uniqueness of the support needs that are required (some of which were highlighted in the comments made by parents in earlier sections) pose challenges for service provision. It is also possible that where support is lacking in one particular area, this can have a 'knock on' effect into other areas of the child's or family's life.

**Service B**: Everything is so individual that I cannot really clarify precisely what our service would offer a particular client because everyone's needs vary ... we generally [also] work with those who are higher functioning as many of these people are not able to access service elsewhere; mostly it is about understanding and empathy for the individual across all settings so that consistency and continuity can make a difference including what is happening for them at school or work. Otherwise, if it is not right in education, it is not right at home, and vice versa. The majority of families that we get however are . . . mostly single parent families or there are families where there are mental health issues . . .

**Service C**: That will depend on what has been identified in the needs assessment. You can imagine that with 5000 clients, the span of needs would vary from high and complex to just a couple of hours doing home management. [The supports] would depend on each individual needs assessment and each individual client.

Arguably the most important of all of a family's needs is to be listened to and the knowledge that their needs and circumstances have been understood.

**Service D**: Our process is a client – centred approach, so the families identify on an individual basis what the supports are that they would like, and we develop an individual plan with them based on their wishes. Outside of the individual plan for each person, we see some common themes. Most families say they would like to be listened to, understood and respected by agencies that they utilise. Where appropriate, we are able to offer additional ideas about possible supports that the person themselves may not know of or be aware of.

It would be very useful to have some type of flexible funding to purchase supports, therapies, resources etcetera that may not be funded or available elsewhere. We spend much of our time applying for funding for various needs that are not met by government funding.

This response from the worker from Service D is consistent with the message the families gave in this study – they want to be listened to and understood.

Respite care services have been identified as a major area of support that families seek, and

families certainly talked about using these services – sometimes strategically.

**Service C**: Across the ASD population, we have a trend that seems to be respite.

Part of a process of service coordination is to identify service gaps within our region and those service gaps are then reported back to the Ministry of Health and through

that data, they can then explore options if appropriate.

9.6 Accessibility

A commonality that existed across parent participants in this study was that information about

ASD and information pertaining to support services that are available was not readily given to

parents. Accurate information is important to parents who, as noted in earlier chapters, can

become isolated, desperate, and vulnerable to 'fads' as they try to deal with the situation that

they find themselves in.

9.6.1 Service Providers: Accessibility

Being given information on ASD after a diagnosis was made and obtaining access to a support

service were also seen as important issues by the service provider participants in this study.

Understanding and meeting eligibility criteria had been identified as an obstacle to accessing

services and supports:

Service A: Access that is the word, access. Meeting the criteria, interpreting the

criteria, GPs across the country will interpret the criteria differently for eligibility for allowances for example ... Consistency in access of services ... what one NASC

does, does not necessarily mean the same so that an inter NASC transfer could end

up with totally different services for one individual with the same needs...

I think one of the biggest challenges is understanding ASD and the implications for families when they are trying to access services whether it be child disability allowance or carer support or integrated school or whatever. Quite often you put

supports in and the child makes huge improvements so they take the supports out

and put them somewhere else and the wheels would fall off because to continue improving, they still need that one on one support...

The implications of an ASD diagnosis have been seen as a challenge for some families and obtaining relevant, readily accessible information was seen as an issue.

**Service B**: People should be able to get some information right from the time of looking for a diagnosis and once this is obtained and confirmed it can be all a bit vague about what happens from that point onwards. Some people in health services are good in the way it happens for families, others are not so good. Families do not know where to start. What do I need to do? Where do I go to get it? How can I do all that as well as cope with my family's needs? They need somebody they can relate to and feel comfortable with to act as a case manager for them to talk to when needed and so that they can access [information] and steer them through the system.

For some families a lack of knowledge or a lack of an information source may act as a barrier, because they have no one to approach for information.

**Service D**: Many families come to our service because they have had difficulties in accessing services. Families often report that it is very difficult to get support, or access to services. Part of our role is to advocate for families, to assist them to access services.

Accessibility to a service can also be about the response a person receives after acceptance into a service. For example, if a person with ASD starts utilising a service, unless the service has a reasonable understanding or empathy for this condition, it may not be a service that the person can utilise. A lack of understanding, information, and empathy can become a barrier to using a service

With needs as diverse as the Autistic Spectrum is wide, sourcing appropriate services may present a challenge for the service provider, assuming that a particular service is available, there may be no guarantee that it could be provided if the necessary funding was not available.

**Service C**: I guess it gets back to [the question] what services are available out there? There could be an expectation that the government should fund a wide range of services, however there could be a variety of unfunded services available that may be able to offer the supports people need. Service delivery which include a selection of unfunded and funded services takes time to develop and may not ideal because people are busy ... the funding is not always available for services families expect however this may be an opportunity to work together and start creating their own support structures . [The funding is not there] to do what families are expecting ... I think what needs to happen [is the] development of those services. There are

some good providers out there. Some providers have a focus on supporting people with ASD. These providers have a good understanding on ASD and provide good staff training to develop their skills. These (staff), can bring their learning back into the service to up skill other staff members to improve overall service delivery. This is really good because that understanding supports the family's expectation as well, which often may be what the family is wanting when they first get a diagnosis of ASD?

Power and control issues related to policy and funding may be a factor where services are available but obstacles have deliberately been put in place to limit access. This may be a physical barrier or, access to appropriate information may be deliberately limited in order to protect the service from overwork and a resulting drain on funding.

**Service E**: I think it is really about families being able to drive the process, I think it is about better information also there are issues of power and control that come into play as well. I think families tend to be somewhat passive recipients of a service and whether that has been driven by a school or a disability organisation. I think by and large parents engage in a process in a meaningful sort of way. There is a lot of focus on the process but I feel there needs to be some mechanisms in place that ensure greater accountability both for schools and disability agencies that may provide some of that transition support. I think there is some form of scope for mechanisms for parents to actually come together and operate that shift some of that power [of the school or support agency]. I think information is power and in the absence of that information or knowledge, parents remain largely passive [recipients]. It is only when things go wrong that things start to kick in where parents are more involved or fed more information. It is not done as a matter of course, so I have seen.

## 9.7 Negative and positive impacts

As discussed earlier, an initial impact that has been identified from a diagnosis of ASD is that of grief. This may occur when parents realise that the plans the parents had for their child will not come to fruition. The grief process has been described as being similar to that experienced when someone has died. In essence, this is the case because the child is seen as a different person to the one they knew. Being able to share feelings with other people would enable the parents to come to terms with the news. Various people can provide emotional support to parents and families including a support group or a counsellor. The participants in this study utilised various support avenues to share the negative and positive aspects of living with a child with ASD.

## 9.7.1 Case study findings: Negative and positive impacts

Arguably sharing information with family is a common course of action, following a diagnosis. However, a perceived stigma surrounding the mistaken impression that ASD is mental illness can be a barrier to disclosing this information which in turn can prevent the parents from accessing support from their extended family.

#### **Mavis and Frank**

The support received from grandparents and extended family members can differ within the same family. This was the case for Mavis and Frank:

**Mavis:** The sad, sad awful thing is that because there is a fear of a mental disability, what non autistic people term as an illness. My Mother for instance will tell people that Anton is asthmatic why? Because she can explain that he will come out of it but she will not tell her sister – my aunt or anyone else that he is Asperger's because it is forever. She just will not tell her friends, anyone like that. The realisation that my mother would not tell anybody else in the family at all that Anton is Asperger's saddened me.

Frank, on the other hand, received a slightly more favourable response from his family of origin:

**Frank:** I told my family about Simon and they were not too bad because I was able to explain it.

Sharing information with an audience wider than the family unit is a risk for parents but it can also have some positive results. It can help facilitate a level of understanding within the broader community the parents and children are involved in, and ultimately result in more support.

#### Pam and Mike

**Pam:** I do not think that as far as losses and disappointments [were concerned] I think that everything has been tuned into being positive really. The phone call, I did not know the lady from a bar of soap, [she] was ranting and raving at me about how Thomas cut her daughter's tee shirt and jumped on her lunchbox. I said on the phone do you actually realise that he has got autism? ... At that point, we wrote a

letter to the kindy, we made a copy for every child's pocket for notices that go home to the parents. I think it was then a case of 'how to win friends and influence

people' we had so many people ringing us, saying we really admire you for what you have done, it was so really good to have an explanation telling us how Thomas

ticks ... It was a positive outcome to a nasty phone call.

9.7.2 Survey findings: Negative and positive impacts

Like the case study participants, survey participants in this study shared information about their

child's diagnosis and the implications of this with a diverse range of people. The relationships

within which this sharing happened included professional, family and social, and, as one

participant identified, an online forum whereby the internet became a forum for information

sharing.

**Jane:** Professionals, family, partner, friends, other parents of children with an ASD

diagnosis and counsellor.

**Nicole:** Family, friends.

**Brenda:** Friends, parents of other children with an ASD diagnosis.

**Freda:** Professionals, family, partner, friends other parents with an ASD diagnosis.

**Jill:** Family, partner, friends, other people with an ASD diagnosis.

Samantha: For me and my son, we are lucky we can speak to each other ... since setting up [a] web site forum, speaking to other people on the autism spectrum

there

Participants used various avenues to share the negative and positive aspects of an ASD

diagnosis. Interestingly, some parents found that a negative situation can be reframed in to a

positive one when an explanation regarding the reason for their child's 'odd' behaviour is given.

By explaining the reasons why the child behaved in particular way increased the level of

understanding.

## 9.7.3 Service providers: negative and positive impacts

The service providers provided a different slant to that of the parent's perspective:

**Service B**: [Families getting used to the realisation that] it is not the child they expected to have, or the life that they expected to have from that. Therefore, the grief and the anger [may] last for years in lots of cases

The level of impact ASD had on a family could be varied with the degree of the impact being dependent upon the severity of the condition.

**Service A**: I think the challenges facing some families is just maintaining day to day care and day to day reality or normality, call it what you like.

**Service C**: ... it depends whereabouts [on the Autistic Spectrum]. Some children have a very mild form which affects their behaviour or severe autism where impacts are immense.

Impacts can be more subtle – and perhaps invisible to those around the family. They can be about the need to change family routines to accommodate the needs of the child with ASD or the amount of time that can be devoted to an Autistic child's siblings.

**Service A**: It varies so much because it depends on the individual, often that family's life and daily organisation focuses around the person with ASD, the planning, what you can fit in a day, all that sort of thing often would be totally organised in order to accommodate that person with ASD.

Stress would be a likely outcome in a family coping with a member with ASD. Importantly, some service provider participants noted that the source of the stress may not necessarily be the family:

**Service A**: Accessing education, accessing services, getting respite care - all of those things are challenges really.

**Service D**: The main themes that are reported from families re the negative impacts of disability seem to come more as a result of lack of diagnosis, which hampers

effective interventions, negative experiences with service providers, lack of appropriate supports and services, lack of awareness of extended family, friends, and wider community re disability issues. These things can result in high stress levels.

The positives are that families say it changes their priorities, they have more empathy and understanding of others, and they value their own family more.

Support issues/needs may extend to later in life. Research has shown that in many instances, the child with ASD remains in the family into adulthood.

**Service B**: What are they going to do when they grow up, are they going to be able to move away, am I going to be able to get the right level of support for them to do that so that I feel ok? . . . Otherwise, it comes back on families and they have got their child living with them right through adulthood and that can impinge on the things they may like to do personally, but are unable to do so as a result.

One service provider is in agreement with the family's assertions that they have access to limited choices and those choices are not always of the quality that they would wish for their child.

**Service E**: I think it is a case of limited options and opportunities and a low standard of quality of those options and opportunities as well. From discussions I have had with parents it is the transition of a young person from school to post school life is a flawed process and there are many challenges and unanswered questions and a lot of anxiety attached to that. I think parents are often left out of the loop and are not informed in the way in which they need to be.

It is when the parents of children with ASD age that difficulties can arise when circumstances dictate that the parents were no longer able to care for their child.

**Service B**: ... they have got their child living with them right through adulthood...... It may not always be appropriate because come the day when something happens for Mum and Dad, these people are left in no mans land and having to cope or move on to something else to some sort of independent living that can be much harder to do when they are older.

The limited opportunities for people with ASD and their families have been noted elsewhere.

The limitation may be caused by a lack of knowledge on behalf of the parents regarding where to go for support or the limitation may be a conscious act on behalf of the provider in an attempt

to protect the limited resources the provider had at their disposal. It may be that the resources that the parent required were not available.

**Service E**: Many parents do not know where to go to, whom to put questions to, what options and opportunities that actually exist. Inherent in that process is the fact that there are many gate keepers along the way and they can choose which information is passed on and what information is not. I think how a process unfolds to a large degree would depend upon the attitude and philosophy of individuals.

Outcomes may differ if the parents were better equipped with the necessary resources and knowledge about how to access the resources they needed. The resources the family had at their disposal could be used to combat the gatekeepers.

### 9.8 Education

'Special Education 2000' is a policy framework that sets out disability support services for all students. Its intention is to enhance educational opportunities for all children with disabilities regardless of the type. Schooling for children with ASD is primarily provided within a mainstream setting. Where required, supports are put in place so that the child can take part in classroom activities. An Individual Education Programme (IEP) is formulated for each child and it is from this that unique needs are established and learning supports provided. In the case of a child with Asperger's syndrome, supports may not necessarily be confined solely to the classroom.

## 9.8.1 Case study findings: Education

Participants in this study utilised a number of educational opportunities. The two families in the case study part of this study spoke openly about their experiences of pursuing quality education for the sons and of the role of the teacher aide in this process.

#### **Mavis and Frank**

**Frank**: [Two service providers] have sent their reports to the Ministry of Education and then supposedly, we get so many hours of teacher aide support in the classroom. It is the wrong sort of support. [Anton] does not need support learning his ABCs and that is all he got time for.

Mavis and Frank were aware that the support that Anton needed was with social skills outside of the classroom rather than during class time. They thought that a more appropriate form of support would have been targeted intervention to help him develop skills in social interaction with the other students.

#### Pam and Mike

Thomas attends his local school and receives mainstream schooling. Teacher aide hours had not been allocated but were available, if needed. However, teacher aide time had been used in the past.

Pam: Thomas has used [teacher aide time], for the first eighteen months he had somebody everyday for a half to one hour every day.

Mike: Through his transition to school, he had his teacher aide.

Pam: Transition to school between kindy and school he had a teacher aide and a speech language therapist.

Mike: [Thomas] accesses the special needs department at the school for work with his <sup>24</sup>Neo Writer and things like that. He's not over there all the time but if there is something he needs assistance with they will sort it out for group activities or individual stuff.

Pam: The Neo Writer has been funded through the Ministry of Education while he is at the school. Thomas has another eighteen months at the school and he can use the writer until he leaves [to go to high school]. By then hopefully he will be skilled enough to use a laptop which we will probably fund because there is a gap in the <sup>25</sup>ORRS funding, he does not get ORRS funding. We have had an Individual Education Plan (IEP) done at school.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Similar to a laptop computer, the Neo Writer has been developed as a writing tool for use in schools (http://www.spectronics.co.nz/product/neo-2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The Ministry of Education's Ongoing Reviewable Resourcing Scheme

**Mike**: We have just started it up again; we were getting a bit concerned [about] heading into high school and getting some things put in place.

**Pam**: We just thought that he was going to start slipping through gaps so we pushed for it to happen. It [the IEP] has now been implemented which is good.

**Mike**: One (the IEP) needed to be done for the Neo Writer so it carried on from there.

Continuity is important in the life of someone with ASD the same principles that apply to routine, apply to the persons working with them in the support sector. If a support person was working with someone on a regular basis, the same appointment time and day of the week would be of benefit. In some circumstances, change is inevitable because of changes in staff or funding allocations.

**Pam**: [School] has been quite hard for Thomas because he is up to teacher number four for the year so there has been a change in teachers [each term] since the beginning of this year. But, teacher four is quite onto it. He met with us one day and talked to us about the IEP and has his 'finger on the button'. He admits that he does not know a lot about autism but he is happy for us to give him answers, he is good, he is just a young guy.

Mike and Pam thought the educational support had been focussed on autism, and because the school had a reputation for providing good support to persons with ASD, moving to an address within the school's zone was seen as an option.

**Mike**: We moved into the area because of Thomas' autism [and] because of the school's zone. The school was known for catering for special needs. At the time, the chap who was head of the special needs department we knew of so we got ourselves positioned so that we would be in the school's zone. That was our prime motivation for moving to this part of town.

**Pam**: We also moved because there was a kindy close to the school we felt we needed the kindy as well so that there would be less change.

## 9.8.2 Survey findings: Education

Among the survey participants, children received mainstream schooling either with or without teacher aide support. Those whose children received teacher aide support commented:

**Nicole**: Five hours [per week], increased one on one to aid learning difficulties and socialisation with peers.

Jill: Two hours, [it] could always be more but the school does what they can.

Some studies (Khouzam, El-Gabalawi, Pirwani & Priest, 2004; Carrington & Graham, 2001) have shown that while a child was adequately catered for in class, there was often an issue with social skills while outside of class. Consistent with previous research and participants in the case study section of this study, Jane also found that support with social skills issues was needed rather than receiving in-class support:

**Jane**: My son needs help with playing with other children so he can learn to interact and to meet any needs for calming himself without resorting to throwing or hitting.

**Samantha**: As my child is high functioning and is doing ok, there is no real support or services available. [I] did try and talk to his school, [their] response was he is ok.

As each person with ASD has different needs any support that is given should mirror those needs rather than provide a support package that is designed to fit all.

**Samantha**: ASD is a lifetime difference which needs to be recognised and differences supported ... as we are all individuals, each person needs to be assisted properly ...

Data showed that participants had received varying amounts of support. While in some cases inclass support was available, the need to offer support in an out-of-class setting was a consideration that was overlooked. Each special needs student is eligible for an IEP that details the type of supports required and the supports given should be based upon the need of the individual student.

**Freda**: Base [support] on need, equal weight [should be] given to the parent's perspective [of what that need is].

A school's ability to provide support has a bearing on the amount and type of support that is provided. Participants received varying amounts of support which was mainly in the form of inclass support by way of teacher aides.

A situation may arise where schooling in a classroom setting was not appropriate necessitating the need to home school a child. A completely different set of supports is required when a child is home schooled which can become a costly option and could cause some difficulty if a family's financial resources was limited.

## 9.8.3 Service providers: Education

The service providers offer a range of education services that would be either utilised for staff training and development or by someone with ASD. Both Service A and Service B offer professional training to other organisations as well as individual clients. Support is offered to families while they access support provided by the education or health systems.

**Service A**: Generally they [families] need a lot more support than the health system or education system [will provide] ... It's getting harder and harder to access Ministry of Education and Ministry of Health funded services.

**Service D**: At a national level we campaigns to raise awareness of disability to the community. We have a Disability Education and Awareness team, who go out to train organizations and schools. Where requested we provide information for parents and support them to access opportunities for more information e.g. a relevant course. We provide information to schools, which is often specific information for schools on an individual child

Educational opportunities may also be provided to clients on the Autistic Spectrum as part of the organisation's overall service provision.

**Service E**: [We provide a range of options] that would include training and education, we provide some of that training and education ourselves in the form of our <sup>26</sup>ASDAN teaching and learning programme which is an <sup>27</sup>NZQA recognised

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Award Scheme Development and Accreditation Network

teaching a learning development programme developed in the United Kingdom which covers a range of foundation learning opportunities for people. We also link people with other training and opportunity providers. That could be courses at Hagley Community College or <sup>28</sup>CPIT or other private training establishments. For example, we have recently formed a relationship with an adult literacy and numeracy training provider so we have had a number of individuals go through courses there.

The type of vocational training offered is designed to enhance a client's employment prospects with a view to the client obtaining either full or part time employment.

**Service E**: In the last two or three years we have also a transition from schools service so we have someone currently working in a very part time capacity which is an add on to their main role. That is working with ORRS funded people in their last year at school in a way that is a brokerage type of approach so that is about working with that person, establishing their goals and aspirations post secondary school and then working with relevant agencies, organisations and so on to assist in linking people into those options. Employment support is our most recent additions to our suite of services. This year we have supported eleven people into paid work which is very pleasing, so that is continuing to evolve.

Educational support is provided at numerous levels, the first type of support received is likely to be within a classroom setting with the support mainly given in the form of teacher aide hours. The amount of time that is provided varies depending on the resources of the individual school. When a school has a reputation for providing support to students with disabilities, an option the parents have is to move to an address that is within that school's zone. Home schooling is an option where education within a classroom environment is inappropriate. This may present challenges when a family's resources are limited.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> New Zealand Qualifications Authority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Christchurch Polytechnic Institute of Technology

## 9.9 Home schooling

## 9.9.1 Case study findings: Home schooling

#### **Mavis and Frank**

Simon is home schooled because of his inability to cope in a mainstream environment. There had been concern when he became suicidal if he was not removed from a classroom environment. The cost of home schooling placed financial pressure upon the family. Examples of the costs involved included the provision of work books and CD ROMs.

**Mavis**: Workbooks that you buy from Whitcoulls, if it does not get into the Simon's special interest, or it is not something that will interest him then you can forget about it. The way that they explain it (subject), if they do not go step by step, nice little baby steps onto each thing then it is incomprehensible to him. Also, CD ROMs, you have to have the interactive type like Whinny the Pooh series in maths and reading.

As the parents had indicated, there are costs involved while home schooling a child. In cases where there is financial hardship, Work and Income is often an agency that is approached for support. In recent years, Work and Income's culture of informing clients of their rights and entitlements has changed and they inform people of what their entitlements are. For persons with internet access, copies of a list of entitlements can be downloaded from their website. When approaching Work and Income for assistance to home school their child, their experience differed from announced policy:

**Mavis**: Oh Work and Income, I do believe that they have a policy of not informing you of what you are entitled to, to keep costs down. Why do I have this theory? Many, many appointments, many, many applications, there was only one time I ever got help for Simon's swimming classes. They fought it; they said that home schooling was a personal choice. I said it was not a choice because Simon became suicidal and tried to hurt himself with sharp knives when he was six due to an inability to cope with the mainstream school system.

9.10 Additional support avenues available to the family

Families may make use of a number of support agencies. Types of support that would be used

could include assistance with house work, membership of a parent's group, such as Autism New

Zealand's Canterbury branch where parents can meet others who have children on the Autistic

Spectrum. Networking through this type of group would enable the exchange of information.

A community support worker or other type of support could also be involved. The type of

support that may be given could range from supporting the child in leisure activities to in the

case of older clients, assistance with finding a job. Arguably, one of the more useful roles that a

community support worker could take would be giving the parents the opportunity of having

some time-out. A number of participants made use of some type of support.

9.10.1 Case study findings: Additional support avenues

**Mavis and Frank** 

Mavis: When I was in acute needs, the support worker was only coming in to see

Simon for an hour a week.

**Frank**: She would take him for a walk down to the play ground, let him have a look

in the toyshop and that was it.

Mavis: Unfortunately, she put on the pressure to return Simon to mainstream

schooling in two years ... they only got six months worth of funding.

Frank: That is the thing too, the kid is going to be permanently on the spectrum but

you only get six months of support, they must be thinking they will be able to solve

all the issues in six months.

As with most of the support available, its availability is subject to available funding. As Frank

observed, when a condition is lifelong support is liable to be required throughout a person's life.

## 9.10.2 Survey findings: Additional support avenues

Support for siblings may also be used, in some situations. The additional stresses a child with ASD brings to a family could impact on the siblings. For a younger sibling it could be the lack of a playmate or in the case of an older sibling, problems could arise from the amount of time required to cater for the autistic brother or sister.

**Jill**: Parent to Parent - Support for self and sibling programmes, CCS Disability Action: Support for ASD child and parents. [I] have been very grateful for any and all support.

As the Autistic Spectrum covers such a wide area and the needs are so varied, the support that is available may be lopsided. Services for persons on the lower functioning end of the Autistic Spectrum may be more plentiful, whereas for higher functioning members, shortage of services was the case. It is possible to argue that prioritisation of services is the cause because of the assumption that a higher functioning individual would be better equipped to cope on their own.

**Brenda**: Very little available for Asperger's, Autistics have a lot more care/provisions available to them. Aspies are just expected to get on with it

While this may indeed be the case, there would be certain areas, social skills for example, where support was needed. Gaps in service provision for higher functioning members of the ASD community were identified during the preparation process of the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' and these should be addressed when services suggested by the guideline are rolled out.

# 9. 11 Early Bird Programme: An education programme for

## families of children with ASD

The Early Bird programme was developed by the National Autistic Society in England and was subsequently modified and adopted for use in New Zealand. It is essentially a programme to

educate the parents of children with ASD so that they are placed in a better position to cope with

their child's behaviour and to help develop their child's communications skills. The Ministries of

Education and Health jointly fund the programme and it is administered by Autism New

Zealand. The term 'Early Bird' relates to the programme being offered to parents soon after a

diagnosis of ASD has been received (Birkin, Anderson, Moore & Seymore, 2006). A number of

research participants in this study have previously taken part in the Early Bird programme.

9.11.1 Case study findings: Early Bird programme

Pam and Mike

Pam: We did that when Thomas was four, just before he started school; it was a bit

'airy fairy'.

The style of delivery was seen to be a limiting issue of the programme's effectiveness.

**Pam**: They [the facilitators] treated us parents as being a group of school kids.

An advantage of using a group situation to deliver the course was that it enabled the participants

to exchange information with one another and to learn for other peoples' experiences.

**Pam**: We gleaned more information from the other parents more than the facilitator.

You were kind of made to feel that you had to go. You could not say that you could

not go next week because it did not suit.

A difficulty in providing a course of this type would be achieving a common ground on which to

base the course when individual participants' needs and circumstances varied.

Pam: It did not make a whole lot of difference to us because we were more

proactive than they wanted us to be kind of thing.

### 9.11.2 Survey findings: Early Bird programme

It should be noted that at the time participants in this study used the Early Bird programme, it had only just been introduced and that as time passed, the Early Bird programme would have evolved. Nevertheless, it is useful to hear the experiences of families accessing this programme in order that services continue to develop programmes in this vein.

Jane: The good part was [the] home visits by the facilitator who could address our individual needs. The part that did not work was that we were [the] only family in our intake dealing with [an] Asperger's type child and most of the course was pitched at those who did not have speech ... much information although [of] high quality, was delivered in a somewhat rote manner of reading from printed material, this made it hard to pay attention to.

By visiting the parent's home, the facilitator would be in a better position to evaluate individual circumstances and in so doing, be in a better position to cater for the unique needs of individual families. A potential drawback would be the necessity for the Early Bird programme to cater for families with children right across the Autistic Spectrum.

Increasing parents' knowledge of ASD would place them in a better position to cope with the demands ASD placed up on them. An advantage of group participation would be that parents would be able to discuss elements of the course with each other thereby obtaining an improved understanding of ASD. In addition, an opportunity to extend individual networks would provide further benefits.

# 9.12 Living location

Families make decisions about where they reside based on a multitude of factors including financial considerations, proximity to workplaces, lifestyle choices, support services, friends and family. When a family member has ASD, other factors may be part of the decision-making

process. For instance, sensory issues can play a major role with ASD, or the need for a secure environment away from major traffic routes may influence any decisions about where the family will live. Furthermore, school zoning may play a part where a family moves to be in the zone of a school that has a reputation for providing the type of educational support required by the family.

## 9.12.1 Case Study Findings: Living location

#### **Mavis and Frank**

Mavis and Frank's choice of living location was determined by the availability of housing rather than their two children having ASD.

#### Pam and Mike

Identifying a school that catered for the needs of a child with ASD and moving to live in that zone served by it was a conscious decision for Pam and Mike.

**Mike:** We moved into the area because of Thomas' autism [and] because of the school's zone. The school was known for catering for special needs. At the time, the chap who was head of the special needs department we knew of so we got ourselves positioned so that we would be in the school's zone. That was our prime motivation for moving to this part of town.

**Pam:** We also moved because there was a kindy close to the school we felt we needed the kindy as well so that there would be less change.

Adapting to change has been identified as a major issue for people on the Autistic Spectrum, as a period of transition is normally required for an child with ASD to adjust to a new environment and routine. Pam and Mike's decision to live in the area was also based on the practical consideration of how they could facilitate school visits from the local kindergarten, before their child started school. They were also aware of the advantage of their child already knowing some of the class members with whom they had been at kindergarten.

## 9.12.2 Survey findings: Living location

Survey participants resided in a mixture of town and country areas, and contrary to expectation, none of these participants identified that their choice of living location was associated with their child's ASD.

## 9.13 Alternative Treatments and Fads

As work on this thesis progressed it became apparent that a section that should be covered was the impact that alternative treatments and fads had on some of the ASD population. As the questionnaires had already been completed, a question regarding alternative treatments and fads was included in the case studies and the service provider interviews only.

When families are faced with a developmental condition where conventional medicine has no cure, it is not surprising that alternative methods are pursued by parents who are striving to do the best for their child.

As noted in earlier chapters, ASD has been described as 'A late 20<sup>th</sup> century fad magnet' (Metz, Mulick & Butter, 2005). A stock standard Google internet search will uncover many different treatments purporting cures that are unsupported by scientific evidence that could ultimately cost thousands of dollars. As has been noted, parents of newly diagnosed children may be in a situation where they are willing to consider any type of cure. It is this vulnerability, coupled with their sense of grief and loss, or impacts on family functioning that could lead to a search for a cure for their child. They may also be driven by desire for their child would have a chance of leading a 'normal' life. Participants were asked if they had tried or were aware of any alternative treatments or fads.

### 9.13.1 Case study findings: Alternative treatments and fads

#### Pam and Mike

At the time of the case study interview, their son Thomas was taking part in the Dore Programme. The Dore Programme is marketed as a drug free alternative treatment for persons with Developmental Dyslexia, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Dyspraxia and Asperger's syndrome. The programme is based on the assumption that 'Cerebellar Developmental Delay' is the cause of the child's problems and that the problems could be overcome by a regime of exercises focussed on the development of balance and motor skills which include among others, balancing on a wobble board and throwing and catching bean bags twice a day for ten minutes. The exercises are intended to stimulate cerebellar development that in turn would lead to an improvement in reading and social skills.

### 9.13.2 Service Providers: Alternative treatments and fads

In a system where services are administered locally and deinstitutionalisation is a feature of the care of people with a range of support needs, including ASD, family have a lot of responsibility and choice. However, the range of choice can be vast and the views about efficacy and relevancy of treatments polarising. This is something that service providers are aware of:

**Service A**: Yes there are lots, if something works for somebody then that is fine. But you are not going to cure autism, you are going to manage it and you are going to try and minimise the impacts of ASD There are people who support a biomedical approach. There are people who support different behavioural management programmes such as ABA therapy, the Dore programme, the Hannah programme. Yes sometimes there are positives but you have got to be very careful that if you do access a so called alternative therapy it is done with professional consultations.

It can be argued that merchants selling alternative treatments/cures for autism are taking advantage of people when they are at their most vulnerable - post diagnosis. The vulnerability of families is noted by one service provider participant:

**Service A**: There is a lot of stuff on the Internet that is very emotive and out of control and it can become incredibly expensive; it can overtake everybody's focus. You do have to be careful about so called alternative therapies. Some people have had results that they say are absolutely credited to whatever therapy they are using. You have to be wary ... there is a lot of hype around and you should be very careful around how scientifically evidence based the research is and quite often it is subjective, based on a very small sample base and I think that anything that talks about curing and totally controlling needs to show it can be substantiated by evidence based research.

Advertising of some treatments are often supported by research purporting the effectiveness of the treatment and frequently feature testimonials from 'satisfied' customers. Evaluation of the research has often found that the research techniques were flawed or based upon subjective opinions rather than scientific fact.

**Service D**: The majority of the families I work with would not have the discretionary funding to pay for any interventions, therapies etc. that are outside the government funded ones. There are numerous interventions available to address most concerns, some funded and some not. I have not heard of any 'alternative' therapies in recent times.

While arguably no longer a fad, Applied Behaviour Analysis (ABA) has been used by many people. The younger the child with ASD is when they begin ABA, greater success seems gained with this intervention method and therefore the longer they may be involved in it. Because of the intensity of the programme - up to 40 hours of therapy a week, the costs involved can be high. With any type of conventional or alternative treatments, costs are involved.

**Service B**: There are people out there who are spending big money on ABA, on various therapies that they hear about because they think it is going to be the answer to their prayers. They mortgage their houses in order to pay for it. If they do not do that and they have not got a home of their own, they will go without firewood and food to pay for these things because I have seen it. And, I have seen children of similar abilities who have never had those inputs but have had the traditional way of

working using visuals and social stories who have done just as well if not better. We are all individuals and it is the parent's right to choose and that is the way it should be but not to the extent of them missing out on quality of life that is going to be detrimental [to rest of the family].

Scope exists for alternative therapies to be used where there was evidence to support the effectiveness of the treatment or when other organisations had the necessary experience.

**Service E:** I am aware that in the whole area of autism there are a lot of fads, we are not prone to follow fads or trends that do not have any evidence basis to them, where things move out of a realm of experience, we would liaise with whomever would be the most appropriate person, people or agency ... we would not go off and do something because somebody said it was a good idea.

It will be remembered that ASD impacts on communication with others; in some situations a facilitator (not necessarily human) could be used to establish a means of communication.

**Service C**: There was a film about a young <sup>29</sup>boy. [His parents] were having real issues with his autism. They bought him a puppy and just by a fluke, he responded to a question [they asked] by pretending [it was the puppy who asked it], they actually communicated through the dog in the third person.

Alternative treatments for ASD abound, some may be helpful to control the symptoms and improve a child's level of functioning but not deliver a cure. It is possible to argue that because the cause of autism has yet to be established, it is not possible to cure of the disorder. The cost of any alternative intervention would be a consideration for some families. In some situations, the costs could result in hardship being experienced by family members. Service providers do have scope for trialling alternative remedies where evidence suggests that there has been some effect. Outside expertise could also be utilised in situations where a lack of experience existed.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> After Thomas (2006)

9.14 Perceptions of support provided by Autism New Zealand

Autism New Zealand's National Office is located in Wellington; they have a network of

branches throughout New Zealand. Each branch provides a number of support avenues.

According to their web site (http://www.autismnz.org.nz/Branches/Canterbury.php) support

offered by the Canterbury branch includes:

• Support group meetings in Christchurch, Darfield, Rangiora and Timaru

• Holiday Programmes in Christchurch & Timaru

Social Activities

• Regular E news keeping families up to date with happenings

• Quarterly Branch newsletters

• Local fundraising initiatives

• Workshops, training opportunities, parent education and information

• Monday Night Young Adult Support Group

The majority of participants in this project had used the services of Autism New Zealand's

Canterbury branch. Parental training courses arranged by the branch and the holiday programme

were two of the major services that were used. The library and the branch newsletter 'Mind

Matters' were two other tools participants used.

9.14.1 Case study findings: Support provided by Autism New Zealand

In common with participants in the survey, the families in the case study were involved with

Autism New Zealand in a range of ways and had multiple points of contact with the service.

**Mavis and Frank** 

**Frank**: The Canterbury branch, we get their newsletter.

Mavis: We did go on that behaviour modification seminar which we paid for, and

another which [we were given] tickets for.

Pam and Mike

139

Pam and Mike have been appreciative of the services that the branch offered. The tickets to the

rugby were viewed as a special treat that enabled the family to have an unexpected break.

**Mike**: Holiday programme, we get their newsletter, we have used their library but

not very often.

**Pam**: They gave us some free rugby tickets. They sent an email through saying you could get a pair of them. We knew that Thomas would not use them so Mike and David went. We got respite care with them; it was probably nice too for Thomas not

to have David here for the evening. Nigel and I hired a movie and we had popcorn

lollies and things.

9.14.2 Survey findings: Support provided by Autism New Zealand

Most survey participants had some involvement with Autism New Zealand's Canterbury branch

and a number were very positive about the services they received.

Jane: The courses have been quite good, coffee mornings good. [I] wish they had

[an] online forum ...

Depending on a family's circumstances, costs of accessing services was seen as a problem for

some.

Nicole: The cost of transport and postage to access some resources available can

make it even harder to access the services provided.

Those who had used the Canterbury branch's services were satisfied

**Freda**: [The service received was] absolutely outstanding.

Out of the services offered by the branch the following were used:

Jill: Information, advice, library books, courses and seminars, support group, school

holiday programme.

140

With any service provided there will be people who do not feel that their needs are being met. It seems likely that when we are discussing a specialist service for a heterogeneous group of people, such as those with ASD, there will be some people who feel that there needs are not being met. Some participants in this study indicated that their support needs were not being met or there was insufficient focus placed on people with Asperger's syndrome. Support for older people on the Autistic Spectrum was another area where some participants felt increased attention should be paid.

**Samantha**: I did approach Autism New Zealand, the only support I have had is to ask to sell raffle tickets to raise money for them, or help stuff envelopes [which was] not very inspirational.

**Brenda**: They have lost touch with their client base, are not meeting the needs of Asperger's [people] and their families, are not advocating for ASD persons and families, and are not proactive in housing, employment, recreational activities, not attending to the aging ASD population, not lobbying government for Ministry of Education and Ministry of Health changes.

Participants held varied opinions. A further explanation for this could be the expectations of support that were held by parents that could not be met. Resourcing could have also been a reason, or because the Autistic Spectrum covers such a wide range of conditions, services may have to be concentrated on particular areas that were funded adequately and had higher client numbers.

# 9.15 Summary

Participants to the survey/case studies came from varied locations. Five resided in the Christchurch city area while the remaining two lived outside of the city. All of the families had at least one family member with an ASD diagnosis.

Among the survey participants, ASD did not play a part in the family's choice of living location. However, one of the case study subjects moved so that they could reside in the zone of a school with a known reputation for providing quality disability support to students.

Counsellors together with family and friends were mostly used as avenues to share any positive or negative aspects parents had after the diagnosis was received. Contact with other parents with children on the Autistic Spectrum was also seen as a source of support, contact was established either via parents groups such as the one operated by Autism New Zealand's Canterbury branch or via the holiday programme, also run by the branch.

For some families, obtaining a diagnosis posed an obstacle when local public health services were used. Some parents felt that a lack of professional experience and knowledge of ASD hindered the diagnosis while others were informed on more than one occasion that a lack of resources precluded a diagnostic assessment. According to the experience of one participant who was referred to the Canterbury District Health Board's Child, Adolescent Health Service, staff appeared to have little practical knowledge of ASD. Long waiting lists caused additional problems for some families. One participant felt that during the assessment for her son, she was being judged for her son's condition while another encountered a reluctance to 'label' her child. As a diagnosis was required before an assessment of needs could be undertaken, services could not be accessed until that had been done. All persons were diagnosed prior to the release of the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline'. The guideline when implemented should assist with this process because of the procedures that have been devised to ensure a speedy diagnosis is received.

Most of the participants had a Needs Assessment undertaken and waiting times for it to be completed averaged about three months. Once in the 'system' the Needs Assessment was

reviewed on an annual basis. Some participants commented that the amount of support provided appeared to depend on the amount of knowledge the needs assessor had of ASD. An overall opinion was that the support offered was adequate. Carer support days designed for use as a means of informal support were provided to all participants and in the main, the number of days allocated was considered to be adequate. Respite care days (separate from the carer support days) were also available but was underutilised because of a lack of accommodation where there was suitably experienced staff.

Impacts varied. Acceptance from other family members or by professionals that something was wrong was seen to be an issue to some. A belief held among parents of higher functioning children was that as there was little outward sign that anything was wrong, it was difficult gain acceptance or understanding. The need to follow a structured life to accommodate an inflexibility to accommodate change placed pressure on other family members. For some, a lack of family spontaneity was an issue because of the need to plan activities in advance.

Financial impacts varied from family to family, and the extent that ASD impacted on each family was dependent on the family's financial position and the level of resources the family was able to provide, or had available. Sensory issues associated with ASD proved to be an additional expense. Finding basic items such as breakfast cereals or laundry detergent that had the right texture or did not leave a residue contributed to a family's costs. The cost of additional services or medications that were not covered by the health system provided difficulties for some.

Accessing financial support provided by Work and Income proved to be problematic when the case manager did not have knowledge of the impacts associated with ASD. One participant formed the impression that a veil of secrecy surrounded what the actual entitlements were and

that it was necessary to be familiar with what support was available before seeing the case manager.

The amount of educational support provided after the IEP was conducted depended on the amount of resources the school had at its disposal. Where support was provided it was mostly by the provision of teacher aide hours. A comment made was that in cases where a child had Asperger's syndrome, out- of-class support to help with social issues was more of an issue than actual learning support. Home schooling was used by one participant, and additional costs incurred with providing the necessary resources had proved to be an issue.

Services provided by the Canterbury Branch of Autism New Zealand had been used by many participants Coffee mornings and their holiday programme together with access to many of the branch's resources proved to be valuable. Families also utilised educational opportunities that were offered. The Early Bird programme and attending visits by visiting experts on ASD were examples of these. The branch had seen a period of positive change as staffing and resources improved. In general, the services that were provided received a favourable response from service users.

The survey's findings epitomised the belief that no two persons with ASD are affected in the same way, and because of this, the services that families utilised varied. What could be regarded as a common denominator was that all families utilised the carer support days that were allocated.

# Chapter 10

## **Discussion**

Despite the relatively small number of participants in the current study, it was possible to gain some understanding of the experiences of parents of a dependant with ASD. Good insights were elicited into the impacts on parents and family generally, as well as their experience of using ASD support services.

# 10.1 Summary of the study

This study provided a snapshot of the experiences parents of a child with ASD had while using services for people with ASD. As there is no agency that provides day to day support exclusively for persons on the Autistic Spectrum, agencies provide services from within their existing offerings – and for some agencies these are generic services for clients with a wide range of issues. Following a review of the literature and reports into services in this country, it appeared that there was a general lack of support for persons with ASD across the Autistic Spectrum. It seemed plausible that if a dedicated agency serving persons with ASD exclusively was established the service limitations would be addressed. While it was found that diagnostic services required substantial improvement, this research has shown that locally the families who participated were generally well supported by agencies providing services from within their own resources. The high cost involved in accessing some educational opportunities that were offered was noted as a barrier by some participants in this study.

There is limited research into the formal support needs and experiences of families caring for a child with ASD and it is interesting to note that some of the findings of this study are consistent with the study commissioned on behalf of the Autistic Association of New Zealand in 2001. Some of the deficiencies in service delivery that were evident over a decade ago have emerged as issues for participants in this study. In both studies participants reported a belief that there is a limited pool of skilled personnel who are capable of providing a timely diagnosis had hampered their ability to access support. During the process of obtaining a diagnosis for their child, some participants received the impression that their parenting skills were being judged by the diagnostician and that they were being held responsible for their child's behaviour. As a

diagnosis is often required before support services are accessed, improvements in this area are necessary.

Varying degrees of success of the needs assessment process were reported and it was found that the more familiarity the needs assessor had of ASD, the greater likelihood of suitable supports being made available. A further consideration that could influence the success of the needs assessment was parental expectation of the type of supports that were needed and the resources that were available to provide them. It was noted by some participants that while there seems to be plentiful support for children with autism there is a lack of support for children with Asperger's syndrome.

Respite care was seen as an important issue for participants in this study. Respite care provides carers with the opportunity to have a break from the constant demands of caring for a child with ASD. It is arguably one of the most critical supports available to carers who find themselves stressed or not coping. It will be recalled that one of the service gaps highlighted in the Casey Albury-Thomson manslaughter case was the lack suitable respite care.

Participants in this study felt that the dearth of suitably qualified respite care providers, who were willing to undertake this work for relatively limited financial gain was an issue. Issues around the provision of respite care have been identified as a problem area that will be addressed in the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline'. In contrast, carer support days, allocated as a means of obtaining informal support, were well utilised by participants in this study. The carer support allocations seemed to be much more able to be used by parents and seemed to provide crucial, if limited, support for parents who were not able to utilise respite care provisions.

Participants in this study described a range of personal and familial impacts associated with raising a child who has an ASD diagnosis. An impact that was common to most participants was the restriction of having to abide by strict routines placed on the spontaneity of family

activity and interaction with the extended family members. Some of the impacts for participants in this study arose out of other peoples misconceptions about ASD. Participants described a range of responses to the reactions of extended family or members of the community that included feeling the need to explain their child's behaviour to others, to make it clear that ASD is not a mental illness, and frustration when extended family members could not accept the fact that ASD is a life-long disability.

Additional semi-formal and informal supports were sought by some participants in the current study and these ranged from a community support worker to membership of parents' support groups. The Coffee group attached to the Canterbury branch of Autism New Zealand proved to be a popular choice. The Early Bird programme was used by two participants one was shortly after the programme was introduced and another later in the programme's development with varying experiences of success.

Families seek support from a variety of sources, including the internet. Some service providers commented on the alternative or 'fad' treatments that are widely advertised, and the high financial cost that some of them involved. One participant in this study utilised the Dore Programme and noted some success from the programme.

Routine and controlling the environment to minimise disruption are important in day-to-day life with someone with an ASD diagnosis. It had seemed possible that having a child with ASD would influence participants' decisions about residential location. However, unexpectedly, with the exception of one participant in this study who moved into the zone of a school with a proven reputation for catering for students with a disability, a family member with ASD did not determine the family's choice of residential location.

A number of participants utilised the support offered by 'Special Education 2000' and had IEPs in place. It was found that in some cases the support provided did not fit with the individual student when the support offered did not extend to social skills development outside of class. Continuity of teaching staff was an issue that was identified by one participant whose child had four changes of teacher in the same year.

One area that should not be overlooked is the contribution professional skills development provided by the two specialised ASD agencies to local services that are involved in the day to day support for persons with ASD. It is possible that their teaching opportunities have contributed to body of knowledge personnel working in the agencies possess – a cohort of workers that respondents were very positive about.

An issue that was common to most participants in this study was the need for them to be listened to and their needs to be understood. And, some of the parents were looking to the future when they raised the issue of services for adults with ASD.

A number of participants mentioned there was a lack of support services for adults with ASD, and this is an area that should be considered for future research and service development.

## 10.1.1 Participants in this study

The families who participated had at least one family member diagnosed with an ASD who resided in the Canterbury/West Coast area. With the exception of one, the choice of living location was not influenced by their child's ASD. The only exception was when one family moved into the zone of a school with a proven reputation for catering for students with a disability. The service providers who participated in this project were able to provide their perspective on service provision in an environment when resources in some areas were limited. All service providers were located in the Christchurch city area.

## 10.1.3 Limitations of the study

There are a number of possible explanations for the low participation rate in the survey part of this research. Some that are suggested include:

- Bearing in mind the amount of extra time required to manage a family with a child with
   ASD parents did not have the time available to complete the questionnaire.
- The questionnaire recalled the frustration encountered while seeking a diagnosis or using support services.
- It transpired that during the study period there were other studies being undertaken which could have led to 'survey overload'.
- Parents holding the opinion that as nothing had changed despite earlier research being undertaken, there was not much point in participating in another.
- The use of survey research as a method may not have been appropriate to the needs of the participant group. It may have been better to interview participants who may have welcomed the opportunity to talk to someone about their experiences.

Despite these limitations, some interesting and important information was shared and several key themes emerged in the analysis of the different survey data.

A limitation noted with the case study interviews was when some of the questions asked were not quite understood, this was overcome by modifying the question so that the context was understood but the meaning remained the same. A limitation common to both case study and service provider interviews was the potential to deviate off topic because of the varying avenues the conversation could take. To remedy the problem the original question was reiterated after a short time of discussion on the other topic.

# 10.1.4 Summary of key findings of this study

- The majority participants received their diagnosis via the public health system where
  delays were common whereas when the private health system was used, a diagnosis was
  obtained in a timelier manner.
- An assessment of needs had been obtained by most participants, it was found that the
  type of supports provided depended upon the degree of familiarity the needs assessor
  had of ASD.
- Respite care (as opposed to carer support which was found to be adequate) provision
  was seen by participants as an area that needed development because no formal support
  currently exists.
- Schooling was generally provided in the mainstream setting and those who had an Individualised Education Programme evaluation received the required supports.
- Services provided by the Canterbury branch of Autism New Zealand were utilised by many and were generally well received.
- A theme that occurred generally was that participants wanted to be listened to and their needs to be understood.

# 10.2 Key findings

**Diagnosis:** The majority of the survey participants had used the public health system to obtain a diagnostic assessment. A commonality in questionnaire responses was that there was a lack of understanding of ASD among professionals of the symptoms of ASD or there was a lack of available resources to make a diagnosis. An impression gained was that a system of 'gate keeping' was in place that restricted access to those who had the necessary experience. In contrast, those who had sought a diagnosis privately encountered little difficulty in obtaining a diagnosis for their child. Of course, private assessments are not an option for all parents, creating a tiered system of professional input and support.

As support services are accessed via a needs assessment, a diagnosis must be obtained before this can be obtained. Diagnostic delays seem to place an unnecessary burden on a family having to 'make do' while the diagnosis was being obtained. Local findings corresponded with the overseas literature and the 2001 Autistic Association of New Zealand study that highlighted the need for diagnostic assessments to be provided in a timely manner.

Needs Assessment: The perception of some participants in this study was that the amount and range of supports provided to a child with ASD depended upon the degree of familiarity the needs assessor had of ASD. Parental expectations (which could account for some dissatisfaction) were identified as an issue when services that were requested either did not exist or there was a lack of available funding to provide the service requested. A number of participants had children with Asperger's syndrome. A theme that was evident was there was little if any support available for these children. Generally the waiting time from applying for a needs assessment and it being done was in the region of two to three months which was considered to be satisfactory by many participants. However, a lack of staff continuity was seen as an issue.

Respite care/Carer support: Respite care is provided by a recognised provider and is intended to enable parents to have a break from their care-giving responsibilities. The 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' identified a need for the provision of suitable services. All participants reported there was a lack of suitable respite care services available for families to use. They generally attributed this to a lack of suitably trained staff. However, carer support days, which is a separate support allocation, was used by families to provide informal care for the child with ASD as this was seen as being more accessible. It will be recalled that it was a lack of respite care that was implicated in the Janine Albury-Thomson manslaughter case. This discrepancy has been recognised in the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' when respite care provision has been rolled out this need should be addressed.

**Special education:** Most of the children received their education in a mainstream setting. Special education needs are determined by an IEP which is regularly reviewed. Teacher aides

were used or the facility was available if needed. Understanding needs was seen as an issue. A comment made by one participant was that it was not in-class support that was needed which is what is provided but support during break times to assist with social skill development. Parental experience contrasted with the literature reviewed, poor resourcing was seen as an issue which limited support. It is likely that the reason participants did not encounter difficulty was because the schools concerned had adequate resources. As this study only concerned a small group of people, it is not possible to indicate whether or not this is the case generally.

Alternative treatments: There is currently no cure for ASD and, perhaps because of this gap, a world wide market of interventions that purport to treat ASD exists. Many of the cures or treatments advertised are not supported by research and are invariably expensive. A question regarding alternative treatments was added after the survey component was completed when it was realised important information could be learnt. It was added to the case study and the agency interviews. It was found that alternative treatments were used by members of the local community. One case study participant used the Dore Programme with some success. Some of the agencies were aware of a number of their clients using alternative treatments and were aware of the high financial costs that were involved with some of them.

The local experience was supported by overseas research which reported that many alternative treatments were being offered. With the exception of ABA (which is the only treatment recognised by the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline'), no other treatments reviewed were supported by reputable research.

**Autism New Zealand services:** Most participants utilised the services provided by Autism New Zealand's Canterbury branch. The trend reflected overseas research where support group membership was regarded as an important means of networking and sharing personal experiences. The importance of this specialist service and the identity that goes with it was clear from participants.

These points were seen as the key issues necessary to enable a family to function with a sense of normality. As a diagnosis is necessary to access most support services, obtaining one in a timely manner was seen as pivotal. Respite care or carer support was seen as a necessary component to reduce some of the pressure placed on families when a member has an ASD. Support in an education setting whether at school or at home would enable a higher quality of education to be obtained. Because of the inevitable high cost involved in procuring a 'cure' for ASD some awareness of the treatment fads that promise a cure and the potential pitfalls associated with them would act as a measure of protection against possible financial loss. Autism New Zealand's role with a family is seen as valuable because of their access to resources a family may need.

## **Conclusion**

The present study examined the experiences of parents of a member with Autism Spectrum Disorder and their experiences using informal and formal support services. It is important to note that some of the formal services are not primarily intended for persons with ASD.

An ASD diagnosis can be made from two years of age, and indicator that something could be wrong is when a child's developmental milestones are delayed or absent. The family's general practitioner is usually the first person consulted and this will normally result in a referral to a specialist service. However, access to specialist services, and the process of the child receiving an assessment for ASD was not always equal.

It has been argued that, within a context of moving to community care and increasing family responsibility for welfare and wellbeing, New Zealand has not had a very good record at service provision for people with ASD. These shortcomings were identified in an inquiry that followed the manslaughter conviction of Janine Albury-Thomson after the death of her autistic daughter Casey. The trial judge's intention, in calling for an inquiry, was to establish whether or not government policy was responsible for the Albury-Thomson family's predicament. The fact that the 'New Zealand Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline' in 2008 was an outcome of the inquiry suggests an acknowledgement that changes were needed and that government policy of the day had played a part in the tragic outcomes for the Albury-Thomson family. The guideline sets out a procedure that should be followed during a diagnostic assessment and sets a benchmark for the type of support families with a member with ASD should receive. Because diagnosing ASD can be difficult, specific guidelines are provided that should be followed by the diagnostician.

Participants in this study used either the public or private health system. Those families that had financial resources that enabled them to access private sector assessors obtained an ASD diagnosis for their child in a much timelier manner. Families using the public system experienced delays, at times felt judged, and in some circumstances, encountered a reluctance to diagnose at all. Consistent with the 2001 Autistic Association of New Zealand study, some participants in this study formed the impression that staff did not have the necessary skills with which to carry out an assessment for ASD.

Contemporary policy focus on efficiency targets and accountability for expenditure could contribute to the difficulty families described in obtaining a diagnosis. The reluctance to make a

diagnosis could be symptomatic of a system that avoids responsibility for the ongoing costs associated with supporting a family with a child with ASD.

It must be noted, however, that participants in this study received their diagnoses prior to the release of the 'New Zealand Autistic Spectrum Disorder Guideline' in 2008. As the guideline is intended to inform professionals on support that should be provided to people on the Autistic Spectrum, scope exists for future research to establish whether or not it has contributed to an improvement in service provision. Greater understanding of the needs and experiences of families of a child with ASD is likely to improve the services that are provided to help them.

All participants reported that a needs assessment had been completed and that supports were put in place. However, perceptions about the quality of the assessment were varied, with some participants pointing to variability in the level of understanding the needs assessor had of ASD. Generally the waiting time for the needs assessment to be undertaken was three months which participants in the current study generally found to be acceptable. A lack of support for people with Asperger's syndrome was an issue for some respondents in this study. Service providers had a slightly different perspective on the needs assessment process and purpose. One service provider respondent noted that the needs assessment provided a means of gate keeping to ensure the service maintained adequate funding with which to operate while another used it to access additional funding to provide support to high needs clients. Some provider respondents saw their role as offering support during the needs assessment process, and to the newly diagnosed child and their family.

All but one respondent reported that their child with ASD attended school. Experiences with special education supports varied across participants in this study, but teacher aide support was the most commonly utilised. The amount of teacher aide support given depended upon the resources available to the individual school. A comment made by one parent was that support was needed with social skills development outside of class room - support that was not available at that point in time. Further research is needed into the supports required within the education system.

Families that participated in this study had dealt with a range of impacts over a long period of time. Impacts ranged from financial costs involved in catering for sensitivities or allergies to more personal impacts arising from a lack of understanding within the extended family or

externally about the child's behaviour. Overall, the support offered by the Canterbury branch of Autism New Zealand was found to be a valuable resource; although the cost of some of the courses that were available was seen as a barrier to some families. Further research into the lifelong needs of families is going to be critical to ensuring services remain responsive to family needs as the children with ASD and their caregivers age.

A relatively low number of participants meant that it was not possible to provide a generalised account of how the average family with a dependent with ASD interacted with support services. It was however possible to provide an account of the experiences of the individual families who participated. Regardless of the small sample size, the findings from this research have the potential to improve the lives of children with ASD and their families through generating knowledge and informing service provision. Greater understanding of which services are needed at which times in the process of seeking and receiving a diagnosis of ASD for a child in the family is required and future research in this field may address this gap.

## References

- Aarons, M., & Gittens, T. (1992). *The handbook of autism: a guide for parents and professionals*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Alexander, A. W., & Slinger-Constant, A. (2004). Current status of treatments for dyslexia. *Journal of Child Neurology*, 19, 744-758. doi:10.1177/08830738040190100401
- Altman, B. (1981). Studies of attitudes toward the handicapped: The need for a new direction.

  \*Social Problems 28(3), 321-337. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/800306
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM IV-TR (4th ed: text revision.). Washington, DC:. Author.
- Aston, T. (1992). Reforms of the health services. In J. Boston & P. Dalziel (Eds.) *The decent society?* (pp. 146-168). Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Attwood, T. (1998). Asperger's Syndrome: A guide for parents and professionals. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Attwood, T. (2000). Strategies for improving the social integration of children with Aspergers syndrome. *Autism 4*, 85-100. doi:10.1177/1362361300004001006
- Attwood, T. (2006). Asperger's Syndrome. *Tizard Learning Disability Review, 11* (4) 4-11.

  Retrieved from http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/pavpub/tldr
- Autism New Zealand. (2011). Respite care: Results of our survey. *Thinking Differently*. Wellington, N. Z.: Author
- Autistic Association of New Zealand. (2001). The needs and the gaps in Services for families and individuals with an autism spectrum disorder. Christchurch, N. Z.: Author
- Baird, G., Cass, H. & Slonims, V. (2003). Diagnosis of Autism. *British Medical Journal*, *327*, 488-493. doi:10.1136/bmj.327.7413.488

- Barnes, J., & Harris, P. (2011). Still kicking? The royal commission on social policy, 20 years on. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 37(2), 1-13. Retrieved from http://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/journals-and-magazines/social-policy-journal/index.html
- Ballard, K. (1994). Disability: An introduction in K. Ballard (Ed.). *Disability, family, whanau* and society (pp.11-27). The Dunmore Press: Palmerston North.
- Bartleet, R. (2009). The ongoing and reviewable resourcing scheme: Policy and outcomes mismatch? *New Zealand Journal of Teachers' Work, 6(2),* 123-128. Retrieved from www.teacherswork.ac.nz
- Benderix, Y., Nordstrom, B. & Sivberg, B. (2007). Parent's experience of having a child with Autism and learning disabilities living in a group home: A case study. *Autism 10*, pp.629-641. doi:10.1177/1362361307070902
- Bettelheim, B. (1972). *The empty fortress: Infantile autism and the birth of the self.* 1st Free Press: New York.
- Birkin, C., Anderson, A., Moore, D., & Seymour F. (2006). *Literature review Early bird project*. Retrieved from http://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0010/7021/EarlyBird-full-report.pdf
- Bishop, D.V.M. (2007). Curing dyslexia and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder by training motor co-ordination: Miracle or myth? *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 43, 53-655. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1754.2007.01225.x
- Bolstad, R., & Hamblett, M. (2000). *Transforming communication: leading edge professional and personal skills*. Longman: Auckland.
- Boushey, A. (2001). The grief cycle: One parent's trip around. *Focus Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities 16*, 27-30. doi:0.1177/108835760101600107

- Boyd, B., Conroy, M., Mancil, G., Nakao, T., & Alter, P. (2006). Effects of circumscribed interests on the social behaviours of children with Autism spectrum disorders.

  \*\*Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders 37. 1550-1561. Doi 10.1007/s10803-006-0286-8
- Brauna, V. & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, *3*, 77-101.doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Bray, A. (2003). Definitions of intellectual disability: Review of the literature prepared for the National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability to inform its project on services for adults with an intellectual disability. Wellington: National Health Committee.
- Bray, A., & Gates, S. (2003). Community participation for adults with an intellectual disability. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.donaldbeasley.org.nz/publications/CommunityPart.pdf">http://www.donaldbeasley.org.nz/publications/CommunityPart.pdf</a>
- Brereton, A. (2008). Brothers and sisters: Sibling issues. Retrieved from http://www.med.monash.edu.au/spppm/research/devpsych/actnow/factsheet14.ht ml
- Broadstock, M. & Doughty, C. (2003). The effectiveness of pharmacological therapies for young people and adults with autism spectrum disorder (ASD): A critical appraisal of the literature. Christchurch: Christchurch School of Medicine.
- Brobst, J. B., Clopton, J.R., & Hendrick, S. S. (2009). Parenting children with autism spectrum disorders: The couple's relationship. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 24, 38-49. doi:10.1177/1088357608323699
- Brock, S.E., Jimerson, S.R. & Hansen, R. L. (2006). *Identifying, assessing and treating autism at school*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Bromley, J., Hare, D. J., Davison, K. & Emerson, E. (2004). Mothers supporting children with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, *8*, 409-423. Doi:10.1177/1362361304047224

- Bryman, A. (2001). Social research methods. Oxford University Press: New York.
- Brynard, P. (2003). Policy-making in the Okavango River basin. In A. Turton, P. Aston & E. Cloete (Eds.), *Transboundary rivers, sovereignty and development:*Hydropolitical drivers in the Okavango River basin (pp. 303-327). Pretoria:

  University of Pretoria.
- Calman, B. (2008). The great autism rip-off ... How a huge industry feeds on parents

  desperate to cure their children.

  Retrieved from http://www.dailymail.co.uk/health/article-1023351/ The-great-autism-rip---How-huge-industry-feeds-parents-desperate-cure-children.html#
- Campbell, J. & Oliver, M. (1996). *Disability politics: Understanding our past, changing our future*. Routledge: London.
- Carers NSW. (2005). Models of supported accommodation: A response to the DADHC discussion paper 'Models of supported accommodation for people with a disability'

Retrieved from http://www.carersnsw.asn.au/storage/pdfs/policyNew/Supported AccommodationApril05.pdf

- Carrington, S. B., & Graham, L. (1999). Asperger's Syndrome: Learner characteristics and teaching strategies. *Special education perspectives 8(2)*, 15-23. Retrieved from http://eprints.qut.edu.au/1719/
- Carrington, S. B., & Graham, L. (2001). Perceptions of school by two teenage boys with Asperger syndrome and their mothers: A qualitative study. *Autism 5:37-48*. doi:10.1177/1362361301005001004
- Carter, C. (2008). World first Autism Spectrum guideline launched. Retrieved fromhttp://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/world+first+autism+spectrum+guideline +launched+1

- Cavaye, A.L.M. (1996). Case study research: a multi-faceted research approach for IS, Information Systems Journal, 6, 227-242. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2575.1996.tb00015.x
- CCS Disability Action (2007). CCS Launch Disability Action. Retrieved from http://www.scoop.co.nz/stories/PO0706/S00340.htm
- Chapman, J. W. (1992). Learning disabilities in New Zealand: Where kiwis and kids with LD can't fly. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *25*, 62-370. doi:10.1177/002221949202500604
- Chen P. S., Chen, S. J., Yang, Y. K., Yeh, T. L., Chen, C. C., & Lo, H. Y. (2003). Asperger's Disorder: A case report of repeated stealing and the collecting behaviours of an adolescent patient. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavia 107*, 73–76. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0447.2003.01354.x
- Cheyne, C., O'Brien, M., & Belgrave, M. (2000). *Social policy in Aotearoa/New Zealand: A critical Introduction. Auckland*: Oxford University Press.
- Christison, G. W., & Ivany, K. (2006). Elimination diets in autism spectrum disorders: Any wheat amidst the chaff? *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 27(2), s161- s171. Retrieved from http://journals.lww.com/jrnldbp/pages/default.aspx
- Ciaranello, L. D., & Ciaranello, R. D. (1995). The neurobiology of infantile autism. *The Neuroscientist 1*, 361-367. doi:10.1177/107385849500100608
- Clements, J., & Zarkowska, E. (2000). *Behavioural concerns & autism spectrum disorders:*Explanations & strategies for change. Jessica Kingsley Publishers: London.
- Collins, S. (2005, June 27). Boy Has No Schooling for Four Years. *The New Zealand Herald,*p. 49. Retrieved from http://www.nzherald.co.nz/
- Coping with a different way of thinking (2008). *NZEI Rourou 19(12)*, 6-7. Retrieved from http://www.nzei.org.nz/site/nzeite/files/rourou/RR 2008 05.pdf

- Corr, C. A. (2002). Revisiting the concept of disenfranchised grief. In K. J. Doka (Ed.),

  Disenfranchised grief: New directions, challenges and strategies for practice

  (pp.40-59). Champion, Ill.: Research Press.
- Court of Appeal. (1998). *R v Albury-Thomson* [(1998) 16 CRNZ 79]
- Cresswell, J. W. (2009) Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publications
- Cribb, J. (2006). Agencies or stewards? Contracting with voluntary Organisations. *Policy Quarterly, (2),* pp. 11-17. Retrieved from http://ips.ac.nz/
- Dale, E., Jahonda, A. & Knott, F. (2006). Mother's attributions following their child's diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder. *Autism 10*, doi:10.1177/1362361306066600
- Dalziel, P. (1992). Policies for a decent society. In J. Boston & P. Dalziel (Eds.), *The decent society? (pp. 208-223)*. Melbourne: Oxford University Press.
- Deer, B. (2007). What makes an expert? British Medical Journal, 334 666-667. doi:10.1136/bmj.39146.498785.BE
- De Boer, A., Sip Jan Pijl, S. J., & Minnaert, A. (2010). Attitudes of parents towards inclusive education: A review of the literature. *European Journal of Special Needs*Education, 25, 165-181. doi:10.1080/08856251003658694
- Department of Labour. (2012). *The minimum wage*. http://www.dol.govt.nz/er/pay/minimumwage
- Devereux, S., & Cook, S. (2000). Does social policy meet social needs? *IDS Bulletin 31, 63-73*. doi:10.1111/j.1759-436.2000.mp31004007.x
- DiCicco-Bloom, B., & Crabtree, B. F. (2006) The qualitative research interview. *Medical Education*, 40, 314-321. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x

- Diefenbach, T. (2008). Are case studies more than sophisticated storytelling?: Methodological problems of qualitative empirical research mainly based on semi-structured interviews. *Quality & Quantity 43*, 875–894. doi:10.1007/s11135-008-9164-inclusive\_communities.doc
- Disabled Persons Assembly of New Zealand. (2004). *Inclusive communities: Guidelines*about disability For councils and district health boards. Retrieved from 
  http://www.dpa.org.nz/downloads/2004
- Dodd, S. (2004). Understanding Autism. Marrickville, N.S.W:Elsevier.
- Doka, K. J. (1989). Disenfranchised grief. In K. J. Doka (Ed.), *Disenfranchised grief:*\*Recognizing hidden sorrow (pp. 3-11). Lexington, MA.: Lexington Books.
- Duarte, C. S., Bordin, I. A., Yazigi, L., & Mooney, J. (2005). Factors associated with stress in mothers of children with autism. *Autism 9*, 416–427.
  doi:10.1177/1362361305056081
- Duff, P. A. (2007). Qualitative Approaches to Classroom Research with English Language

  Learners in J. Cummins & C. Davison (Eds.), *International Handbook of English*Language Teaching. Secaucus, NJ: Springer.
- Dunlap, G., & Bunton-Pierce, M. (1999). *Autism and autism spectrum disorder (ASD)*.

  Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED436068.pdf
- Dyck, E. (2008). *Psychedelic psychiatry: LSD from clinic to campus*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Easton, B. (1998). Road to Damascus: What is the third way? And what were the first two?

  Retrieved from http://www.eastonbh.ac.nz/?p=283
- Eikeseth, S., Smith, T., Jahr, E., & Eldevik, S. (2002). Intensive behavioural treatment at school for 4- to 7-year-old children with autism A 1-Year Comparison Controlled Study. *Behaviour Modification*, *26*, 49-68. doi:0.1177/0145445502026001004

- European Commission (2005). Some elements about the prevalence of autism spectrum

  disorders (ASD) in the European Union. Retrieved from

  http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph\_information/dissemination/diseases/autism\_1.pdf
- Findlay, M. (2009). *Dunedin Contextual Thematic History*. Retrieved from http://www.dunedin.govt.nz/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/97080/thematic-vol1-toc.pdf
- Fisman, S., Wolf, L., Ellison, D. & Freeman, T. (2000). A Longitudinal Study of Siblings of Children with Chronic Disabilities. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *45*, 369-375. http://www.cpa-apc.org/index.php
- Fitzpatrick, M. (2008). Defeating autism: A damaging delusion. Routledge: London.
- Fitzpatrick, M. (2009, January 12). *Toxic treatments for autistic children*. http://www.guardian.co.uk
- Fleischmann, A. (2004) Narratives published on the internet by parents of children with autism: What do they reveal and why is it important? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 19, 35–43. doi:10.1177/10883576040190010501
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2004). Five misunderstandings about case-study research. In C. Seale, G. Gobo, J. F. Gubrium, & D. Silverman (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice. (pp. 420-434)*. London: Sage.
- Folgheraiter, F. (2007). Relational Social Work: Principles and Practices. *Social Policy & Society 6*, 265–274.doi:10.1017/S1474746406003526
- Frith, U. (1989). Autism: Explaining the enigma. Blackwell Publishing: Malden
- Gallagher, S. A., & Gallagher, J. J. (2002). Giftedness and asperger's syndrome: A new agenda for education. *Understanding Our Gifted, 14(2),* 1-9. Retrieved from www.openspacecomm.com
- Giddens, A. (1998). *The third way: the renewal of social democracy*. Cambridge: Policy Press.

- Ghaziuddin, M., & Gerstein, L. (1996). Pedantic speaking style differentiates Asperger

  Syndrome from high-functioning Autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental*Disorders 26, 585-595. doi:10.1007/BF02172348
- Glass, P. (2001). *Autism and the family: a qualitative perspective*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Virginia, Falls Church, Virginia, United States of America.
- Glucina, J. (2008). *Couple fear subdivision's effects on autistic son*. East and Bays Courier.

  Retrieved from http://www.stuff.co.nz/auckland/local-news/east-bays-courier/757345
- Godfrey, R., Moore, D., Fletcher-Flinn, C. (2002). An evaluation of some programmes for children with autistic spectrum disorder in Auckland: Opportunities, contingencies, and illusions. Auckland: The University of Auckland.
- Goode, E. & Ben-Yehuda, N. (1994). *Moral panics: The social construction of deviance*.

  Oxford: Blackwell.
- Grant, J. G. (2002). *Deinstitutionalisation: Community living and quality of life for ex- Templeton centre residents*. Unpublished master's thesis for master's degree in Sociology, University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Grant, T. (2007). *The Rights of Disabled Children to an Inclusive Education*. Retrieved from http://www.ieag.org.nz/
- Gray, D. E. (1994). Coping with autism: stresses and strategies. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, *16*, 275-300. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9566.1994.tb00152.x
- Gray, D.E. (2006). Coping over time: The parents of children with autism. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. *50*, 970-976. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2788.2006.00933.x

- Greaves, A. (2003). *Special Education 2000: Rhetoric or reform? ACE Papers*. Retrieved from http://www.education.auckland.ac.nz/uoa/fms/default/education docsearch/foe/word/resdpaper/issue12/ACE Paper 4 Issue 12.doc
- Green, S. (1998 August 1). *HFA rejects inquiry into Casey's death. The Evening Standard, p.*1. http://www.stuff.co.nz/manawatu-standard/
- Green, V.A., Pituch, K.A., Itchon, J., Choi, A., O'Reilly, M., & Sigafoos, J. (2006). Internet survey of treatments used by parents of children with autism. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 27, 70-84. doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2004.12.002.
- Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (2004) Competing paradigms in qualitative research: Theories and issues, in Hesse-Biber, S. & Leavy, P, (eds.), *Approaches to Qualitative*\*Research: A reader on Theory and Practice. (pp. 17-38). Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Guion, L. A. (2002). Triangulation: Establishing the validity of qualitative studies. Retrieved from http://www.rayman-bacchus.net/uploads/documents/Triangulation.pdf
- Gupta, A., & Singhal, N. (2005). Psychosocial support for families of children with Autism.

  \*Asia Pacific Disability Rehabilitation Journal 16(2), 62-83. Retrieved from http://www.aifo.it/english/resources/online/apdrj/apdrj205/autism.pdf
- Hall, L. J. (2009). *Autism spectrum disorders: From theory to practice*. Upper Saddle River: Merrill.
- Hann, A. (2008, April 9). *Special Unit Pleads for Funding*. The Press, p. 5. http://www.stuff.co.nz/the-press/
- Hare, D., Pratt, C., Burton, M., Bromley, J., & Emerson, C. (2004). The health and social care needs of family carers supporting adults with autistic spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 8, 425-444. doi:10.1177/1362361304047225

- Hastings, R. P. (2003). Behavioral adjustment of siblings of children with Autism engaged in applied behavior analysis early intervention programmes: The moderating role of social support. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders 33*, 141-150. doi:10.1023/A:1022983209004
- Hastings, R. P., Kovshoff, H., Brown, T., Eespinosa, F. D., & Remington, B. (2005). Coping strategies in mothers and fathers of preschool and school-age children with autism. *Autism 9*, 377–391. doi:10.1177/1362361305056078
- Herbert, J. D., Sharp, I. R., & Gaudiano, B. A. (2002). Separating fact from fiction in the aetiology and treatment of autism: A scientific review of the evidence. *The Scientific Review of Mental Health Practice*, *1*, 23-43. Retrieved from http://www.srmhp.org
- Higgins, D. J., Bailey, S. R., & Pearce, J. C. (2005). Factors associated with functioning style and coping strategies of families with a child with an autism spectrum disorder.

  \*Autism 9, 125–137.doi:10.1177/1362361305051403
- High Court. (1998). R v Albury-Thomson [1998] T 37-97
- Hill, R. (2006, December 24). *The Lost Generation*. Sunday Star Times, p.8. Retrieved from http://www.stuff.co.nz/sunday-star-times/
- Hill, E. L., & Frith, U. (2003). Understanding autism: insights from mind and brain.
   Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society. (B) 358, 281-289.
   doi:10.1098/rstb.2002.1209
- Hilton, C. (2007). An exploration of the patient's experience of electro-convulsive therapy in mid-twentieth century creative literature: A historical study with implications for practice today. *Journal of Affective Disorders (97)*, 5–12. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2006.05.032

- Hoffman, C. D., Sweeney, D.P., Lopez-Wagner, M. C., Hodge, D., Nam, C. Y., & Botts, B.
  H. (2008). Children with Autism: Sleep problems and mother's stress. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities 23*, 155-165.
  Doi:10.1177/1088357608316271
- Holicky, R. (2000). *A labour of love: Beating stress in long-term caregiving*. Retrieved fromhttp://www.newmobility.com/articleViewIE.cfm?id=271
- Howlin, P. (1998). *Children with autism and Asperger Syndrome: A guide for practitioners and carers*. Chichester, NY: John Wiley.
- Howlin, P. (2004). *Autism and Asperger syndrome: Preparing for adulthood (2nd ed.)*.

  Routledge: London.
- Human Rights Commission. (2004). *Human Rights in New Zealand Today*. Retrieved from http://www.hrc.co.nz/report/summary/summary05.html#english
- Humphries, T.L. (2003). Effectiveness of Dolphin-Assisted Therapy as a Behavioral Intervention for Young Children with Disabilities. *Bridges Practice-Based Research Syntheses*, *1*(1), 1-7. Retrieved from http://www.evidencebasedpractices.org
- Hunt, A. (2000). *The lost years*. Anne Hunt: Christchurch
- Huws, J. C., Jones, R. S. P., & Ingledew, D. K. (2001). Parents of children with autism using an email group: A grounded theory study. *Journal of Health Psychology* 5, 569-584. doi:10.1177/135910530100600509
- Hyatt, K. J., Stephenson, J., & Carter, M. (2009). A review of three controversial educational practices: Perceptual motor programs, sensory integration, and tinted lenses. *Education and Treatment of Children 32*, 313-342. doi:10.1353/etc.0.0054
- Increased understanding: A Hutt Valley school provides tips for autism and other autism spectrum disorder professional development to all teachers. Retrieved from http://www.edgazette.govt.nz/articles.php?action=view&id=7443

- Internet Movie Database. (2009.) *Rain Man 1998*. Retrieved from http://www.imdb.com/title/tt0095953/
- IHC New Zealand (2008). Media release: *IHC takes discrimination complaint to Human*\*Rights Commission. Retrieved from 
  http://ihc.org.nz/Portals/0/News%20and%20Events/Media%20 Releases/2008-human-rights-commission-complaint.pdf
- IHC to keep pushing education complaint. (2012, January 2). *Radio New Zealand News*.

  Retrieved from http://www.radionz.co.nz/news/national/95112/ihc-to-keep-pushing-education-complaint.
- Jacobs, B. H. (2011). How can autistic intelligence be recognised and accommodated within an inclusive education framework? Retrieved from https://lra.le.ac.uk/handle/2381/9409
- Jarbrink, K., Fombonne, E., & Knapp, M. (2003). Measuring the parental, service and cost impacts of children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 33, 395–402.doi:0162-3257/03/0800-0395/0
- Johnston, L. (2007, December 18). School Head Slams Parents. The Marlborough Express,p. 1. Retrieved fromhttp://www.stuff.co.nz/marlborough-express.
- Kaminsky, L. & Dewey, D. (2002). Psychosocial adjustment in siblings of children with Autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 43*, 225-232. doi:10.1111/1469-7610.00015
- Kanner, L. (1943). Autistic disturbances of affective contact. *Nervous Child (2)*, 217-50, 1943. Retrieved from http://www.neurodiversity.com/library\_kanner\_1943.html
- Karande, S. (2006). Autism: A review for family physicians. *Indian Journal of Medical Science*, 60, 205-206. doi:10.4103/0019-5359.25683

- Khanna, R., Madhavan, S. Smith, M. J., Patrick, J. H., Tworek, C., & Becker-Cottrill, B.
  (2010). Assessment of health-related quality of life among primary caregivers of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 41. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1140-6
- Khouzam, H., El-Gabalawi, N., Pirwani, N & Priest, F. (2004). Asperger's disorder: A review of its diagnosis and treatment. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *45*, 184-191. doi:10.1016/j.comppsych.2004.03.004
- King, A. (2008, March 10). Schools Keen to Plug Gaps for High-need Kids. Howick and Pakuranga Times. Retrieved from http://www.times.co.nz
- Kogan, M. D., Strickland, B. B., Blumberg, S. J., Singh, G.K., Perrin, J. M. & van Dyck, P.C. (2008) A national profile of the health care experiences and family impact of autism spectrum disorder among children in the United States, 2005-2006.
  Pediatrics, 122, 1149-1158. doi:10.1542/peds.2008-1057doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01617.x
- Krauss, M., Seltzer, M., & Jacobson, H. (2004). Adults with autism living at home or in non-family settings: Positive and negative aspects of residential status. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 49, 111-124. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2788.2004.00599.xLife
- Laidler, J.R. (2004). *The Refrigerator Mother Hypothesis of Autism*. Retrieved from http://www.autism-watch.org/causes/rm.shtml
- Larson, E. (2006). Caregiving and autism: How does children's propensity for routinsation influence participation in family activities? *OTJR: Occupation, participation and health, 26 (2),* 69-78. Retrieved from http://www.otjronline.com/view.asp?rID=15063
- Laxon, A. (2002, May 8). *Court rulings set to teach politicians a hard lesson*. New Zealand Herald, p. A13. Retrieved from http://www.nzherald.co.nz

- Lemon, D. (2001). *Closure of the Templeton Centre*. Unpublished master's thesis for master's degree in Sociology. University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Levy, S. E. & Hyman, S. L. (2005). Novel treatments for autistic spectrum disorders. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews 11*, 131-142. doi:10.1002/mrdd.20062
- Liebschutz, D. (1999). Taxes and Poverty in New Zealand: The impact of the tax and benefit systems on low-income New Zealanders. Retrieved from http://www.fulbright.org.nz/voices/axford/docs/liebschutzd.pdf
- Life Links. (n.d.). *Eligibility criteria physical, intellectual, neurological or sensory disabilities*. Retrieved from http://www.lifelinks.co.nz/Eligibility.aspx
- Lincoln, K. D. (2000). Social support, negative social interactions, and psychological well-being. *The Social Service Review*, 74, 231-252. doi:10.1086/514478
- Linscheid, T. R., & Reichenbach, H. (2002). Multiple factors in the long-term effectiveness of contingent electric shock treatment for self-injurious behavior: A case example.

  Research in Developmental Disabilities, 23(2), 161-177. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com
- Lovaas, O. I. (1987). Behavioural treatment and normal educational and intellectual functioning in young autistic children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *55(1)*, 3-9. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/ccp/index.aspx
- Loynes, F. (2001). The Impact of Autism: A Report Compiled for the All Party Parliamentary

  Group on Autism. Retrieved from

  http://www.nas.org.uk/content/1/c4/28/62/impact.pdf
- Luther, E. H., Canham, D. L., & Cureton, V. Y. (2005). Coping and social support for parents of children with autism. *The Journal of School Nursing 2(1)*, 40-47. doi:10.1177/10598405050210010901

- Maaka, R., & Fleras, A. (2009). Mainstreaming indigeneity by indigenising policymaking:

  Towards an Indigenous grounded analysis framework as policy paradigm. *Indigenous Policy Journal 20(3)*, 1-45. Retrieved from

  http://www.indigenouspolicy.org
- MacDonald, D. (1999) *Third report for 1999: The accountability of executive government to parliament.* Retrieved from http://www.oag.govt.nz/central-govt/3rd-report-1999/docs3rd-report.pdf
- Macks, R.J., & Reeve, R. E. (2007). The adjustment of non-disabled siblings of children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders 37*, 1060-1067. 10.1007/s10803-006-0249-0
- Mackenzie, N., & Knipe, S. (2006). Research dilemmas: Paradigms, methods and methodology. *Issues in Educational Research*, *16* (2), 193-205. http://www.iier.org.au/iier16/mackenzie.html
- MacKinnon, D., & Coleborne, C. (2003). Introduction: Deinstitutionalisation in Australia and New Zealand. *Health and History, 5(2),* 1-16. Retrieved from http://www.anzshm.org.au/publications.html
- Mandel, D. S., & Salzer, M. S. (2007). Who joins support groups among parents of children with autism? *Autism 11*, 111–122. doi:0.1177/1362361307077506
- Mandow, N. (2005). *Not disabled enough*. Retrieved from www.listener.co.nz/issue/3386/features/3732/not\_disabled\_enough.html
- Marohn, S. (2002). *The Natural Medicine Guide to Autism*. Newburyport: Hampton Roads Publishing Company, Inc.
- Mascha, K., & Boucher, J. (2006). Preliminary investigation of a qualitative method of examining sibling's experiences of living with a child with ASD. *The British Journal of Developmental Disabilities 52(1)*, 19-28. Retrieved from http://www.bjdd.org/new/pdf2006/Jan06\_Mascha\_19-28.pdf

- Mathew, J., Leong, S., & White, S. (2002). Helping siblings understand autism and encouraging positive relationships. Retrieved from http://www.autism.ca/siblings.pdf
- Matthews, P. (2007). *A World Apart*. Retrieved from http://www.listener.co.nz/issue/3483/features/8116/a\_world\_apart.html
- Maurice, C. (1999). ABA and us: One parent's reflections on partnership and persuasion

  Retrieved from http://www.behavior.org/autism/catherine\_maurice.pdf
- Mayor, T. (2008). Asperger's: The IT industry's dark secret. *Computer World June 23*.

  Retrieved from http://computerworld.co.nz/news.nsf/spec/CE96C5C608138FA

  BCC25747000784BD0
- McConachie, H., & Diggle, A. (2006). Parent implemented early intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 13, 120-129. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2006.00672.x
- McKee, K. (2006). The highs and lows of using case studies in student research projects:

  Practical problems versus dynamite data. *Graduate Journal of Social Science*,

  3(2), 58-80. Retrieved from http://dpc.uba.uva.nl/cgi/t/text/getpdf?c=gjss;idno=0302a04
- McLennan, G., Ryan, A., & Spoonley, P. (2000). *Exploring society: Sociology for New Zealand students*. Auckland: Pearson Education, New Zealand Limited.
- Mercer, J. (2009). Autism treatment what choices exist? Psychology Today. [Web log message]. Retrieved from http://www.psychologytoday.com/blog/child-myths/200909/autism-treatment-what-choices-exist/comments
- Mesibov, G. B., Shea, V., & Schopler, E. (2005). *The TEACCH approach to autism spectrum disorders*. Kluwer Academic: New York.

- Metz, B., Mulick, J. A., & Butter, E.M. (2005). Autism: A late 20<sup>th</sup> century fad magnet. In J.W. Jacobson, R. M. Foxx, & J. A. Mulick (Eds.), *Controversial therapies for Developmental Disabilities (pp.237-264)*. New York: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Meikle, J., & Boseley, S. (2010, May 24). *MMR row doctor Andrew Wakefield struck off*register. The Guardian. Retrieved from

  http://www.guardian.co.uk/society/2010/may/24/mmr-doctor- andrew-wakefield-struck-off
- Miller, G. (2010). Anything but child's play. *Science*, 327, 1192 -1193. Retrieved from www.sciencemag.org
- Ministry of Education. (1999). *IEP guidelines*. Retrieved from http://www.minedu.govt.nz/web/downloadable/dl7359\_v1/iep-guidelines-web-page-html-july-2002.doc
- Ministry of Education. (2003). *Special education policy guidelines*. Wellington: Author Ministry of Education. (2004). *Canterbury district report*. Retrieved from www.minedu.govt.nz/web/downloadable/dl10390\_v1/ Canterbury-District-

Report---Appendix-2.doc

- Ministry of Education. (2007). Resource teachers: Learning and behaviour (RTLB).

  Retrieved from http://www.minedu.govt.nz/index.cfm?layout=

  document&documentid=4512&data=1
- Ministry of Education. (2008). Meeting Special Education Needs at School: Information for Boards of Trustees. Retrieved from 
  http://www.minedu.govt.nz/~/media/MinEdu/Files/RTF/EducationSectors/Special 
  Education/MeetingSpecialEducationNeedsAtSchool.rtf

- Ministry of Education. (2010). *Ministry of Education special education guidelines*. Retrieved fromhttp://www.minedu.govt.nz/NZEducation/EducationPolicies/Special Education/FormsAndGuidelines/SpecialEducationPolicyGuidelines.aspx
- Ministry of Health. (1998). Autism services in New Zealand: A report by the interdepartmental 'Autism Services Project' team. Wellington, N.Z.: Author.
- Ministry of Health. (1999). *Implementation Plan Autism Services Interdepartmental*Working Group. Wellington, N.Z.: Health Funding Authority

Ministry of Health. (2000). Autism Services Interdepartmental Working Group update.

- Retrieved from http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/0/f18981338c73f0e34c25690a000d14d3/\$FILE/autismnltrApril00.pdf
- Ministry of Health. (2001). *The New Zealand disability strategy: Making a whole world of difference*. Wellington, N.Z.: Author. Retrieved from http://www.odi.govt.nz/documents/publications/nz-disability-strategy.doc
- Ministry of Health. (2003). *Progress in implementing the New Zealand disability strategy 1*July 2002 30 June 2003. Wellington, N.Z.: Author.
- Ministry of Health. (2004). *Progress in implementing the New Zealand disability strategy* 2003-2004. Wellington, N.Z.: Author.
- Ministry of Health. (2010). *Autism Spectrum Disorder Newsletter*. Wellington, N.Z.: Authors Ministries of Health and Education. (2008). *New Zealand autism spectrum disorder guideline*. Wellington, N.Z.: Authors.
- Mitchell, D. (2010). Education that fits: Review of international trends in the education of students with special educational needs final report. Christchurch: University of Canterbury.
- Moore, A., & Tennant, M. (1997). Who is responsible for people with disabilities?

  Wellington: National Health Committee.

- Morgan, J. (1998, July 17). *Sad tale of a mother's nightmare*. The Dominion, p. 11. Retrieved from http://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post/
- Morrell, M., & Palmer, A. (2006). Parenting across the autism spectrum: unexpected lessons we have learned. Philadelphia: Jessica Kingsley.
- Mooney, C. (2009). Why does the vaccine/autism controversy live on? Discover Magazine.

  Retrieved from http://discovermagazine.com/2009/jun/06-why-does-vaccine-autism-controversy-live-on.
- Mosse, H.L. (1958). The misuse of the diagnosis childhood schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 114(9), 791-4. Retrieved from http://www.neurodiversity.com/library mosse 1958.html
- Mulloy, A., Lang, R., O'Reilly, M., Sigafoos, J., Lancioni, G., & Rispoli, M. (2009). Glutenfree and casein-free diets in the treatment of autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com
- Munford, R., & Bennie, G. (2001). Social Work and Disability in M. Connolly (Ed.), *New Zealand social work: Context and Practice (pp. 157-167)*. Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Musto, D. F. (1991). Opium Cocaine and Marijuana in American History. *Scientific American*, 265(1), 40-48. Retrieved from http://www.drugtext.org/library/articles/musto01.htm
- Myers, M.D., & Newman, M. (2007). The qualitative interview in IS research: Examining the craft. *Information and Organization 17*, 2-26. doi:10.1016/j.infoandorg.2006.11.001

- Myles, B. S., Hagiwara, T., Dunn, W., Rinner, L., Reese, M., Huggins, A., & Becker, S. (2004). Sensory issues in children with Asperger syndrome and autism. *Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities*, *3*(4), 283-290. Retrieved from http://www.dddcec.org
- National Autistic Society. (2005). *Information for professionals*. Retrieved from http://www.nas.org.uk/nas/jsp/polopoly.jsp?d=118&a=2227=212&a=3580&view =print
- National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability. (2003). *To have an 'ordinary' life':*Community membership for adults with an intellectual disability. Wellington:

  Author.
- National Health Committee. (2004). To have an 'ordinary' life: Background papers to inform the National Advisory Committee on Health and Disability. Wellington: Author.
- New specialist teaching qualifications. (2010, March 8). *NZEI Rourou*. Retrieved from http://www.edgazette.govt.nz/Articles/Article.aspx?ArticleId=8013
- Newsome, W. S. (2000). Parental perceptions during periods of transition: Implications for social workers serving families coping with Autism. *Journal of Family Social Work*, *5*, 17-31. doi:10.1300/J039v05n02 03
- Nichols, L. (2012, March 12). *Court fight looms over rights of disabled*. Dominion Post, p. 3. http://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post
- Norris, J. (1998, August 1). *Judge calls for inquiry into autism services*. The Dominion, p. 3. http://www.stuff.co.nz/dominion-post
- Office for Senior Citizens. (2003). Briefing to the incoming Minister for Senior Citizens:

  Towards lifelong participation and independence. Retrieved from

  http://www.osc.govt.nz/documents/briefing-to-the-incoming-minister-for-senior-citizens-2003.pdf
- Offit, P. A. (2006). Vaccines and autism. Retrieved from www.immunize.org

- Orsmond, G.I., Lin, L., & Seltzer, M. M. (2007). Mothers of adolescents and adults with Autism: Parenting multiple children with disabilities. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities 45*, 257-270. doi:10.1352/1934-9556(2007)45[257:MOAAAW]2.0.CO;2
- Orsmond, G. I., & Seltzer, M. M. (2009). Adolescent siblings of individuals with an autism spectrum disorder: Testing a diathesis-stress model of sibling well-being. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *39*, 1053-1065, doi:10.1007/s10803-009-0722-7
- Osborne, L.A., & Reed, P, (2008). Parent's perceptions of communication with professionals during the diagnosis of Autism. *Autism 12*, 309-324. doi:10.1177/1362361307089517
- Ozonoff, S., Dawson, G., & McPartland, J. (2002). A parent's guide to Asperger syndrome and high-functioning autism: how to meet the challenges and help your child thrive. New York: Gilford Press.
- Paus, T., Keshavan, M., & Giedd, J. N. (2008). Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 9*, 947-957. doi:10.1038/nrn2513
- Philip L. J. (1998). Combining quantitative and qualitative approaches to social research in human geography-an impossible mixture? *Environment and Planning A 30*, 261 276. doi:10.1068/a300261
- Pilowsky, T., Yirmiya, N., Doppelt, O., Gross-Tsur, V., & Shalev, R. S. (2004). Social and emotional adjustment of siblings of children with Autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45, 855-865. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00277.x
- Pinto, D., Pagnamenta, A.T., Lambertus, K., Anney, R., Merico, D., Regan, R. ... Betancur, C. (2010). Functional impact of global rare copy number variation in autism spectrum disorders. *Nature 9*. doi:10.1038/nature09146 Letter

- Pollock, N. (2006). Sensory integration. *Keeping Current 3*. Retrieved from http://www.bluewirecs.com/canchildintranet/download/KC\_SensoryIntegration.p
- Pollak, R. (1997). *The Creation of Dr. B: A biography of Bruno Bettelheim*. New York, NY.: Simon & Schuster.
- Pottie, C. G., Cohen, J., & Ingram, K. M. (2008). Parenting a child with autism: Contextual factors associated with enhanced daily parental mood. *Journal of Paediatric Psychology*, *34*. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsn094
- Preece, D., & Jordan, R. (2007). Short breaks services for children with autistic spectrum disorders: Factors associated with service use and non-use. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders* 37, 374-385. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0174-2
- Press, N. (2005). Social construction and Medicalisation. In E. Parens, A. Chapman & N. Press (Eds.) *Science, ethics and public Conversation (pp.131-149)*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Prochnow, J., & Maw, N. (2003). *Principals dealing with severe behaviour*. Retrieved from http://nzpf.ac.nz/archive/mag2002/March02 Severe Behaviour.Pdf
- Rack, J. P, Snowling, M. J., Hulme, C., & Gibbs, S. (2007). No evidence that an exercise-based treatment programme (DDAT) has specific benefits for children with reading difficulties. *Dyslexia*, *13*, 97-104.doi: 10.1002/dys.335
- Raeburn, J. (1995). *The other way project*, Mental Health News. Summer 1995/96. Auckland, N.Z.: Mental Health Foundation of New Zealand.
- Rankin, J. (2006, September 23). *Autism Still Hell for Families*. Manawatu Standard, p.3. Retrieved from http://www.stuff.co.nz/manawatu-standard/
- Reich, J. (2007, December 22). *School may sue for funding*. The Nelson Mail. p. 3. Retrieved from http://www.stuff.co.nz/nelson-mail

- Rivers, J. W., & Stoneman, Z. (2003). Sibling relationships when a child has autism: Marital stress and support coping. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders 33*, 383-392. doi:10.1023/A:1025006727395
- Roberts, J. M. (2004). A review of the research to identify the most effective models of best practice in the management of children with autism spectrum disorders. Sydney:

  Centre for Developmental Disability Studies.
- Roberts, T., Edgar, J., Zarnow, D., & Levy, S. (2008). *Evaluation of Autism Spectrum Disorders using magnetoencephalography*. Retrieved from http://rsna2008.rsna.org/event\_display.cfm?em\_id=6022462
- Rogers, S. J., Ozonoff, S. (2005). Annotation: What do we know about sensory dysfunction in autism? A critical review of empirical evidence. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 46*, 1255-1268. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2005.01431.x
- Roginsky, B. (2008). Coping with the Autism Diagnosis: A Parent's Guide to Managing

  Stress First Steps to Understanding and Facing the Challenges. Retrieved from

  http://www.autismsupportdaily.com/db2/00102/autismsupportdaily.com/\_downlo

  ad/Bina-Parents\_Guide.pdf
- Ross, P., & Cuskelly, M. (2006). Adjustment, sibling problems and coping strategies of brothers and sisters of children with autistic spectrum disorder. Journal of *Intellectual & Developmental Disability 31*, 77–86. doi:10.1080/13668250600710864
- Russo, C. J. (2011). *The legal rights of students with disabilities: International perspectives*.

  Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield Publishing.
- Sabatier, P. S. (1986). Top-down and bottom-up approaches to implementation research: A critical analysis and suggested synthesis *Journal Public Policy*, *6*(1), 21-48. doi:10.1017/S0143814X00003846

- Saucier, P. (2002). Promoting a national vision for people with disabilities: Successful policies and enduring barriers. Retrieved from http://www.moh.govt.nz/moh.nsf/Files/PaulSaucier/\$file/PaulSaucier.pdf
- Schofield, V. (2001). Health social work in M. Connolly (Ed.), *New Zealand social work:*Context and Practice. (pp. 146-156) Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Scorgie, K., & Wilgosh, L. (2008). Reflections on an uncommon journey: A follow-up study of life management of six mothers of children with diverse disabilities.

  \*International Journal of Special Education 23(1), 103-114. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialeducation.com
- Seddon, T. (2007). The regulation of heroin: Drug policy and social change in early twentieth-century. *Britain. International Journal of the Sociology of Law, 35*, doi:10.1016/j.ijsl.2007.05.001
- Seltzer, M., Greenberg, J., & Orsmond, G. (2007). Adolescents and adults with Autism: A study of family care giving report number10: A profile of adolescent and adult siblings. Retrieved from http://www.waisman.wisc.edu/family/reports/autism/aaareport10.pdf
- Seltzer, M., Krauss, M., Orsmond, G., & Vestal, C. (2001). Families of Adolescents and

  Adults with Autism: Uncharted Territory. *International Review of Research in Mental retardation*, 23, 267-294. Retrieved from

  http://www.waisman.wisc.edu/family/pubs/Autism/2001\_uncharted\_territory.Pdf
- Sharpe, D. L., & Baker, D. L. (2007). Financial issues associated with having a child with autism. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues 28*, 247–264 doi:10.1007/s10834-07-9059-6
- Shattuck, P. T., & Grosse, S. D. (2007). Issues related to the diagnosis and treatment of autism spectrum disorders. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities*\*Research Reviews 13, 129-135. doi:10.1002/mrdd.20143

- Sheppard, M. (2004). Appraising and using social research in the human services: An introduction. London, UK.: Jessica Kingsley.
- Sherman, J. S., Swinson, R. P., & Lorimer, W. P. (1984). On the importance of reliable equipment in the shock punishment of self-injurious behavior. *Analysis & Intervention in Developmental Disabilities*, *4*(1), 81-84. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com
- Sigafoos, J., Green, V. A., Edrisinha, C., & Lancioni, G. E. (2007). Lessons from history flashback to the 1960s: LSD in the treatment of autism. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*, 10, 75-81. doi:10.1080/13638490601106277
- Sinha, Y., Silove, N., & Williams, K. (2006). Chelation therapy and Autism. *British Medical Journal*, *333*, 756. doi:10.1136/bmj.333.7571.756
- Silverman, C., & Brosco, J. P. (2007). Understanding Autism: Parents and pediatricians in historical perspective. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine 161(4)*, 392-398. Retrieved from http://archpedi.ama-assn.org
- Smith, A., James, L., Heenan, J., Mortimer, R., & Selman, A. (2003). *Making it happen for children with special needs in a mainstream environment: How we do it things that make a difference*. Retrieved from http://www.nzpf.ac.nz/sites/default/files/Aug03 SpecialNeeds.pdf
- Snow, K. (2005). When is disability not a disability? Retrieved from http://www.disabilityisnatural.com/articles/documents/DisNotD is.pdfArticle%20chn%20with%20special%20needs.htm
- Social Services Committee. (2008). *Inquiry into the quality of care and service provision for people with disabilities: Report of the Social Services Committee*. Wellington, N.Z.: Author.

- Solomon, M., Pistrang, N., & Barker, C. (2001). The benefits of mutual support groups for parents of children with disabilities. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 29, 113-132.doi:10.1023/A:1005253514140
- Sommer, B., & Sommer, R. (1997). A practical guide to behavioural research: Tools and techniques (4th ed.). New York: NY:Oxford University Press.
- Spicker, P. (1995). Social policy: Themes and approaches. Harlow: Pearson Education
- Spratt, C., Walker, R., & Robinson, B. (2004). *Mixed research methods*. Retrieved from http://www.col.org/SiteCollectionDocuments/A5.pdf
- Stansfield, J. (2001). Not-for-profit organisations. In M. Connolly (Ed.), *New Zealand social work: Contexts and practice (pp.248-264)*. Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Stephenson, J., & Wheldall, K. (2008). Miracles take a little longer: science, commercialisation, cures and the Dore programme. *Australasian Journal of Special Education*, 32, 7-82. doi:10.1080/10300110701845946
- Stokstad, E. (2008, 18 July). Stalled Trial for Autism Highlights Dilemma of Alternative Treatments. *Science*, *321-326*. doi:10.1126/science.321.5887.326
- Stuart, M., & McGrew, J, (2009). Caregiver burden after receiving a diagnosis of an autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders 3*, 86–97.doi:10.1016/j.rasd.2008.04.006
- Tara, R. (2007, August 27). *Schools 'Failing Disabled'*. The Press, p. 4. Retrieved from http://www.stuff.co.nz/the-press
- Thompson, T. (2006). *Autism spectrum disorders: Definitions and implications*. Retrieved from http://ici2.umn.edu/products/impact/193/over2.html
- Tissot, C. (2011). Working together? Parent and local authority views on the process of obtaining appropriate educational provision for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Educational Research* 53, 1–15. doi:10.1080/00131881.2011.552228

- Tonge, B., & Brereton, A. (2008). *ACTNOW Fact Sheet 16: MMR and autism*. Retrieved from http://www.med.monash.edu.au/spppm/research/devpsych/actnow/factsheet16.html
- Triggle, N. (2010). Lancet accepts MMR study 'false'. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/8493753.stm
- Tsouderos, T. (2009). *Miracle drug called junk science*. Chicago Tribune. Retrieved from www.chicagotribune.com/health/chi-autism-lupron-may21,0,242705.story
- Turner, A. (2011, November 18). *Seven year old banned from school.* The Star, p. 1.

  Retrieved from http://www.starcanterbury.co.nz
- Ungerleider, J. T., & Andrysiak, T. (1981). Therapeutic uses of the drugs of abuse. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 362, 173-180. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1981.tb12805.x
- Valente, S.M. (2004). Autism. *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association, 10,* 236-243. doi:10.1177/1078390304269789
- Varnham, S. (2002). Special education 2000 and Daniels v. The Attorney-General1: Equality of access to education for children with special needs in New Zealand. Education and the Law 1, 283-3000. doi:10.1080/0953996022000054871
- Vogt, P. (2008). The dictatorship of the problem: Choosing research methods.

  \*Methodological Innovations Online 3(1). Retrieved from http://erdt.plymouth.ac.uk/mionlinepublic\_html/viewarticle.php?id=72
- Vyse, S. (2005). Where do fads come from? In J. W. Jacobson, R. M. Foxx, & J. A. Mulick (Eds.), *Controversial therapies for developmental disabilities (pp. 3-18)*.

  Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Wachtel, K., & Carter, A. S. (2008). Reactions to diagnosis and parenting styles among mothers with young children with ASDs. *Autism 12*, 575-594. doi:10.1177/1362361308094505

- Wakefield, A. J., Murch, S. H., Anthony, A., Linnell, J., Casson, D. M., Malik, ... Walker-Smith, J. A. (1998). Ileal-lymphoid-nodular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. *The Lancet*, 351(9123). doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)77837-5
- Walker, A. (2004). Understanding social capital within community/government policy networks. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 22,* 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.msd.govt.nz/about- msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/journals-and-magazines/social-policy-journal/index.html
- Wermer, M. (2008). Dolphin Therapy: The Playful way to work toward the next step. *The Exceptional Parent*, 38(5), 70-73. Retrieved from http://www.eparent.com
- Wetherby, A., Woods, J., Allen, L., Cleary, J., Dickinson, H., & Lord, C. (2004). Early indicators of autism spectrum disorders in the second year of life. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 34, 473-493. doi:10.1007/s10803-004-2544-y
- Whitworth, M. (2005). *Summit workshop: A lifetime of care*. Retrieved from http://www.carers.net.nz/modules.php?op=modload&name=News&file=article&s id=329&mode=&catid=10&thread&order=0&thold=0
- Wing, L. (1981). Asperger's syndrome: A clinical account. *Psychological Medicine*, *11*, 115-129. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7208735
- Wing, L. (1991). The relationship between Asperger's syndrome and Kanner's autism in U. Frith (ed.) *Autism and Asperger's syndrome*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Williams, C., & Wright, B. (2004). *How to live with Autism and Asperger Syndrome:*Practical strategies for parents and professionals. London: Jessica Kingsley
  Publishers.

- Winter-Messiers, M. (2007). From tarantulas to toilet brushes: Understanding the special interest areas of children and youth with Asperger Syndrome. *Remedial and Special Education*, 28, 140-152. Doi:10.1177/07419325070280030301
- Wolff, S. (2004). The history of autism. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *13*, 201-208. doi:10.1007/s00787-004-0363-5
- World Health Organization (2011). *Life expectancy*. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/gho/mortality burden disease/life tables/en/
- Wright, D. (1997). Report to the Mental Health Commission for the blue print. Retrieved from 
  http://www.mhc.govt.nz/documents/0000/0000/0003/REPORT\_MHC\_BLUEPRI
  NT.PDF
- Wylie, C. (2000). *Picking up the pieces: Review of special education 2000*. Retrieved from http://www.nzcer.org.nz/research/publications/picking-pieces-review-special education-2000
- Yap, I. K. S., Angley, M., Veselkov, K.A., Holmes, E., Lindon, J. C. & Nicholson, J. K.
   (2010). Urinary metabolic phenotyping differentiates children with Autism from their unaffected siblings and age-matched controls. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 9, 2996–3004. doi:10.1021/pr901188e
- Yazbak, F. E. (2003). Autism in the United States: A perspective. *Journal of American Physicians and Surgeons 8(4)*, 103-107. Retrieved from http://www.jpands.org/vol8no4/yazbak.pdf
- Zager, D. (2005). Autism spectrum disorders: Identification, education, and treatment (3rd ed.). Mahwah: Erlbaum.
- Zane, T., Davis, C., & Rosswurm, M. (2008). The cost of fad treatments in autism. *Journal of Early and Intensive Behavior Intervention*, *5*(2), 44-56. Retrieved from http://www.baojournal.com/JEIBI/jeibi-index.html

# **Appendix A: Participant Consent Form – Survey**



### Research project to:

Assess the accessibility to and the suitability of services provided to people with Autism Spectrum Disorder and their families in the Christchurch city area.

### **Survey**

### **Participant Consent Form**

I have read and understood the description of the above described project. On this basis, I agree to participate as a participant in the project.

I understand that any responses that I give will be treated as confidential.

In addition, I consent to publication of the results of the project with the understanding that my identity will not be revealed.

I understand that I may at any time withdraw from the project, including withdrawal of any information I have provided.

Participant's name (Please print)	
Participant's signature	
1 articipant's signature	
Date:	<u> </u>

# Appendix B: Participant Consent Form - Case

### Study

Assess the accessibility to and the suitability of services provided to people with Autism Spectrum Disorder and their families in the Christchurch city area.

### **Case Study**

### **Participant Consent Form**

I have read and understood the description of the above described case study. On this basis, I agree to participate in the case study on the understanding that the responses I give will be treated as confidential.

In addition, I consent to publication of the results of the project with the understanding that my identity will not be revealed.

I understand that I may at any time withdraw from the case study, including withdrawal of any information I have provided.

I am aware that the interview will be audio recorded and I give my permission provided I have the opportunity to review the recording and/or the transcript should I wish to do so.

Case study participant's name (Please pi	ant)	
Casa study mantisinantle signature		
Case study participant's signature		 
Date:		

## Appendix C: Participant Consent Form -

### Service Provider



### Research project:

Experiences of users of services provided to people with Autism or

Asperger's Syndrome and their families in the Canterbury/West Coast area.

Service provider

### **Consent Form**

I have read and understood the description of the above described case study. On this basis, I agree to participate in the case study on the understanding that the responses I give will be treated as confidential.

In addition, I consent to publication of the results of the project with the understanding that my identity will be kept confidential.

I understand that I may at any time withdraw from the case study, including withdrawal of any information I have provided.

I am aware that the interview will be audio recorded and I give my permission provided I have the opportunity to review the recording and/or the transcript should I wish to do so.

Participant's name (Please print)	 	
Participant's signature		
Date:		

# Appendix D: Questionnaire and Case Study

### question sheet



### Autism or Asperger's Syndrome Access to Services Survey

This questionnaire is part of a research project examining the experiences of parents of people with Autism or Asperger's Syndrome as a diagnosis. All responses to this questionnaire will be treated as confidential.

Participation in this research project is completely voluntary and should take no longer than 45 minutes to complete.

Your contact details are only required if you wish to be forwarded a copy of the completed report. Please supply your details on this separate piece of paper.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if at any time you require additional information or a copy of the research proposal. I can be contacted at the address above or either by phone at (03) 380-5007 or by Email pdr30@student.canterbury.ac.nz.

This project is being supervised by Ms Nikki Evans and/or Dr Annabel Taylor who are academics with the School of Social Work and Human Services. Please feel free to contact Ms Evans at 364-2987 extension 4958 should you wish to discuss any aspect of this proposed study.

In this questionnaire you will be asked questions that relate to your experiences of parenting or caring for a person with Autism or Asperger's Syndrome. You will also be asked questions about services currently available to you and your family.

# A. BACKGROUND NFORMATION

1a. In what area of Canterbury/West Coast d	o you live?
1b. Did the sensory issues that are associate choice of living location? Yes No. If <b>NO</b> , please state any other reason that inf	
2. How many adults live in the family home	? 12345more
3. How many children live in the family hon	ne? 12345more
4. How many people are diagnosed with Aut Asperger's Syndrome? 12345more	ism or
5. How old is the person with Autism or Asp	perger's Syndrome? months/years
6. With which ethnic group/s does your family	ly identify?
New Zealand European/Pakeha New Zealand Maori Samoan Tongan Cook Island Chinese Korean Japanese Fijian Indian	(Please specify)

# B. DIAGNOSOIS

1. Thinking of the p	person in your care, has a formal diagnosis of autism or Asperger's syndrome been obtained
Yes N	lo
2. How long has it l	been since the diagnosis was given? months/years
	comments regarding the pathway to diagnosis. (Use a separate sheet if necessary).
	enced any disappointments and losses in this journey, if so, who do you m? (Tick all that apply)
profess	sionals partner
family	friends
no one	other parents of children with an Autism or Asperger's syndrome as a diagnosis
other ()	please specify)
Please describe the	disappointments or losses (Use separate sheet if necessary)
	he <b>negative</b> impacts of living with a person with autism or Asperger's on parents, grandparents, siblings, etc. (Use separate sheet if necessary)

### **DIAGNOSOIS** continued

6 What have been the <b>positive</b> impacts of living with a person with either Autism or Asperger's syndrome?
i.e. on parents, grandparents, siblings, etc. (Use separate sheet if necessary)
7. Who do you celebrate the successes and positives with? (Tick all that apply)
professionals
partner
family
friends
no one
other parents of children with an Autism or Asperger's syndrome diagnosis
other (please specify)
8. Has parenting a person with Autism or Asperger's syndrome had any financial impacts for you family?
Yes No
If yes in what way?

	person with				be provided differently to famother that the support current	
<u>C.</u>	SUPP	PORT SEI	<u>RVICES</u>			
Thinking or	nly about su	ipport servi	ces that you	would like to	receive or have tried to receiv	e
1. Has a ref	erral for a n	needs assess	sment been n	nade? Yes 1	No	
2. Has a nee	eds assessm	ent been ob	otained? Ye	es No (I)	no, go to question 9)	
3. Which no	eeds assessr	nent agency	y did you use	e?		
		cess Marga Links	ret Needs Co	oordination		
	Othe (Please sto					
4. How long	g did it take	for an app	ointment to s	see the needs	assessor?	
	Betw Betw	than one me ween 1 and ween 2 and the than 3 mc	2 months 3 months			
5. Thinking	about the le	ength of wa	aiting time fo	or the appoint	ment was this satisfactory? (Pi	'ease circle)
	1	2	3	4	5	
V	ery satisfact	tory			very unsatisfactory	

6. Was the r	needs asses	sor's follow	-up action sa	atistactory?	Yes No
If your answ	ver was no,	what proble	ems did you	experience	? (Please detail)
7. Remembe	ering the ne	eeds assessm	nent agency	appointmer	at, please indicate the level of
	_				ur family's needs. (Please circle)
	1	2	3	4	5
need	ds were und	lerstood		need	ds were not understood
					involvement, how focused on autism ?? (Please circle)
	1	2	3	4	5
very focused specific to a			ndrome		minimal focus on issues specific to autism or Asperger's syndrome
9. Please su	pply any ac	lditional cor	mments		
<del></del>					
0. Please inc	dicate whic	h support ag	gency/ies you	ur family is	associated with: (tick all that apply)
	Step	ping Stone	Γrust		
	Step	Ahead Trus	st		
		mond New	Zealand		
		ncare Vhare Roima	ata		
		/IDEA			
	CCS				
	Othe	er inleace sta	te		

11. What has	been helpf	ul about th	e support the	e agency h	as given? (Pl	ease detail)
12. What have	e you <b>NO</b> T	found hel	pful with the	e support g	given? (Pleas	e detail)
13. Does your	r family ha	ve a comm	nunity suppo	rt worker?	Yes No	(If no, go to question 17)
14. How long	has this co	ommunity	support worl	ker worked	l with your fa	mily? months/years
15. What has	been helpf	ul with the	support giv	en by the s	upport worke	er? (Please detail)
16. What have	e you <b>NO</b> T	found hel	pful with th	e support g	given by the s	upport worker? (Please detail)
17. Thinking on autism or A					er has given,	overall, was the support focused
	1	2	3	4	5	
very focused specific to au		perger's sy	ndrome			cus on issues autism or Asperger's

18. Has your family be	een allocated	l respite care	days?	Yes No
19. Was the level of as	ssistance ade	equate for you	ur family's	s needs? (Please circle)
1 adequate	2	3	4	5 not adequate
				an be placed on a family with a member used was the support given? (Please circle)
1	2	3	4	5
very focused on issues specific to autism or A		ndrome		minimal focus on issues specific to autism or Asperger's syndrome
21. Please supply any	additional co	omments		
22. Has your family ac If YES, were you sati				Family Mental Health Service? Yes No se circle)
1 very satisfie	2 d	3	4	5 completely unsatisfied
23. If unsatisfied, how Service be improved?			ered by C	Child, Adolescent and Family Mental Health

	king now at t	he support y	ou have rece	eived, over	all, how focused would you say the support
	1	2	3	4	5
	used on issues to autism or A		ndrome		minimal focus on issues specific to autism or Asperger's syndrome
25. Has y	your family a	ccessed You	th Specialty S	Services?	Yes No
If YES	S, were you sa	atisfied with	the service g	iven? (Plea	ase circle)
	1 very satisfie	2 ed	3 comple	4 etely unsat	5 isfied
26. If yo	u were unsati detail)	sfied, how o	could the serv	rice offered	by Youth Specialties be improved? (Please
specific t	lease circle)  1  very focuse to autism or A	2 d on issues Asperger's sy	3 vndrome	eived, over	all, how focused would you say the support  5 minimal focus on issues specific to autism or Asperger's
<u>D.</u>		EDUCAT	<u>ION</u>		
	ild, is she/he:				
	g an early chi		re Yes No	)	
Attendin	g school	Yes No			
Home sc	hooled	Yes No			
If none of	of these option	ns apply, ple	ease indicate	in the spa	ce provided the type of education your child

teacher aides to help children with learning disabilities. Does your child have access to this assistance? (please circle)  Yes No
3. If YES, please state how many hours per week the support is available: hours
4. Is the level of this support adequate for your child's needs? Yes No
5. If <b>NO</b> , how could the support given be improved? (Please detail) (Use separate sheet if necessary)
6. Looking now at the support you have received, overall, how focused would you say the support was? (Please circle)
1 2 3 4 5 very focused on issues specific to autism or Asperger's syndrome specific to autism or Asperger's syndrome specific to autism or Asperger's syndrome
7. Autism New Zealand runs the <i>Early Bird Programme</i> which is jointly funded by the Ministries of Health and Education. Has your family accessed this service?  Yes No
8. If <b>YES</b> , did the Early Bird Programme meet your needs? Yes No
9. If <b>NO</b> , how could the Early Bird Programme be improved? ( <i>Please detail</i> )

2. The Ministry of Education has a number of support services such as education support workers and

# 1. Have you used the services provided by Autism New Zealand? Yes No If YES, was this the National Office? Canterbury branch? Please state any comments about the service provided

**GENERAL** 

Thank you for the time that you have taken to respond to this survey.

## **Appendix E: Question list for service**

### providers

- 1 Can you tell me about your organisation and the services you provide?
- 2 How many people would use your services?
- 3 Do the people you work with have a diagnosis, if so, what is it?
- 4 Have the people you work with had a Needs Assessment?
- 5 How is your organisation funded?
- 6 What supports do you think families need?
- 7 Can you comment on the adequacy of the services you provide?
- 8 What services would you provide if more funding was available?
- 9 Because ASD does not fit as a psychiatric or intellectual disorder, where do you think the disorder would fit the best?
- 10 If ASD was placed in a category of its own, do you think it would be easier to supply support services?
- 11 What comments can you make about government policies that impact on services used by families?
- 12 Do you think the ASD Guideline has made any impact on service provision, if so, what do you think the impact has been?
- 13 What do you think are the key impacts on families who have someone with an ASD diagnosis?
- 14 What do you think are the key issues for families accessing support services?
- 15 Are you aware of any alternative interventions that have been used by families, if so, what types?
- 16 What other services do you work closely with?
- 17 Are there any other comments you would like to make?

## **Appendix F: General Advert**

### **Research Participants Wanted**

# Assess the accessibility to and the suitability of services provided to people with Autism or Aspergers Syndrome and their families in the Canterbury/West Coast area

Hi, my name is Paul Rawdon; I am currently a student at University of Canterbury working on a Master of Arts degree in Human Services. I am carrying out a research project into the ease of access to and the appropriateness of services that are available for people with Autism or Aspergers Syndrome. I have been the caregiver of someone with Asperger's Syndrome for the last 10 years and during this time I have gained some knowledge of the problems that can be involved when trying to access appropriate support within the community.

As part of a broader research design, I am intending to conduct a survey using a questionnaire among fifty families who have a family member who has been diagnosed with either Autism or Aspergers Syndrome. I am interested in hearing about your family's experiences of coping in a community where there are no dedicated services available.

I have set some questions in the questionnaire for people to answer that are set around social support and the effectiveness of the support services you are receiving. I am also interested in hearing of any positive experiences and/or difficulties you have experienced while obtaining an appropriate diagnosis.

I hope that talking about your experiences will be helpful and that the things that you have to say may be useful to obtain a broader indication of quality of support people with Autism or Aspergers Syndrome and their families are currently receiving.

# THIS STUDY HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THEUNIVERSITY OF CANTERBURY HUMAN ETHICS COMMITTEE

If you are interested in participating in this survey, please contact

**Paul Rawdon** 

by phone at (03) 380-5007

or by email at pdr30@student.canterbury.ac.nz

for a questionnaire to be mailed to you.

or via the internet http://sites.google.com/site/asdsurveychch/asd-services-survey

## Appendix G: Advert for ANZ e-Newsletter

### **Research Participants Wanted**

# Assess the accessibility to and the suitability of services provided to people with Autism or Aspergers Syndrome and their families in the Canterbury/West Coast area

My name is Paul Rawdon; I am currently a student at University of Canterbury working on a Master of Arts degree in Human Services. I am carrying out a research project that is designed to assess the ease of access to and the appropriateness of services that are offered to people with Autism or Asperger's syndrome and their families.

I am interested to learn of your experiences of receiving support in a community where there are no dedicated services for people with either Autism or Asperger's syndrome. I have prepared a questionnaire for you to complete which can be obtained by clicking on the download link below.

Any input that you can provide will be greatly appreciated. Please note that this survey is open to residents of Canterbury/West Coast areas only.

For additional information please contact me by phone at (03) 380-5007

By Email at paul.rawdon@pg.canterbury.ac.nz

You can download a copy of the questionnaire

(To download a copy use the link on the to right hand corner of the page).

# Please return your completed questionnaire by Email to the address above or by post as soon as possible.

Mailing address:

Paul Rawdon Student School of Social Work and Human Services University of Canterbury Private Bag 4800

Christchurch 8140

## Appendix H: Letter to Autism New Zealand

June 13, 2007

The Chairperson Autism New Zealand Canterbury Branch PO Box 42014 Addington CHRISTCHURCH

#### Dear Sir/Madam

I am currently a student at the University of Canterbury working on a Master of Arts in Human Services. I have been the caregiver of someone with Asperger's Syndrome for the last 10 years and during this time I have gained some knowledge of the problems that can be involved when trying to access appropriate support within the community.

I am hoping to carry out a research project that will examine access to and the appropriateness of services that are available for people with Autism Spectrum Disorder. I am currently developing the research framework and proposal to undertake this research and am contacting you regarding this.

I have an Honours degree in Sociology and one in Human Services both of which have provided me with knowledge and skills to undertake a research project of this nature

One of the purposes of the study that I am proposing is to compare the accessibility and appropriateness of services that are available today with those that were available at the time of the release of *Autism services in New Zealand: a report by the interdepartmental 'Autism Services Project' team* report (also known as the 'Curry Report') in 1999 which was the result of the inquiry called for by the trial judge at the sentencing of Janine Albury-Thomson for the manslaughter of her autistic daughter Casey in 1998.

It is anticipated that the study will be in two parts, the first being in the form of a survey that would involve up to fifty families who will be asked to complete a questionnaire relating to the accessibility and suitability of services offered to people with an ASD and their families. The second part will consist of a case study that will involve two families who will be asked to complete a questionnaire and a follow-up interview. In addition, relevant service providers would be interviewed as a part of the case study research.

Participation in this research project would be completely voluntary and the research processes would ensure privacy of those involved.

Your assistance in publicising this project among branch members would be very much appreciated.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if at any time you require additional information or a copy of the research proposal. I can be contacted at the address above or either by phone at (03) 380-5007 or by Email pdr30@student.canterbury.ac.nz.

This project is being supervised by Ms Nikki Evans and/or Dr Annabel Taylor who are academics with the School of Social Work and Human Services. Please feel free to contact

Ms Evans on 364-2987 extension 4958 should you wish to discuss any aspect of this proposed study.

I hope that you will be able to assist me in this project by advertising the research in your newsletter and/or informing members of the research. I would appreciate it if you could consider this request.

Thank you for time in reviewing this matter.

Sincerely,

Paul Rawdon, Student

# **Appendix I: Human Ethics Approval**

HEC Ref: 2007/100

21 September 2007

Mr Paul Rawdon School of Social Work and Human Services UNIVERSITY OF CANTERBURY

Dear Paul

The Human Ethics Committee advises that your research proposal "The Accessibility to and the suitability of services provided to the families of people with Autism Spectrum Disorder in the Christchurch city area" has been considered and approved. However this approval is subject to the incorporation of the amendments you have provided in your email of 27 July 2007.

Yours sincerely

Dr Michael Grimshaw *Chair, Human Ethics Committee* 

## Appendix J: Reflexive Methodology

### Reflections on a journey

When I started this project I thought I had a pretty good grounding on Autism Spectrum Disorder was about. I had lived with someone with Asperger's syndrome for 12 years, I thought that my experience negotiating the 'trials and tribulations' of living with someone on the Autistic Spectrum would have given a good grounding for writing this thesis. How wrong I was! In fact the more I delved into the subject the more I found that I did not know.

With the broad information available, I found that it was difficult to decide what information to cover and what to leave out. As a result, I found that when I found something that was of particular interest it was easy to go off on a tangent. This was the case with Chapter 5 'Alternative treatments and fads'. The additional information I gathered could form the basis of a journal article in its own right. As there is as yet no definitive answer to the cause of ASD, there are many 'treatments' on offer and I found some of them fascinating. I found they ranged from merely expensive - all had at least some cost involved one being Doctor Wong's biomedical treatment book which included a free 'help me' phone consultation valued at \$100 along with two 'help me coupons', the total package cost \$149 to being outright dangerous, examples being chelation therapy a technique to remove heavy metals from the body and the Geier's Lupron therapy. Lupron is a chemical that among other things is used as a treatment for prostrate cancer or the chemical castration of sex offenders. Out of all the alternative treatments I did review, I think the one which captivated my imagination the most was dolphin assisted therapy and swimming with dolphins – a nice thought especially if the therapy took place at a tropical holiday resort! The historical ASD treatments were also of interest, and I discovered that knowledge I acquired from the Social Control Sociology course about the early uses of drugs gave me a better understanding.

The research was a personal challenge too. When I started this work I had the hypothesis that the support services on offer to people on the Autistic Spectrum were very limited and those that did offer services had a limited knowledge. While this may have been true 15 years ago, a lot has changed. A consequence from my research was that I found that my initial impression was wrong. The impression that I now have is that things are a lot better. True, I discovered areas where improvement was still necessary for example: diagnosis and assessment procedures in the public health system. But overall, in areas where support is offered, there are many good knowledgeable people out there doing good things. Perhaps one of the most important things that I learnt was that the attitudes of everyday people and professionals impacted in some way on the amount of support received.

I originally held the belief that a dedicated agency should be established that dealt exclusively with people on the Autistic Spectrum. This was one of the questions I put to the five service providers. After one of them pointed out that to establish such a service would be a waste of resources because of the good work that is already being undertaken by existing services I could see that this was not necessary.

A consequence of the negative belief (and social justice) perspective I held prior to beginning the thesis, was that the original draft took the form of a witch-hunt. A second rendition read more like a self-help book rather than a piece of academic work. Following some *stern* comments from my supervisor, the focus evolved into the format I have today.

The journey has had its ups and downs, health issues forced delays and the impacts from the four large earthquakes and their seemingly never ending aftershocks made it difficult to

maintain focus at times. I am grateful to the university for their understanding and importantly, I felt privileged to have had people share their stories with me.

I have thought about what I would like to achieve from writing this thesis, my thoughts are that by gathering a large quantity of information from a lot of different sources, some that was unpublished such as the Autism Services in New Zealand report, I have managed to put this information into one location so that others can gain the benefit. In effect, what this thesis represents is the culmination of all the essays and projects that I have done on ASD throughout my university career.